Towards climate-robust Aquatic ecosystem Restoration:

Lessons learned from controlled experiments and modeling

占清 Qing Zhan



Propositions

- Climate change is hampering the success of eutrophication control measures. (this thesis)
- 2. More is not necessarily better in lake restoration. (this thesis)
- 3. Models are either overestimated or underestimated in terms of their significance.
- 4. Solutions to environmental problems are hampered by disciplinary boundaries.
- 5. The Declaration on Research Assessment (DORA) inhibits excessive competitiveness among researchers.
- 6. To achieve a diverse and inclusive society, dialogue with marginalized groups is crucial.
- 7. Criticism without constructive suggestions is not helpful.

Propositions belonging to the thesis, entitled Towards climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration: lessons learned from controlled experiments and modeling

Qing Zhan Wageningen, 15 November 2023

Towards climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration: lessons learned from controlled experiments and modeling

Qing Zhan

Thesis committee

Promotors

Prof. Dr Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis Head of Aquatic Knowledge Centre Wageningen (AKWA), Department of Aquatic Ecology Netherlands Institute of Ecology (NIOO-KNAW) Professor, Smart Ecological Monitoring of Aquatic Systems University of Twente, Enschede

Dr Miquel Lürling Associate Professor, Aquatic Ecology and Water Quality Management Group Wageningen University & Research

Co-promotor

Dr. Rafael Marcé Research Scientist Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes (CEAB-CSIC), Spain

Other members

Prof. Dr Fulco Ludwig, Wageningen University & Research Dr Tom Shatwell, Helmholtz-Centre for Environmental Research, Germany Dr Laura Seelen, Water Authority Brabantse Delta, Breda Prof. Dr Martin Wassen, Utrecht University

This research was conducted under the auspices of the Graduate School for Social-Economic and Natural Sciences of the Environment (SENSE).

Towards climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration: lessons learned from controlled experiments and modeling

Qing Zhan

Thesis

submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of doctor at Wageningen University by the authority of the Rector Magnificus, Prof. Dr A.P.J. Mol, in the presence of the Thesis Committee appointed by the Academic Board to be defended in public on Wednesday 15 November 2023 at 1.30 p.m. in the Omnia Auditorium.

Qing Zhan Towards climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration: lessons learned from controlled experiments and modeling

194 pages

PhD thesis, Wageningen University, Wageningen, the Netherlands (2023) With references, with summaries in English

ISBN: 978-94-6447-933-1 DOI: https://doi.org/10.18174/640268

Table of contents

TABLE 1-1	
1.1 Aquatic ecosystems in the anthropocene	7
1.2 Climate change and extreme climatic events (eces) impacts	7
1.3 Aquatic ecosystem restoration: eutrophication control measures	
1.4 Ecosystem service for evaluating restoration success	
1.5 Aims and outline of this thesis	
Summary	
2.1 Introduction	
2.1.1 Abiotic responses	
2.1.2 Biotic responses	
2.1.3 Multiple stressors	
2.1.4 Experiment	
2.2 Methods and materials	
2.2.1 Experimental design	
2.2.2 Reference Omloop Lake	
2.2.3 Microcosm design	
2.2.4 Treatment scenarios	
2.2.4.1 Temperature	
2.2.4.2 Precipitation	
2.2.5 Sample analysis	
2.2.5.1 Sample collection	
2.2.5.2 Phytoplankton	
2.2.5.3 Abiotic	
2.2.6 Statistics	
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Biotic response	
2.3.2 Nutrients	
2.3.2.1 Particulate and dissolved nutrients	
	1

2.3.2.2 Dissolved, particulate nutrients	
2.4 discussion	
2.4.1 Temperature treatment	
2.4.2 Precipitation runoff treatment	
2.4.3 Multiple stressors in freshwaters	
2.4.4 Press and pulse stressors in freshwaters	
2.4.5 Caveats and future steps	
Acknowledgements	
Supplementary information	
Abstract	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and methods	
3.2.1 Experimental design	
3.2.2 Water and sediment measurements	
3.2.3 Statistical analysis	
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Pre-treatment conditions	
3.3.2 Nutrients and metals dynamics and responses	
3.3.3 Oxygen dynamics	
3.3.4 Dissolved greenhouse gasses	
3.4 Discussion	
3.4.1 The impact of heatwaves on phosphorus and nitrogen dynamics: eutrophi	c vs oligotrophic sediments
3.4.2 Heatwave effects on greenhouse gas emissions	
3.5 Conclusions and recommendations	64
Acknowledgement	
Supplementary information	
Abstract:	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Methods and materials	
4.2.1 Experimental set-up	

4.2.2 Restoration treatments	76
4.2.3 Water & sediment Sampling	77
4.2.4 Statistical analysis	79
4.3 Results	80
4.3.1 Intervention treatment effects on water quality	80
4.3.2 The heatwave effects on water quality and intervention treatment efficacy	84
4.3.3 Treatment effects on dissolved Greenhouse gas concentrations	86
4.4 Discussion	87
4.4.1 Comparison of intervention measures	88
4.4.2 Heatwave impacts on the internal P cycling	91
4.5 Conclusions, caveats and recommendations	95
Acknowledgements:	96
Supplementary information	97
Abstract:	100
5.1 Introduction	101
5.2 Methodology	103
5.2.1 An Integrative Ecosystem Service Modeling Framework	103
5.2.2 Modeling of ecosystem services provisioning	104
5.2.3 Model application and validation	106
5.2.4 Scenario analysis	109
5.3 Results	111
5.3.1 The impacts of restoration scenarios on ecosystem state indicators	111
5.3.2 The changes of ecosystem service delivery in response to restorations	114
5.3.3 Climate change impacts on ecosystem state indicators and ecosystem services provisioning	116
5.4 Discussion	117
5.4.1 The effectiveness of restoration scenarios on ES provisioning	117
5.4.2 Climate change impacts on ES delivery	118
5.4.3 Strengths and future development possibilities of the ES modeling framework	119
5.5 Conclusion	120
Acknowledgement:	121

Supplementary information can be found here:	122
6.1 Recap of the main objectives and outline of the general synthesis	125
6.1.1 The interactions of multiple environmental stressors on ecosystem functions: Synergistic vs. Antagonistic effects	127
6.1.2 The short-term and long-lasting impacts of extreme climatic events on ecosystems	129
6.1.3 The effectiveness of restoration measures under the disturbance of extreme climatic events	132
6.1.4 Evaluating lake restoration success based on ecosystem service delivery	135
6.2 Lake ecosystem modeling	137
6.3 Gaining insights into the mechanisms to make steps towards climate-robust water quality management	138
Summary:	141
List of publications	143
About the author (关于作者):	145
Acknowledgement	152
References:	155

TABLE 1-1

Glossary	
Ecosystem	A dynamic complex of plant, animal and microorganism communities and their
	non-living environment, interacting as a functional unit.
Ecosystem	The composition of the ecosystem (i.e., its various parts) and the physical and
structure	biological organization defining how those parts are organized
Ecosystem states	Specific attributes or characteristics of an ecosystem (Cook et al., 2014)
Ecosystem	The ecological processes that take place in an ecosystem, including primary
function	production, decomposition, nutrient uptake, and population processes at all
	trophic levels.
Ecosystem	Any natural or anthropogenic pressure that causes a quantifiable change,
stressor	whether positive or negative, in biological response.
Extreme Climatic	The occurrence of a value of a weather or climate variable above (or below) a
Events	threshold value near the upper (or lower) ends of the range of
	observed values of the variable (typically 5% or 10%)
Biogeochemistry	Processes driving the concentration, fate, and transport of nutrients,
	contaminants, and other constituents.
Nutrient retention	Nutrient retention is defined as the temporary/permanent removal of nutrients
	from the water column via storage in macrophyte tissues, sediments binding
	agents, and denitrification, etc.
D' 1' '	
Biodiversity	The variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia,
	terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes
	of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species
	and of ecosystems. Defined here following the 1993 Convention on Biological
	Diversity (CBD) (http://www.cbd.int/convention/articles). (Note: the CBD
	formally defines 'Biological Diversity', which we assume to be equivalent to
D (1)	Biodiversity.)
Functional	Biodiversity at functional group level. Species are grouped based on their shared
diversity	traits in ecosystem functions. Phytoplankton can be divided into three main
F (functional groups: green algae, diatom, and cyanobacteria.
Ecosystem	A systematic evaluation of what is known about the status, trends and future
assessment	trajectories of ecosystems focusing on the benefits that they deliver to people.
	Similar to other global environmental assessments, an ecosystem assessment is
	a collective deliberative process by which experts review, analyze, and
	synthesize scientific knowledge in response to users' information needs relevant
	to key questions, uncertainties or decisions, and should be credible, legitimate
	and salient.
Ecosystem service	An activity or function of an ecosystem that provides benefits (or occasionally
	disbenefits) to humans.
Final ecosystem	An ecosystem service that directly underpins or gives rise to a good.
service	



Chapter I – General Introduction

1.1 Aquatic ecosystems in the Anthropocene

Our planet has entered an era in which humans have a substantial impact on Earth's geology and ecosystems, called the Anthropocene (Prillaman, 2022). Almost all kinds of ecosystems are undergoing accelerated degradation, with biodiversity loss and impaired ecosystem functioning (Hooper et al., 2005). In comparison to terrestrial and marine ecosystems, freshwater systems encounter the largest biodiversity loss, with a decline rate of 50% since 1970 (Duraiappah et al., 2005). This vulnerability may be attributed to the limited dispersal ability of aquatic organisms and the prevalence of stressors and pollutants specific to freshwater environments. Adding to their challenges, freshwater ecosystems are often embedded in heavily urbanized areas, with high demands on ecosystem services. Despite their relatively small contribution to the global water pool (0.01% of the World's water and ca. 0.8% of the Earth's surface), freshwater systems however provide crucial drinking water resources to all living life, and they are hotspots for biological processes, supporting over million species - almost 6% of all described species (Dudgeon et al., 2006).

1.2 Climate change and extreme climatic events impacts

'Human influence has been the dominant cause of the observed warming since the mid-20th century' (Stocker, 2014), as a consensus statement articulated by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) assessment. Cook et al. (2013) has quantified the consensus on anthropogenic global warming in the scientific literature (N=211944 papers from 1991-2011) and found that 97.1% endorsed the consensus. Climate change is associated with changes in almost all climatic variables including air temperature, precipitation, solar irradiances, and wind velocity. Globally, the average temperature has increased by 1.1 °C since 1880 (Hansen et al., 2010). Higher temperatures lead to greater evaporation and thus increase the intensity and duration of drought (Samaniego et al. 2018; Trenberth et al. 2014). On the other hand, the water vapor in the atmosphere increases with warming, as the water holding capacity of air increases by ca. 7% per 1°C warming. While total precipitation is decreasing, more intense precipitation events are observed to be widely occurring: 'it never rains but it pours!' (Trenberth, 2011).

One of the most important facets of climate change is increased frequency and intensity in extreme climatic events (ECEs) (Stott, 2016). As per the climatological definition by IPCC (Change, 2022), ECEs are characterized by

Chapter

Chapter I

Chapter I

weather or climate variables exceeding or falling below a threshold value near the upper or lower ends of the observed range (typically 5% or 10%). Figure 1-1 shows the trend in Google[™] searches using the search terms "heatwave" and "storms". which both exhibit clear increasing trends. ECEs differ from climate trends by their very nature: their effects are out of proportion to their duration (Jentsch et al., 2007). ECEs can have serious implications for ecosystem structure and function including freshwater ecosystems (Change, 2014). For instance, the anticipated increase in lake heatwayes, defined as periods of extremely water surface water temperature (Woolway et al., 2021), can lead to stronger bottom water anoxia (Jankowski et al., 2006) and blooms of harmful cvanobacteria (Joehnk et al., 2008). The increase in storm frequency, intensity, and duration due to climate change, associated with extreme run-off and wind, can significantly influence phytoplankton community dynamics (Stockwell et al., 2020). The impact is attributed to its effects on nutrient inputs and stratification regime. While extreme weather events are becoming the new "Normal" (Lewis et al., 2017), it is of crucial importance to study in order to be able to counter the negative impacts of climate change and ECEs.



Figure 1-1. "Popularity index" of the search terms "Heatwave" (upper panel, a) and "Storm" (lower panel, b) over time using Google Trends since 2004 worldwide. The popularity index is scaled to the maximum number of hits, set as 100.

At the same time regional projections may differ depending on socioeconomic developments, emission scenarios and regional climate factors. For example, the Royal Meteorological Institute (KNMI, https://www.knmi.nl/nederland-nu/klimatologie) has developed four scenarios for the Dutch future climate around 2050 and 2085, forming the boundaries of the probable future climate changes in the Netherlands. The four scenarios differ in the amount of global warming (Moderate or Warm) or possible changes in the air circulation pattern (Low or High). In brief, predictions of the main climate variables 8 include: increases in temperature, precipitation, sea level, solar radiation; decreases in wind and fog. In addition, the likelihood for extreme climatic events including heatwave, storms and hail will increase. Figure 1-2 summarized the main results of each Dutch climate scenario around 2050 and 2085, which are the basis of the climate scenario used in my thesis.

Chapter

Variabele	Indicator	Climate 1981-2010	Scenario changes for the climate around 2050				Scenario changes for the climate around 2085				Natural variations averaged over 30 years
			G		WL	W _H			W,	W _H	
Global temperature rise:		+1 °C		+2 °C	+2 °C	+1.5 °C		+3.5 °C	+3.5 °C		
Change in air circulation pattern:		low value		low value	high value	low value		low value	high value		
Sea level at North Sea coast	absolute level	3 cm above NAP	+15 to +30 cm	+15 to +30 cm	+20 to +40 cm	+20 to +40 cm	+25 to +60 cm	+25 to +60 cm	+45 to +80 cm	+45 to +80 cm	±1.4 cm
	rate of change	2.0 mm/yr.	+1 to +5.5 mm/yr.	+1 to +5.5 mm/yr.	+3.5 to +7.5 mm/yr.	+3.5 to +7.5 mm/yr.	+1 to +7.5 mm/yr.	+1 to +7.5 mm/yr.	+4 to +10.5 mm/yr.	+4 to +10.5 mm/yr.	±1.4 mm/yr.
Temperature	mean	10.1 °C	+1.0 °C	+1.4 °C	+2.0 °C	+2.3 °C	+1.3 °C	+1.7 °C	+3.3 °C	+3.7 °C	±0.16 °C
Precipitation	mean amount	851 mm	+4 %	+2.5 %	+5.5 %	+5 %	+5 %	+5 %	+7 %	+7 %	±4.2 %
Solar radiation	solar radiation	354 kJ/cm ²	+0.6 %	+1.6 %	-0.8 %	+1.2 %	-0.5 %	+1.1 %	-0.9 %	+1.4 %	±1.6 %

KNMI'14 Key figures

Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute, 2015 Contact: klimaatdesk@knmi.nl Do you want to know more about the KNMI climate scenarios? www.climatescenarios.nl

Figure 1-2. Climate scenario changes for future climate in the Netherlands (source: Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute, www.climatescenarios.nl).

Freshwater ecosystems are embedded in larger scale watersheds, airsheds, and landscapes, making them intricately connected to their surrounding environment. The effects of climate change on aquatic ecosystems often result from the cumulative impacts of warming and other stresses, such as nutrient loading, induced by human activities in the catchments. As a consequence, many aquatic ecosystems, act as important "sentinels" within their catchments (Adrian et al., 2009), and are experiencing a trend of increasing eutrophication amid ongoing climate change (Hallegraeff et al., 2021; Ho et al., 2019; Matzinger et al., 2007).

Given the importance of freshwater ecosystems, different legislations are established for protection and sustainable management of aquatic ecosystems. For instance, the Water Framework Directive (WFD) is a key piece of European directive that was adopted in 2000. The WFD aims for 'good ecological status' for all water bodies. It is imperative that management strategies consider the expected future impacts of climate change. The necessity for adaptation has been underscored in the White Paper on "Adapting to climate change: towards a European Framework for action" (Biesbroek et al., 2010), and this approach has played a crucial role in shaping policy implementations over recent decades (Giakoumis and Voulvoulis, 2018). To successfully achieve climate change adaptation ambitions, scientists need to provide robust evidence regarding the impacts of climate change on aquatic ecosystem functioning and services. Furthermore, the scientific knowledge needs to be translated into actionable suggestions for the preservation and restoration of freshwater ecosystems.

1.3 Aquatic ecosystem restoration: eutrophication control measures

Eutrophication is recognized as a prominent driver of water quality deterioration worldwide (Ho et al., 2019; Moss et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2006). The term "Eutrophication", originating from Greek, denotes an aquatic ecosystem's transition from lower to higher levels of primary productivity. While it can be a natural process as aquatic ecosystems mature and experience increased primary productivity over time, human activities, such as intensive agriculture and urbanization, have accelerated this aging process (Smith et al., 2006). The consequences of eutrophication are manifested in various water quality issues (see Table 1-2 for a summary), including proliferation of phytoplankton biomass. malodors, and oxygen depletion resulting in fish kills (Smith et al., 2006). Additionally, certain cyanobacterial species, a functional group of phytoplankton, can produce toxins -Cyanotoxins- that pose direct health risks to animals and humans (Chorus et al., 2000). Cvanotoxins are one of the strongest natural poisons that can cause respiratory and liver failure, which may result in fatalities (Ilieva et al., 2019). In 2020, a mass die-off of more than 330 African Elephants in Botswana was attributed to their consumption of pond water contaminated with toxic cyanobacterial blooms (Wang et al., 2021).

Table 1-2. Potential effects of eutrophication on freshwater ecosystems (adapted from Smith et al. 2006).

- · Increased biomass of phytoplankton and macrophyte vegetation
- · Increased biomass of consumer species
- · Shifts to bloom-forming algal species that might be toxic or inedible

- · Increased biomass of benthic and epiphytic algae
- · Changes in species composition of macrophyte vegetation
- Increased incidence of fish kills
- · Reductions in species diversity
- · Reductions in harvestable fish and shellfish biomass
- · Decreases in water transparency
- Taste, odor and drinking water treatment problems
- Oxygen depletion

• Decreases in perceived aesthetic value of the water body

Research on eutrophication processes gained momentum in the 1960s and 1970s. Initial understanding of the links between nutrient enrichments and primary productivity emerged in Europe in the early 1990s, leading to significant advancements in our comprehension of eutrophication over the past half-century (Smith et al., 2006). Nitrogen (N) and Phosphorus (P) have been identified as the key nutrients contributing to eutrophication. While consensus exists that reducing nutrients can lead to a decline in phytoplankton blooms and improve water clarity, there has been an ongoing debate about whether one or both nutrients should be controlled (Cotner, 2017; Paerl et al., 2016; Schindler et al., 2016).

On the one hand, numerous case studies, including a long-term whole-lake experiment conducted at Lake227 in Canada's Experimental Lakes Area (D. W. Schindler, 1974), have suggested that abating eutrophication can be achieved by solely reducing Phosphorus (P), and nitrogen (N) control can be less stringent (Carpenter, 2008; Schindler et al., 2016; Wang and Wang, 2009). On the other hand, the idea of focusing solely on reducing P in restoration has faced criticism on several aspects (Lewis Jr. and Wurtsbaugh, 2008; Lewis et al., 2011; Paerl et al., 2016), including: 1) under high nitrogen conditions, any addition of P can boost phytoplankton growth (Cotner, 2017); 2) mounting evidence indicates that excess N can enhance the toxin production of harmful cyanobacteria (Burson et al., 2016; Horst et al., 2014); 3) N originates from both watersheds and airsheds, and given its harmful

Chapter

effects on climate (greenhouse effect; Kim and Dale, 2008) and ecosystems in watershed (e.g., biodiversity loss; de Vries et al. 2011), reducing N is essential, subsequently decreasing N loading into water bodies. Considering the significant nutrient-eutrophication relationship, it is imperative that any measures aimed at controlling eutrophication through interventions in nutrient levels are supported by robust evidence and a thorough mechanistic understanding, as explored in this Thesis.

In addition to addressing the negative effects of increased nutrient loading on aquatic ecosystems, there is an urgent need for further advancements in understanding the impacts of multiple climate stressors on eutrophication. considering the rapidly changing climate. Figure 1-3 provides a summary of potential relationships between climate change stressors to eutrophication symptoms. Warmer temperatures may exacerbate harmful phytoplankton bloom (Sarian Kosten et al., 2012: Paerl and Huisman, 2008), and future climate conditions may favor cyanobacterial taxa (Carey et al., 2012). Additionally, alternations in precipitation patterns induced by climate change may exacerbate eutrophication by increasing nutrient loading through enhanced runoff (Sinha et al., 2017). However, few studies have focused on the combined effect of extreme events and mean climate change on phytoplankton dynamics (e.g., Bergkemper et al. 2018; A. D. Richardson et al. 2019). In Chapter II, my coauthors and I conducted a controlled experiment to test whether the combined impacts of climate stressors are consistently synergistic, as suggested by Moss et al. (2011). Understanding how these stressors interact is crucial for developing robust management strategies and ensuring the effectiveness of eutrophication control measures in the face of ongoing climate change challenges.

hapter I



Figure 1-3. The effects of warming climate on lake ecosystems (infographic from Moss et al. (2011).

One of the most important steps in controlling eutrophication is to reduce nutrient loads from the watershed, also known as "external loading", by reducing fertilizer application, improving wastewater treatment, etc. Despite these efforts, nutrient release from nutrient-enriched sediments can still lead to internal loading under certain environmental conditions (Søndergaard et al., 2013), resulting in delayed responses of aquatic ecosystems to reductions in external nutrient loading, which may extend up to decades (Schindler, 2006). Many measures have been developed to directly target the eutrophication in the lake itself rather than its surrounding watershed, also known as "in-lake measures" (Lürling and Mucci, 2020). Examples of in-lake measures include geoengineering techniques that target internal loading by precipitating and inactivating nutrients into sediments (e.g., Phoslock[®]), dredging of nutrient-rich sediments, and aeration for artificial oxygenation.

These in-lake eutrophication measures can be generally grouped into two types: source-oriented, that are designed to reduce internal nutrient loading, and symptom-oriented measures, that are aiming at diminishing eutrophication symptoms (Figure 1-4). Examples of source-oriented measures include external loading reduction, geoengineering techniques, and sediment dredging. Symptom-oriented measures include technical and physical measures (e.g., aeration and flushing), and algicides. I refer to (Drabkova, 2007; Nienhuis et al., 2002; Waajen, 2017) for a review of existing eutrophication control measures and their success or failure factors.

Restoration projects in the Netherlands have historically followed a 'trials and errors' strategy (Nienhuis et al., 2002). Based on the results obtained, the

Chapter I

'bottom-up' approach, specifically nutrient reduction, has been favored, while the 'top-down' measures, such as fish stock removal (mainly bream), are seen as complementary. In this thesis, I assess several commonly used in-lake measures by lake managers in the Netherlands (e.g., geoengineering in Chapter III, geoengineering, dredging and aeration in Chapter IV) to acquire a deeper insight in the potential effects of climatic stressors on our restoration efforts.



Figure 1-4. Types of eutrophication control measures based on their targeting elements (Picture modified from Lisette).

Some of the restoration measures mentioned earlier rely on man-controlled engineering techniques, while another category of measures emphasizes the use of natural processes to restore degraded ecosystems - known as Nature-based Solutions (NBS). NBS is a relatively emerging concept that builds upon earlier concepts such as ecological engineering, catchment systems engineering, green-blue infrastructure, natural infrastructure, ecosystem approach, ecosystem-based adaptation/mitigation, ecosystem services, renaturing, and natural capital (Thinknature et al., 2019). A noteworthy example of NBS in aquatic ecosystem restoration is wetland construction, which utilizes the purification processes in wetlands to eliminate water quality deterioration (Janse et al., 2001; Vymazal, 2007). The adoption of NBS has gained significant political traction due to its potential to enhance the resilience of ecosystems in the face of climate change (Faivre et al., 2017; Kabisch et al., 2016). However, our current understanding of the overall effectiveness of NBS remains limited (Chausson et al., 2020; Seddon et al., 2020a). In chapter V, we aim to assess the effectiveness of wetland construction, as opposed to a technology-based measure. 14

By conducting this evaluation, we seek to advance our comprehension of the benefits and drawbacks of NBS.

1.4 Ecosystem service for evaluating restoration success

How should we assess the success of ecological restoration projects? While measuring changes in ecosystem functions, such as primary production and nutrient release, remains the most common approach for assessing the effectiveness of restoration (Chapter III and IV) (Wortley et al., 2013a), there has been an increasing interest in using the concept of ecosystem services due to its ability to convey the benefits and costs of restoration measures in a common currency to managers and stakeholders (Boyd and Banzhaf, 2007; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2012; Seppelt et al., 2011). Ecosystem services, defined as "the benefits that people obtain from ecosystems", provide a conceptual framework for assessing the socioeconomic outcomes of ecological restoration (Bullock et al., 2011; Palmer and Filoso, 2009).

The idea of ecosystem service dates back to the concept of nature's services (Westman, 1977), where attempts were made to measure the social benefits of ecosystem functioning (see definition in Table 1-1). The Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA) elevated the prominence of ecosystem services (ES) to conceptualize the connection between human well-being and ecosystem functioning, emphasizing the importance of maintaining and managing ecosystems in a sustainable manner (Assessment, 2005). Ever since, the concept of ES has become an important methodology in the policy and scientific communities for sustainable management of human-environment systems (Brück et al., 2022; Seppelt et al., 2011; Vihervaara et al., 2010). This significance is visualized by the short distance between "ecosystem services" and "management" as well as "restoration" in the scientific landscape map (Figure 1-5). There are numerous ESs that ecosystems can provide to our societies, for instance, freshwater ecosystems provide services such as drinking water, swimming, fishing and habitats for flora and fauna. The Millennium Assessment categorized ESs into four main types (Assessment, 2005):

- 1. <u>Provisioning services:</u> These are the tangible goods that ecosystems provide, such as food, water, timber, fiber, and medicinal plants. Ecosystems are the source of many essential resources that support human livelihoods and economic activities.
- <u>Regulating services</u>: Ecosystems play a vital role in regulating natural processes and mitigating environmental risks. They help regulate climate by sequestering carbon dioxide, regulate water flow and quality, control erosion, pollination by insects, natural pest control, and disease regulation. These

Chapter

services are crucial for maintaining the balance and stability of ecosystems and preventing the negative impacts of environmental changes.

- 3. <u>Supporting services:</u> Ecosystems provide the necessary functions for the production of all other ecosystem services. These include soil formation, nutrient cycling, primary production (photosynthesis), and habitat provision. Supporting services are the foundation upon which other services rely.
- 4. <u>Cultural services:</u> Ecosystems hold significant cultural, aesthetic, and spiritual values for human societies. They provide recreational opportunities, inspire artistic and intellectual pursuits, and offer a sense of place and connection to nature. Cultural services contribute to the overall well-being and quality of life for individuals and communities.

There are various perspectives on how to describe and quantify the connection between people and nature. Many efforts has been made to quantify ecosystem services through monetization of ES (Costanza et al., 2014, 1997; Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2010) in an attempt to inform policy makers of the benefit-to-cost ratio of ES monetary values resulting from their actions. However, this method has faced criticism on different aspects (Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2014; Palmer and Filoso, 2009; Silvertown, 2015): 1) not each service has a monetary value; 2) our knowledge of the full range services that can be provided by ecosystem is often inadequate, leading to incorrect benefit-to-cost ratio. Decisions on compensating for some service losses can result in unpredictable and potentially damaging consequences for the ecosystem; 3) The value of ecosystems to future generation is difficult to be adequately considered; 4) Monetization of ES has a deeply rooted origin in anthropocentrism, assuming that the human being has the exclusive right to use and manipulate nature in order for their own purposes.

In freshwater ecosystems, numerous studies have demonstrated the linkages between ecosystem conditions and ecosystem service provisioning (Grizzetti et al., 2019; Janssen et al., 2021; Seelen et al., 2021a). However, the assessment of water quality-related ecosystem services is not fully integrated into current ecosystem service modeling tools (Keeler et al., 2012). This is partly due to the complex interactions regulating water quality dynamics and the oversimplified empirical relationships used in large-scale system models (Polasky et al., 2011).

In chapter IV, we adopted a semi-quantitative approach to assess the suitability of provisioning of ecosystem services (ES) based on their required ecosystem states, following (Seelen et al., 2021a), without considering monetization of the ecosystem service. In this framework, threshold values were determined for ecosystem states required for each ecosystem service. For example, low phytoplankton biomass, high transparency and sufficient macrophyte-free zone are

considered to be suitable conditions for provisioning the ES "swimming". The "suitability" for each ES range between 0 and 1, depending on the dynamics of ecosystem states. This framework enables us to illustrate the competing requirements for ecosystem conditions and to assess the gains or losses of ESs that do not necessarily have a monetary value (e.g., nutrient retention, habitat).



Figure 1-5. Network map of key words using search criterium: "Ecosystem service*", "Lake*" and publications since 2020 in the Web of Science using the software VOSviewer (Interactive version: https://tinyurl.com/2xp6uvvf). This gives 884 results. Keywords were filtered with a minimum number of occurrences of 5 (354 out of 5236) and manually filtered to remove less informative keywords. The sizes of circles were scaled by occurrences. The distance between two circles in the visualization approximates the relatedness of the words in terms of co-occurrences.

1.5 Aims and outline of this thesis

This thesis aims at contributing to the establishment of a climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration strategy. Restoration should aim at improvement of the whole ecosystem (Bradshaw, 1996), instead of a single component or attribute of the ecosystem. I tried to align with this principle and propose a framework (Figure 1-6) that integrates factors that are crucial for a successful aquatic ecosystem restoration. This integrative framework involves physical processes (climate), biogeochemistry

Chapter

Chapter I

(e.g., nutrient cycling), biological systems (e.g., primary production, food web), and socio-economics (e.g., ecosystem services).



Figure 1-6. An integrative framework for aquatic ecosystem restoration.

The thesis is outlined in the manner of this integrative framework: I started with studying how climate stressors influenced our freshwater ecosystem functions (Chapter II). Afterwards, I addressed the influences of climate stressors on some of the commonly used restoration measures (Chapter III, VI, V). The effectiveness of restoration measures is assessed by changes in ecosystem functions (Chapter III and VI) and ecosystem services (Chapter V). The main objectives of the thesis:

- To study the cause-effect relationship between multiple extreme climatic stressors and an ecosystem function (**Chapter II**);
- To test to what extent a commonly-used nutrient-intervention measure can remain effective under disturbance by an extreme heatwave (Chapter III);
- To test the efficacy of several commonly-used restoration measures in controlling eutrophication under heatwave conditions (Chapter VI);

• To evaluate the success of lake restoration under climate change using the concept of ecosystem service (**Chapter V**).

The following paragraphs will shortly introduce the research questions and different methods adopted in each chapter.

Chapter II: my co-authors and I studied how two climatic stressors influence ecosystem functioning and phytoplankton functional diversity. A microcosm experiment was carried out with full factorial design with four treatments: two run-off scenarios (normal precipitation and extreme precipitation) and two temperature scenarios (normal and warming). A series of water quality parameters were measured as indicators of ecosystem functioning, including nutrient dynamics and biomass of functional phytoplankton groups. A linear mixed effect model - was used for testing the treatment effects. This chapter improves our mechanistic understanding of the extreme climatic events impacts on ecosystem functioning and functional diversity.

In **chapter III**, a commonly used geoengineering nutrient intervention measure was evaluated regarding its effects on ecosystem functioning, upon exposure to an extreme climatic event - heatwave. This intervention consists of the application of lanthanum-modified bentonite, a compound that is designed to bind soluble reactive phosphorus forming chemical complexes that become biologically unavailable. A three-weeks sediment core experiment was carried out in the laboratory, with a one-week heatwave exposure during the mid of the week. Dynamics of nutrients and greenhouse gasses were measured throughout the experiment as indicators of ecosystem functioning. This study provides implications on whether this nutrient intervention measure's effectiveness will be hampered by heatwaves which are predicted to increase in frequency and intensity during future climatic conditions.

In **Chapter IV**, my co-authors and I investigated results from an in-situ mesocosm experiment carried out in a Dutch urban canal in the summer of 2018, when a summer heatwave swept northern Europe (Kueh and Lin, 2020). In this experiment, five commonly used eutrophication control measures were compared, including two geoengineering measures, aeration, dredging, and fish removal. At the middle of our experiment, an extreme heatwave event was recorded, which was the highest recorded Dutch heatwave temperature since 1901 according to the measurements by Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute. We evaluated the heatwave impacts on the effectiveness of these measures on controlling nutrient cycling and primary production.

In **Chapter V**, we evaluated how ecosystem services provisioning can be influenced by two types of restoration measures under two different climate scenarios.

Chapter

Chapter I

We used PCLake+, a process-based ecological model that can explicitly model nutrient cycles and food web groups including primary producers at a functional level. An ecosystem service module was built into this model, to translate the ecosystem state indicators into ecosystem services provisioning, following an ES assessment framework by Seelen et al. (2021a). PCLake+ was manually coupled to a Lake physic model - FLake. This modeling framework enables us to simulate alternative climate scenarios and restoration measures. We simulated two climate scenarios: current and 2050 Dutch climate conditions. In addition, we simulated a technology-based restoration measure - phosphorus reduction, and a nature-based solution - wetland purification. Inclusion of the concept "ecosystem service" into evaluation of restoration effectiveness, can enable us to communicate with lake managers and other stakeholders in a more intuitive way.

In the General Discussion - **Chapter VI**, I summarize the highlights of **Chapter II to V** to put forward several aspects that I think are significant for a successful restoration of our freshwater ecosystems. Furthermore, I provide my future perspectives on how to move forward towards climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration and ecosystem services provisioning.

Chapter I

Chapter



Chapter II:

Stressors in a bottle: a microcosm study on phytoplankton assemblage response to extreme precipitation event under climate warming

Margaret Armstrong, Qing Zhan, Elias Munthali, Hui Jin, Sven Teurlincx, Piet Peters, Miquel Lürling, Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis

Published on Freshwater Biology: https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.14109

Design of Experiment - Treatments

Temperature increase Temperature 1 (T1) 18 °C Temperature 2 (T2) 24 °C (normal) (extreme) Precipitation intensity increase Run-off from a normal precipitation event (N) T1 N T2 N (Control Treatment) Run-off from an extreme precipitation T1 E T2 E event (E)

Cross over full factorial design with 4 treatments

Chapter I

Summary

- 1. The climatic stressors that are affecting lake ecosystems, especially phytoplankton, are projected to become more intense with continued climate change (e.g., heatwaves, precipitation events). Concerns over the combined effects that multiple, coinciding stressors can have on phytoplankton necessitates investigating the impacts of different regional climate scenarios.
- 2. A microcosm study was conducted to assess the responses of a phytoplankton assemblage containing a cyanobacterium (*Anabaena flos-aquae*), a green alga (*Chlorella vulgaris*) and a diatom (*Synedra*) to a Northwestern European summer scenario. Eutrophic microcosms were exposed to a full-factorial design including a press temperature treatment scenario (ambient or warm) and a pulse precipitation treatment (no runoff simulation).
- 3. Warming scenarios had significant effects on the phytoplankton assemblage biomass, which supports our first hypothesis (H1: higher water temperatures under eutrophic conditions will support larger phytoplankton biomasses, especially cyanobacteria). In contrast, the extreme precipitation event had minimal and short-lived effects on the microcosm assemblage.
- 4. Overall, the interaction between the two climate stressors was antagonistic. In contrast with our second hypothesis (H2: nutrient additions from extreme precipitation event will promote more productivity in higher temperature microcosms), the precipitation runoff event was not amplified by temperature.
- 5. Our results indicate that the combined effect of two climate stressors on a phytoplankton community are not necessarily synergistic or multiplicative. Our findings on antagonistic interactions between climatic stressors necessitate future studies assessing variations of intensity and duration of the climatic stressors.

2.1 Introduction

As sentinels within catchments, lakes can be particularly susceptible to climate change (Adrian et al. 2009, p. 201; Stelzer et al. 2022). Along with shifts in the average climate, this also includes the increasing intensity and frequency of extreme climatic events ("ECEs"). Although the implications of ECEs and long-term changes in average climate have been assessed in laboratory settings (e.g., microcosms; Bergkemper et al. 2018), controlled environments (e.g., mesocosms; A.

D. Richardson et al. 2019) and from observation data (e.g., modeling; Joehnk et al. 2008), there are knowledge gaps on how different aspects of climate change interact and how these multiple climatic pressures will affect lakes. Understanding the biotic and abiotic pathways in which these compound pressures occur in combination with prolonged anthropogenic-driven stressors has been highlighted as a critical knowledge gap in the recent IPCC report (Change, 2022). Our study addresses this gap through analyzing the impact of an extreme precipitation event in conjunction with temperature rise on phytoplankton performance in a controlled setting mimicking Northwestern European climate scenarios, as regional projections anticipate increases in extreme precipitation events (Madsen et al., 2014) and extreme summer heatwaves (McGregor et al., 2005; Woolway et al., 2021). As outlined by the Royal Dutch Meteorological Institute, an increase in higher intensity precipitation events during summer will track with higher temperatures (Klein Tank and Lenderink, 2009), thus supporting the potential of multiple extreme climatic events occurring simultaneously and necessitating research studying the potential effects.

2.1.1 Abiotic responses

Changes to lake chemical processes as a consequence of climatic stressors have the potential to instigate ecosystem disruptions (Calderó-Pascual et al., 2020). Between extreme precipitation and warming events, there can be abiotic ramifications such as nutrient loading, turbidity and water temperature change. The positive or negative outcomes of the stressors are dependent upon the local situation, such as regional location, antecedent lake conditions, the hydro-morphology, time of year and event severity amongst other factors. Occurrences of extreme precipitation can lead to increased runoff (Jennings et al., 2012), such that runoff from a single extreme precipitation event could account for a significant portion of the total annual nutrient loading (Zwart et al., 2017). Conversely, precipitation events could cause nutrient depletion from flushing of a system (Ho and Michalak, 2020) or dilution (Cobbaert et al., 2014). Similarly, turbidity could be altered from the re-suspension of in situ sediments (Kasprzak et al., 2017), in turn decreasing water transparency (Kasprzak et al., 2017) and light availability (Stockwell et al., 2020). Warming of water systems from climatic-influenced events can also impact abiotic aspects of systems, as evidenced through strengthening stratification in water columns and the subsequent effect this has on biogeochemical processes (De Senerpont Domis et al., 2013; Velthuis et al., 2017; Wagner and Adrian, 2009).

2.1.2 Biotic responses

Phytoplankton biomass can be positively or negatively affected by the occurrence of climatic events depending upon how these events manifest in the water system. For example, extreme precipitation can instigate phytoplankton growth with nutrient loading from runoff (De Senerpont Domis et al., 2013) or thermal pollution from impervious surfaces increasing the temperature of runoff water (Van Buren et al., 2000). Heatwayes can similarly contribute to phytoplankton growth with warming the water to temperatures more favorable for some species such as cvanobacteria. particularly when warming is also paired with a nutrient-rich environment (Lurling et al., 2018). However, the occurrence of climatic events can also negatively affect phytoplankton biomass through the abjotic changes. For example, phytoplankton can be placed at a disadvantage when nutrients become diluted (Cobbaert et al., 2014), lower temperatures create unsuitable conditions (Wood et al., 2017) and phytoplankton are flushed from the system (Stockwell et al., 2020). Shifts in light availability due to alterations of turbidity (Bergström and Karlsson, 2019; Perga et al., 2018) can also select for phytoplankton species with a competitive advantage (Ekvall et al., 2013; Feuchtmayr et al., 2019), such as for cyanobacteria with the capacity for vertical movement (Walsby et al., 1991). Species that are outcompeted due to turbidity as well as temperature, nutrients and flushing may lead to a decrease in overall phytoplankton biomass as well as shifts in community composition favoring harmful cyanobacterial blooms.

2.1.3 Multiple stressors

Pulse-press disturbance categorization (Bender et al., 1984) can be applied to climatic stressors with short, intense extreme events being "pulse" disturbances and prolonged climatic pressures being "press" disturbances (Harris et al., 2018). The combination of these two stressors can have notable implications on biological communities such as shifts in community richness and species dominance (Graham and Vinebrooke, 2009; Harris et al., 2018). At present, few studies have focused on the combined effect of an extreme event (pulse disturbance) and mean climate change (press disturbance) on phytoplankton (Bergkemper et al., 2018; A. D. Richardson et al., 2019), particularly with combined stressors of allochthonous materials and temperature (Graham and Vinebrooke, 2009). Elucidating the mechanisms behind interactive effects of climatic stressors requires experiments in a controlled setting.

2.1.4 Experiment

We carried out a microcosm study with three phytoplankton populations (i.e., cyanobacteria, diatom and green algae), mimicking the primary food web base of a

typical eutrophic Dutch lake under two climate scenarios (ambient summer water temperature and +6 °C summer water temperature). Half of the microcosms were also exposed to an extreme precipitation event. We tested two hypotheses with the fullfactorial treatment design. First, under eutrophic conditions, the higher water temperature microcosms will support a larger phytoplankton biomass than the ambient temperatures. Previous studies have illustrated the implications of heatwaves on the proliferations of algal blooms (e.g., Urrutia-Cordero et al. 2020), particularly with the presence of heat-adapted species such as cvanobacteria (e.g., Filiz et al., 2020). Second, upon exposure to the runoff event, we predict that there will be a larger difference in productivity in the warmer versus ambient climate treatments. thus creating more competitive advantages for cyanobacteria. Such productivity can result when higher temperatures instigate more phytoplankton primary production activity and, in combination with access to readily available nutrients, can support significant growth (Paerl and Paul, 2012). This is in line with studies regarding the effect of eutrophication in supporting phytoplankton proliferation (Hansson et al., 2013; Schindler, 1978).

2.2 Methods and materials

2.2.1 Experimental design

We carried out a full-factorial microcosm experiment where an artificial phytoplankton assemblage was exposed to an ambient and regional warming scenario for a period of 23 days. Both ambient (18 °C) and warm (24 °C) microcosms were exposed to a runoff event on day 13 to test whether the microcosm response to an extreme precipitation event was amplified or controlled by temperature. Each treatment had six replicates, resulting in a total of 24 microcosms (6 replicates x 2 temperature treatments x absence/presence of runoff event). Each microcosm was inoculated with a phytoplankton assemblage consisting of cyanobacterium Anabaena flos-aquae (CCAP 1446/1C), green alga Chlorella vulgaris (UTEX 26) and diatom Synedra sp. (from a 2009 field isolate from Lake Maarsseveen, The Netherlands, 52°08'32.2" N 005°04'53.7" E). These species were chosen for the simplified assemblage as they are common in eutrophic systems throughout The Netherlands and represent the dominant cyanobacteria, green algae and diatoms of our reference Omloop Lake (The Netherlands, 51.79242 N, 4.95114 E). Additionally, these three species exhibit differing traits and preferences that can assist in testing the implications that the experimental treatments had on their competitive ability. The

Chapter .

microcosms were sampled at a 2-3 day interval, with six samplings occurring before the day 13 runoff event and five happening after.

2.2.2 Reference Omloop Lake

Chapter II

Our experimental phytoplankton species and their relative abundance, the temperature treatments and the precipitation runoff simulation were based on the conditions present in Omloop Lake, which is a hydrologically isolated, moderately deep (6.8m) and eutrophic lake system located in the southwest of the Netherlands (51.79242 N, 4.95114 E). The summer conditions of this lake are representative of many of the anthropogenically-created water bodies in the country. In line with regional trends, land-use induced nutrient enrichment is leading to the eutrophic state of water bodies and an abundance of cyanobacteria.

2.2.3 Microcosm design

The microcosms consisted of 10 L Nalgene containers (Nalgene, Rochester, United States of America) filled with 3.5 L autoclaved COMBO medium (Kilham et al., 1998). Algal trace element solution stocks for Na₂EDTA·H₂O and FeCl₃·H₂O were stored and added separately to the Nalgene microcosms to avoid crystallization. At the start of the experiment (day 0) the microcosms were inoculated with 540 mL of the algae stock. The introduced biomass was composed of 24% Anabaena flosaquae, 50% Chlorella vulgaris and 26% Synedra sp. This biomass distribution was chosen to emulate a typical eutrophic Dutch lake system under summer conditions with green algae dominance following the phytoplankton seasonal succession (De Senerpont Domis et al., 2007). Incident light was set at 24.91 \pm 4.74 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ integrated over PAR (TL Osram 18w/840, Berlin, Germany) programmed for 16 h light and 8 h dark (Theben selecta 170 top 2 digital astronomical switch set, Haigerloch, Germany). This light intensity is around the critical light intensity of the phytoplankton types involved (e.g., Huang et al. 2018; Shi et al. 2015; Shu et al. 2012). The microcosms were closed off with a silicone stopper to prevent contamination by air and evaporation losses. This stopper contained an air vent with a filter and a tubing system through which an air flow was administered to prevent oxygen depletion and to create a subtle mixing of the water column. Microcosm water columns were homogenized three times per week through manual perturbation to prevent phytoplankton adherence to surfaces.

2.2.4 Treatment scenarios

2.2.4.1 Temperature

Water temperature scenarios were based on average and extreme summer temperatures using hourly air temperature data records (1951-2017) of the Royal Dutch Meteorological Institute's de Bilt weather station. Air temperatures were converted to water temperatures with the Dutch surface water model developed by (Mooij et al., 2008b), yielding 18 °C and 24 °C for ambient and warm scenarios, respectively. Temperature treatments were administered through water baths containing a heating element (EHEIM 3619 300W heater, Deizisau, Germany) and an underwater pump (EHEIM compactON 1000, Deizisau, Germany). Water temperature was controlled with a custom climate control system (SpecView, Uckfield, United Kingdom) at +/- 0.5 °C.

2.2.4.2 Precipitation

The extreme precipitation-induced runoff event was based on daily precipitation values from the de Bilt weather station's 1906-2017 summer precipitation records. To attain a realistic scenario of soil runoff volumes we performed rainfall simulations with the Wageningen University + Research Soil Physics and Land Management Group rainfall simulator (Lassu et al., 2015); Supplement Information SI 2.2). Soil samples from the shore of Omloop Lake were taken to simulate particulate material in overland runoff. Based on these rainfall simulations, precipitation treatments were represented in the microcosms through introduction of a soil runoff solution (2.9 g soil dissolved in 600 mL demi water, equaling to approximately 15% microcosm volume dilution) to the extreme precipitation-assigned microcosms. To mimic the increased water volume that takes place after intense precipitation for lakes with no outflow, the total volume of the precipitation-treated microcosms increased to approximately 4.6 L in the 10 L containers, and maintained the higher volume (as compared to the non-precipitationtreated microcosms) for the remainder of the experiment. As such, dilution of dissolved nutrient concentrations in the microcosms occurred with the application of the rainfall simulation due to the added runoff increasing the total microcosm volume. During the experiment, removed sample volumes were replaced with equivalent amounts of COMBO medium following every sampling (approximate 2% dilution rate). The nutrient composition in the runoff was 125 mg/L particulate carbon, 12 mg/L particulate nitrogen and approximately 0.08 mg/L mobile phosphorus, of which 0.004 mg/L was the readily available phosphorus fraction, 0.06 mg/L was the redox sensitive phosphorus fraction and 0.01 mg/L was the organic phosphorus fraction as

Chapter

was determined through an adjusted version of the Psenner soil analysis (Cavalcante et al., 2018), with details on measurements in SI 2.3, Table SI 2-2. Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus were measured as these values will provide insight into potential macronutrient limitations, while other nutrients such as silica and iron were not measured as they are perceived to be sufficiently provided through the quantity and frequency of COMBO medium that was added into the microcosms (SI 2.1, Table SI 2-1). The runoff event was applied to microcosms on day 13 of the experiment.

Chapter II

2.2.5 Sample analysis

2.2.5.1 Sample collection

To account for vertical heterogeneity in phytoplankton abundance, samples were collected from microcosms using sampling tubes. During experiment days 0-12, approximately 170 mL of sample volume was collected from each microcosm. After day 13, microcosms treated with runoff had approximately 230 mL collected during sampling. All sampled volumes were replaced with equivalent amounts of COMBO medium to compensate for the loss in water as well as nutrients.

2.2.5.2 Phytoplankton

The microcosm phytoplankton assemblage composition was quantified during each sampling event using a PhytoPAM fluorometer (WALZ, Effeltrich, Germany). This method was used as it has been considered more reliable than microscopic counting methods (Lurling et al., 2018). Before the onset of the experiment, we conducted a regression analysis of PhytoPAM measurements versus Coulter counter counts of the individual phytoplankton cultures which yielded high agreement between these two measurements (*Anabaena flos-aquae* $R^2 = 0.96$, *Chlorella vulgaris* $R^2 = 0.97$, *Synedra* $R^2 = 0.94$, see SI 2.4, Figure SI 2-1 A-C; Beckman Coulter Nederland BV, Woerden, the Netherlands). Calculated dilution concentrations are shown for Total Chlorophyll a in SI 2.5, Figure SI 2-2.

2.2.5.3 Abiotic

To determine dissolved and particulate nutrient fractions, samples were filtered with Aquadest washed glass microfiber filters (Whatman GF/F, Maidstone, United Kingdom). Filters were dried for 24 h at 60 °C before being stored in a desiccator. Filters for particulate phosphorus were incinerated at 550 °C for 20 minutes then autoclaved with a 2% potassium persulfate solution at 121 °C for 30 minutes. Resulting solutions were analyzed for phosphorus concentrations with a
Quaatro segmented flow analyzer (Seal Analytical, Beun de Ronde, the Netherlands). Particulate carbon and nitrogen fractions were determined from filter samples with a FLASH 2000 organic elemental analyzer (Interscience B.V., Breda, the Netherlands). Filtrate samples were stored at -20 °C until run through an ASI-L Auto Sampler (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Dissolved phosphate, total oxidized nitrogen, nitrite, nitrate and ammonium concentration were quantified with a Quaatro segmented flow analyzer. Dissolved organic carbon and dissolved inorganic carbon were measured weekly in a TOC-L Total Organic Carbon Analyzer (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Phosphorus and nitrogen were calculated through summation of the measured dissolved and particulate nutrient fractions. Calculated dilution concentrations are shown for dissolved phosphate and dissolved nitrogen in SI 2.5, Figures SI 2-3.

Prior to sampling, a WTW Multi 350i Field Meter (WTW, Weilheim, Germany) measured water temperature, pH and dissolved oxygen of the microcosms. Turbidity was measured weekly with a WTW Turb430IR Meter (WTW, Weilheim, Germany).

2.2.6 Statistics

Linear mixed-effect models ("LME"; Lindstrom and Bates, 1988a) were used to analyze the effects of our experimental treatments on the phytoplankton and nutrients. Precipitation treatment runoff (RUNOFF), temperature (TEMP) and time (TIME) were integrated as fixed factors. Data were analyzed for the full time period. as well as for the before and after runoff periods separately. For the latter, we divided the dataset into a before runoff period (0-12 days), where only temperature and time effects were evaluated, and an after-runoff period (14-23 days), where the effect of the precipitation treatments was also assessed. We opted to only present and discuss the analyses of the dataset in two time periods as, upon the application of the runoff treatment, the microcosms exhibited contrasting trajectories relative to before runoff periods, i.e., changed slope and intercept. To account for the variation in initial states among microcosms for both before runoff and after runoff periods, we included the individual microcosms as a random term in the LME model. A metric called intraclass correlation (ICC) was used for evaluation of the significance of random effects. The ICC, by calculating the ratio of between-cluster variance to total variance, can be helpful in determining whether random effects are needed (Theobald, 2018). For completeness, we document both the analysis of the full time period as well as the separate analyses of the two time periods in SI 2.6, Tables SI 2-3, 2-4, 2-5, 2-6, 2-7, 2-8, 2-9, 2-10, 2-11, and 2-12. The Shapiro Wilk test (Ghasemi and Zahediasl, 2012a) was used to check for normality. If normality assumptions were violated, we

transformed the data through a logarithm, square root or reciprocal transformation. If transformed data still did not meet the assumption of normality, we chose to show the model outcome on the untransformed data but associated the p-values with a more conservative probability cut-off (i.e., only factors with very small p-value were considered significant; (Fowler-Walker and Connell, 2002). In addition, we used the Breusch Pagan test (Waldman, 1983a) to check for data heteroscedasticity and a weighted linear mixed-effect model was applied if necessary. Additionally, the interaction term was calculated for the total chlorophyll a, individual phytoplankton species, phosphorus and nitrogen LME models to evaluate the potential interactive effects of multiple stressors (Tables SI 2-3, 2-4, 2-5, 2-6, 2-7, 2-8, 2-9, 2-10, 2-11, and 2-12).

Principal response curve analysis ("PRC"; Paul J. Van den Brink and Braak, 1999), a multivariate statistical method, was carried out on multiple parameters to determine the system responses of the four different treatments over time and the weights of different parameters. In our study, we set the ambient temperature (18 °C) and non-runoff-treated microcosms as the reference (baseline) to compare other treatments against. Data were standardized prior to the PRC analyses. All statistical analyses in this study were performed in R (Team, 2019a) with the packages *lubridate* (Grolemond and Wickman, 2011a), *ggplot2* (Villanueva and Chen, 2019a), *nlme* (Pinheiro et al., 2019a) and *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019b).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Biotic response

The runoff and temperature effects were assessed for the total phytoplankton biomass (Figure 2-1 A) and for the three species individually (Figures 2-1 C-E) through a linear mixed effect model (LME). Temperature had a significant positive effect on total chlorophyll-a concentrations throughout the duration of the experiment ($F_{1,118} = 5.09$, p <0.05, days 0-12, TEMPxTIME; $F_{1,92} = 7.35$, p <0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME). The runoff event resulted in a significant lowering of total phytoplankton biomass ($F_{1,92} = 4.55$, p <0.05, days 14-23, RUNOFFxTIME; Figure 2-1 A). However, there was no significant interaction detected between both climatic events ($F_{1,92} = 0.02$, p = 0.89, days 14-23, TEMPxRUNOFFxTIME). To explore the dilution aspect of the runoff event, we calculated changes in total chlorophyll a of the non-runoff event exposed treatments (18 °C & 24 °C) due to dilutions. These graphs are provided in SI 2.5, Figure SI 2-2 A-B.



Figure 2-1. Overall phytoplankton biomass (chlorophyll a concentration) presented by microcosm treatment (A) and with principal response curves ("PRC") of phytoplankton species, as expressed by coefficient effects for the control and each experimental treatment (B). The PRC figure visualizes the multivariate response of the microcosm assemblage (expressed in canonical regression coefficient Cdt, left y-axis) over time (x-axis) in the different treatments relative to the control (the baseline) and to what extent this response was influenced by the individual phytoplankton species concentrations (expressed in the species weight bk, right y-axis). A positive weight on the right y-axis for a specific parameter indicates that this parameter is positively correlated with the observed patterns. Conversely, a negative weight on the right y-axis indicates that a specific parameter is negatively related with the observed patterns. Individual algal species concentrations measured with PhytoPAM of chlorophyll a for each experimental treatment and control treatment are presented for Anabaena flos-aquae (C), Chlorella vulgaris (D) and Synedra sp. (E). The light blue solid line represents ambient temperature (18 °C) & no runoff, the dark blue solid line represents higher temperature (24 °C) & no runoff, the light red dashed line represents ambient temperature (18 °C) & runoff, and the dark red dashed line represents higher temperature (24 °C) & runoff. In Figure 2-1 B, the flat light blue line is the control treatment and the other three lines are the experimental treatments. These lines apply the same color key scheme as illustrated in Figure 2-1 A.

The dynamics of phytoplankton biomass in response to experimental treatments were shown in principal response curves (PRC, Figure 2-1 B), with the weight of each species indicating their influence on the overall dynamics. The cyanobacterium *Anabaena flos-aquae*, and to a lesser extent the diatom *Synedra*, showed opposing influences on the principal responses in comparison with the green alga *Chlorella vulgaris*. This differential response becomes apparent only at day 6, with higher temperatures resulting in higher cyanobacteria ($F_{1,118} = 116.66$, p <0.0001, days 0-12, TEMPxTIME; Figure 2-1 C) and diatom concentrations ($F_{1,22} = 25.96$, p <0.0001, days 0-12, TEMP; Figure 2-1 E) as well as lower green algal concentrations ($F_{1,118} = 41.92$, p <0.0001, days 0-12, TEMPxTIME; Figure 2-1 D).

Following the runoff event on day 13, recipient microcosms had a shortterm but non-significant decline in cvanobacteria and diatom biomass ($F_{1,92} = 1.74$, p = 0.19, day 14-23, RUNOFFXTIME; $F_{1.92}$ = 1.79, p = 0.18, day 14-23, RUNOFFxTIME), and a non-significant increase in green algal biomass ($F_{1,92} = 3.10$, p = 0.08, day 14-23, RUNOFFXTIME). Within the warmer microcosms, such a decline in biomass occurred on day 14 and recovered to levels equivalent to nonrunoff-treated microcosms by day 16 (Figure 2-1 B). Ambient temperature microcosms had a delayed effect with the decline visible starting at day 18 and reaching biomass levels equivalent to the non-runoff-treated microcosms on day 23 (Figure 2-1 B). Temperature did not amplify or control the response of the phytoplankton assemblage to the runoff event and remained significant in determining cyanobacterial ($F_{1.92} = 5.56$, p < 0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME; Figure 2-1 C), diatom ($F_{1,20} = 4.62$, p <0.05, days 14-23, TEMP; Figure 2-1 E) and green algal biomass ($F_{1.92} = 146.85$, p < 0.0001, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME; Figure 2-1 D). The runoff effect (RUNOFF or RUNOFFxTIME) was not significant for any of the individual species.

2.3.2 Nutrients

2.3.2.1 Particulate and dissolved nutrients

The concentrations of particulate and dissolved phosphorus (particulate phosphorus + soluble reactive phosphorus ("SRP")) in warmer microcosms were significantly higher than that in ambient microcosms during the first half of the experiment. Distinct differences between the warmer and ambient microcosms are visible on day 12 of the experiment. This trend, however, was lost after the application of the runoff event ($F_{1.92} = 1.86$, p>0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME). Following the runoff event, there was a nearly significant effect of precipitation on the particulate and dissolved phosphorus content of the microcosms ($F_{1.92} = 3.43$, p=0.07, days 14-23, RUNOFFxTIME). Throughout the duration of the experiment, 34

temperature had a significant positive effect on particulate and dissolved nitrogen concentrations (particulate nitrogen + nitrite + nitrate + ammonia; $F_{1,22} = 11.34$, p<0.005, days 0-12, TEMP; $F_{1,20} = 5.55$, p<0.05, days 14-23, TEMP; Figure 2-2 B).



Figure 2-2. Particulate and dissolved phosphorus (A) and nitrogen (B) by treatments. The light blue solid line represents ambient temperature (18 °C) & no runoff, the dark blue solid line represents higher temperature (24 °C) & no runoff, the light red dashed line represents ambient temperature (18 °C) & runoff, and the dark red dashed line represents higher temperature (24 °C) & runoff.

2.3.2.2 Dissolved, particulate nutrients

Initial average phosphate concentrations were recorded at 0.66 mg/L (day 1, Figure 2-3 A). Microcosms maintained high concentration levels until day 7, after which there was a decline. The change in phosphate levels closely coincides with the increase of total chlorophyll a across all microcosm treatments (Figure 2-1 A). Following day 12, phosphate remained at near non-detectable levels regardless of the treatment ($F_{1,92} = 1.32$, p >0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME; $F_{1.92} = 2.88$, p >0.05, days 14-23, RUNOFFxTIME). To explore the dilution aspect of the runoff event, we calculated changes in phosphate of the non-runoff event exposed treatments (18 °C & 24 °C) due to dilutions. These graphs are provided in Figure SI 2-3 A-B.



Figure 2-3. Experimental treatments and control treatment are presented for dissolved phosphorus (A), dissolved nitrogen (**B**), particulate phosphorus (**C**) and particulate nitrogen (**D**). The light blue solid line represents ambient temperature (18 °C) & no runoff, the dark blue solid line represents higher temperature (24 °C) & no runoff, the light red dashed line represents ambient temperature (18 °C) & runoff, and the dark red dashed line represents higher temperature (24 °C) & runoff.

Dissolved nitrogen concentrations (nitrate + nitrite + ammonium) had a similar overall decrease in concentration (Figure 2-3 B) with no temperature effect detected ($F_{1.118} = 0.03$, p >0.05, days 0-12, TEMPxTIME; $F_{1.92} = 0.33$, p >0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME). However, over days 9-14 there was a brief increasing trend for all microcosms, wherein the warmer microcosms displayed sharper concentration increases. In contrast to dissolved phosphate, the dissolved nitrogen did not decrease to near non-detectable levels. During the post-runoff period, the precipitation treatment also had a significant effect on dissolved nitrogen concentrations, as seen on day 14 ($F_{1.92} = 4.71$, p <0.05, days 14-23, RUNOFFxTIME). To explore the dilution aspect of the runoff event, we calculated changes in dissolved nitrogen concentrations of the non-runoff event exposed treatments (18 °C & 24 °C) due to dilutions. These graphs are provided in SI 2.5, Figure SI 2-4 A-B.

Particulate phosphorus increased before the runoff event, with the warm microcosms increasing more rapidly than the ambient temperature microcosms ($F_{1,118}$ = 26.98, p <0.0001, days 0-12, TEMPxTIME; Figure 2-3 C). However, this significant interaction disappeared following the runoff event ($F_{1.92}$ = 1.27, p >0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME). Despite the introductions of sediment-associated 36

Chapter I

nutrients, exposure to the runoff event had a non-significant impact on the phosphorus concentrations ($F_{1,20} = 4.25$, p = 0.05, day 14-23, RUNOFF; Figure 2-3 C). Particulate nitrogen showed similar responses with the higher rates of increase in the warmer microcosms versus the ambient temperature microcosms ($F_{1,118} = 20.96$, p <0.0001, days 0-12, TEMPxTIME; Figure 2-3 D) before disappearing upon exposure to the runoff event ($F_{1,92} = 0.05$, p >0.05, days 14-23, TEMPxTIME).

Chapter i

2.4 discussion

We examined the implications of coinciding climatic stressors on a phytoplankton assemblage within a full-factorial microcosm experiment design. Our study aim was to analyze the effects of runoff and temperature on phytoplankton under typical Northwestern European summer conditions. For this, the microcosms emulated a eutrophic and hydrologically-isolated water system, which is common for deeper lakes throughout the Rhine and Meuse delta (Seelen et al., 2021b). Regional temperature and precipitation data were used to devise the summer ambient and extreme treatments. Within this design, a coinciding chronic press stressor and shortterm pulse stressor were administered through a warming event and a precipitation runoff event, respectively. Our study showed that the individual temperature treatments had a more significant effect on the phytoplankton assemblage than the combined treatment. Specifically, this resulted in proliferation of cvanobacteria biomass, and to an extent of diatom biomass, in the warmer treatments and green algae biomass in the ambient treatments. The runoff event, on the other hand, had a transient effect on the phytoplankton dynamics with a short-lived decrease in chlorophyll a measured in the overall phytoplankton and the individual cyanobacteria in the higher temperature treatment. Based on these results, we here discuss the implications of individual versus multiple stressor scenarios, the influence of press and pulse stressors in lake systems as well as suggestions for future studies.

2.4.1 Temperature treatment

In support of our first hypothesis, the observed phytoplankton dynamics highlighted the role of temperature in stimulating biomass growth, with the exception of the green alga *Chlorella vulgaris*. This species has been observed to have a different range of temperatures for promoting growth rather than our temperature treatment. Under controlled conditions, *Chlorella vulgaris* has been observed to achieve high growth rates at 25-30 °C (Sharma, 2012), though growth has also been observed up to 35 °C (Lee et al., 1985). However, within our assemblage setting,

Chapter II

Chlorella vulgaris was unable to outcompete Anabaena flos-aquae at the higher microcosm temperature. In comparison, our cyanobacterial species demonstrated the largest growth rate under warm conditions. Previous studies have demonstrated this relationship through laboratory experiments (Sarian Kosten et al., 2012), modeling (Alex Elliott et al., 2005; Mooij et al., 2007) and observations (Konopka and Brock, 1978). Our results are congruent with growing concerns regarding how intensified warming could impact lake ecosystems, especially those in already eutrophic or degraded states. The dominance of cvanobacteria under the warming treatments. relative to the ambient treatments, can cause challenges as these species are capable of disrupting food web dynamics (Bartosiewicz et al., 2019) and causing health concerns with toxin production (Francy et al., 2016). Microcystin in particular has been a prominent toxin of concern in freshwater systems (Faassen and Lürling, 2013). While our study incorporated measurements to evaluate microcystin concentrations. its production was considered absent in our microcosm study as toxin levels were undetectable. However, other cyanobacteria species within the phytoplankton community may be capable of producing toxins under similar experimental conditions (Lürling et al., 2017a).

Additionally, the higher temperature treatment had a significant effect on the measured (dissolved + particulate) phosphorus fractions in the microcosms. A significant difference in phosphorus levels occurred in the time period before the application of the runoff simulation. As the microcosms were closed systems, the difference in phosphorus concentrations could not be accounted for due to removal of phosphorus from the system. Aside from sampling events, the contents of the microcosms were not removed. We hypothesize that the ambient temperature instigated an increase in the quantity of colloidal phosphorus, which would thereby render the nutrient immeasurable in the dissolved and particulate nutrient analysis. We recognize, however, that not all fractions of phosphorus or of nitrogen were accounted for in the sample analysis. Therefore, in future, incorporating additional analyses of other nutrient fractions into the experimental set-up can further elucidate the mechanisms behind the significant difference in nutrient concentrations.

2.4.2 Precipitation runoff treatment

The impact of the runoff event on the phytoplankton was apparent through a significantly lower phytoplankton assemblage biomass, though this effect was not evident for the individual species. As precipitation runoff is capable of instigating a range of disparate effects within the recipient aquatic setting (Feuchtmayr et al., 2019; Kasprzak et al., 2017; Morabito et al., 2018), there could be a number of mechanisms behind the alteration in total chlorophyll a concentration in our experimental microcosms. The increase of the turbidity after the runoff event (SI 2.7, Figure SI 2-5) may have posed a light limitation for the phytoplankton. A visual, short-lived increase in suspended solids following the application of the runoff supports the role of turbidity within our microcosm setting. Continuous measurements of light levels within the water column could assist in further elucidation of the influence of such a runoff event in future experiments. On the other hand, the abrupt addition of 600 mL soil runoff solution into the extreme precipitation-treated microcosms could also have caused a dilution effect. As demonstrated in previous studies, the influx of water from an extreme precipitation event can lead to a decreased biomass through system dilution (Wood et al., 2017).

The calculated dilution from the runoff event (SI 2.5, Figures SI 2-2 A-B) illustrated a relatively small decrease in phytoplankton biomass. The approximation of the dilution aspect of the runoff event of dissolved nutrients (Figures SI 2-2 A-B and SI 2-3 A-B) indicates that the dilution aspect of the runoff event could at least partially be mitigated by the increased availability of nutrients upon runoff exposure. It is likely that these nutrients were rapidly uptaken by the phytoplankton assemblage as phosphate remained at near limiting levels, and dissolved nitrogen levels were only temporarily significantly elevated.

2.4.3 Multiple stressors in freshwaters

Contrary to our second hypothesis, temperature did not amplify or control the impact of runoff on the microcosms. In the second half of the experiment, both the temperature increases as well as runoff seemed to reduce chlorophyll-a concentrations relative to the control conditions. Whereas this effect was subtle but not significant for the runoff only treatment, it was significant for a short time period in both the 24 °C treatment (day 14) as well as the combined treatment (day 14 and day 16). Following the classification of potential interaction types between multiple stressors by Piggott et al. (2015), the conditions wherein an interaction may occur include when 1) two single stressor effects oppose each other, 2) act in the same direction, 3) when both stressors have no effect individually and 4) when one single stressor has a significant effect and the other stressor does not have a significant effect. In our study during the period just after exposure to the runoff treatment (day 14), simultaneous exposure to runoff and 24 °C temperature resulted in stronger negative impact on chlorophyll-a biomass levels than the effect of the single stressors, thereby demonstrating a negative synergistic effect (based on a negative (24 °C)-neutral (runoff) interaction type) according to Piggot et al.'s classification. For the precipitation simulation, this could be due to the runoff treatment having mainly had a hydrological diluting effect rather than a biogeochemical effect. As for temperature,

Chapter II

the 24 °C microcosms exhibited trends of *Anabaena* growth briefly leveling off, *Chlorella* crashing and *Synedra* having peaked around day 14. In comparison, the phytoplankton in the 18 °C microcosms exhibited steady growth around the period of the runoff application. Regardless of the mechanism, the two treatments did not have the anticipated effect of increasing phytoplankton biomass.

Chapter II

Comparably designed microcosm experiments have found other effects when multiple climatic stressors were combined into one treatment: previous microcosm studies utilizing heating and nutrient addition treatments have found that there was a positive effect on phytoplankton abundance when the treatments were individually applied, yet a lesser effect occurred when the two treatments were applied together (A. D. Richardson et al., 2019). A meta-analysis of multiple stressor freshwater studies by Jackson et al. (2016) indicated that multiple stressors predominantly (48%) had an antagonistic impact on the functional performance of freshwater ecosystems, rather than an synergistic (28%) or additive interaction (16%). This antagonistic interaction phenomenon in freshwater systems has been theorized to be rooted in these systems' potential to acclimate to pressures quickly due to environmental variability, specifically with co-adaptation in the systems dampening multiple stressor effects (Jackson et al., 2016). In future controlled system studies. particularly those with more complex food webs, these patterns of antagonistic or synergistic interactions can be more directly observed. Further, the upscaling of mechanistic findings such as those from this experiment can be tested.

2.4.4 Press and pulse stressors in freshwaters

In situations where press and pulse pressures are paired, the press stressors can be indicative of the overall effect. As witnessed in our study, the effects of temperature on the phytoplankton community eclipsed those of the runoff event in magnitude of change, effectively accounting for the majority of the significant effects. Similar press events have been noted to present a larger effect on lake systems as compared to coinciding pulse events. For instance, the coinciding long-term heatwave and the short-term storm events observed in Lough Feeagh during summer 2018 instigated different effects on the system. On a time scale perspective, the implications of the heatwave persisted in the lake longer than those of the storm event (Calderó-Pascual et al., 2020).

However, pulse stressors also contribute to the cumulative effect of multiple stressors. By their nature, pulse stressors can stimulate intense responses in a system over a short period of time (Harris et al., 2018). The capacity of lakes to quickly mitigate a pulse stressor may provide an opportunity for the system to recover the pre-disturbance functions, but the shortening return period of these events can hamper the resilience of lakes. Further, lags or legacy effects from the pulse events can cause complications (Harris et al., 2018), such as mitigation measures not being implemented or the delayed effect coinciding with another stressor.

2.4.5 Caveats and future steps

We studied the combined effect of a climatic press and pulse stressor on an experimental phytoplankton assemblage. Over the course of the experiment, the microcosms exhibited significant effects due to the applied treatments. Of interest is that all of the microcosm assemblages exhibited a decline towards the end of the experimental period. We hypothesize that a limitation of resources, particularly of nutrients, became unsustainable and led to an observed decrease in total phytoplankton biomass levels following day 21. Further, the presented methods could be improved upon for evaluating assemblages. For instance, our approach of utilizing PhytoPAM for measuring phytoplankton biomass was proven as effective as more traditional counting methods. However, calibration of the PhytoPAM throughout the experiment could accommodate shifting experimental conditions.

While experimenting with such an assemblage lacks the environmental realism of a natural aquatic food web, it does permit us to gain a deeper mechanistic understanding of cause-and-effect relationships. With the increasing likelihood of multiple and compound climatic pressures (e.g., IPCC, 2022), such experimental approaches can be key for elucidating relevant, underlying mechanisms of ecosystem processes. While experimental studies have demonstrated both antagonistic and (negative) synergistic climatic stressor interactions, phytoplankton communities may react differently when different climate scenarios are applied (Bergkemper et al., 2018; A. D. Richardson et al., 2019). Additionally, studies must incorporate geographic differences that will influence the form, frequency and severity in which stressors will manifest (Donat et al., 2016). Accounting for regional projections will guide what climatic scenarios are appropriate for assessing the probable pressures and reactions of a lake ecosystem.

Further research should focus on validating these mechanisms in more complex environmental settings, e.g., by using a mesocosm approach (Pace et al., 2019). Establishing this baseline understanding of coinciding climatic stressors on phytoplankton communities can support and inform the potential scenarios in real lake systems. Chapter .

Acknowledgements

We thank the individuals that supported the development and implementation of the experiment: Tian Li, Abayneh Goshu, Cleo Stratmann and Iosef Sifis Kaniadakis with experimental design; Suzanne Wiezer for algal culturing; Dennis Waasdorp, Erik Reichman, Mandy Velthuis and Laura Seelen with sample collection; and Nico Helmsing, Erik Reichman, Iris Chardon, Wendy Beekman-Lukassen and Maíra Mucci for sample analysis. This study has been financially supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 722518 (MA, QZ and EM) and the Royal Dutch Academy of Sciences (MA and QZ).

Data availability statement

The R scripts and data used in the analyses are available at DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.4816237.

Supplementary information





Chapter III:

Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions

Qing Zhan, Cleo N. Stratmann, Harm G. van der Geest, Annelies J. Veraart, Kristof Brenzinger, Miquel Lürling, Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis

Published on Biogeochemistry: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-021-00854-z





Abstract

Eutrophication has been identified as the primary cause of water quality deterioration in inland waters worldwide, often associated with algal blooms or fish kills. Eutrophication can be controlled through watershed management and in-lake measures. An extreme heatwave event, through its impact on mineralization rates and internal nutrient loading (phosphorus - P, and nitrogen - N), could counteract eutrophication control measures. We investigated how the effectiveness of a nutrient abatement technique is impacted by an extreme heatwave, and to what extent biogeochemical processes are modulated by exposure to heatwayes. To this end, we carried out a sediment-incubation experiment, testing the effectiveness of lanthanummodified bentonite (LMB) in reducing nutrients and greenhouse gas emissions from eutrophic sediments, with and without exposure to an extreme heatwave. Our results indicate that the effectiveness of LMB may be compromised upon exposure to an extreme heatwave event. This was evidenced by an increase in concentration of 0.08 \pm 0.03 mg P/L with an overlying water volume of 863 \pm 21 mL, equaling an 11% increase, with effects lasting to the end of the experiment. LMB application generally showed no effect on nitrogen species, while the heatwave stimulated nitrification, resulting in ammonium loss and accumulation of dissolved oxidized nitrogen species as well as increased dissolved nitrous oxide concentrations. In addition, carbon dioxide (CO₂)-equivalent was more than doubled during the heatwave relative to the reference temperature, and LMB application had no effect on mitigating them. Our sediment incubation experiment indicates that the rates of biogeochemical processes can be significantly accelerated upon heatwave exposure, resulting in a change in fluxes of nutrient and greenhouse gas between sediment and water. The current efforts in eutrophication control will face more challenges under future climate scenarios with more frequent and intense extreme events as predicted by the IPCC.

3.1 Introduction

Eutrophication has been identified as the primary cause of water quality deterioration in inland waters worldwide across decades (David W Schindler, 1974; Smith et al., 2006). Eutrophication is caused by the over-enrichment of nutrients in surface waters, such as nitrogen (N, Howarth and Marino, 2006) and phosphorus (P, Carpenter 2008), resulting in increased primary productivity. The nutrients that originate from external sources in the catchment and from weathering of lake sediments stimulate autochthonous organic matter production (Smith et al., 1999). which may accumulate in lake sediments. This internal nutrient storage, mostly P due to denitrification driven N losses, may periodically be recycled in the water column (Søndergaard et al., 2013). A key symptom of eutrophication is the development of algal blooms (Kalff and Knoechel, 1978) that may hamper provisioning of ecosystem services such as drinking water and recreation, resulting in economic losses as well as negative impacts on quality of human life (Bruna Grizzetti et al., 2016). A consequence of eutrophication-related organic matter deposition is oxygen depletion that may influence global warming potential by increasing methane emissions from lakes and impoundments (Jake J Beaulieu et al., 2019; DelSontro et al., 2018).

To counter environmental degradation, there is a need to control eutrophication and reduce nutrient loading. Apart from catchment-level nutrient abatement techniques such as wastewater treatment and control of fertilizer application, in-lake measures are becoming an effective tool for minimizing algae nuisance (Lürling and Mucci, 2020). In-lake restoration measures can generally be divided into two categories: symptom-oriented, i.e., not directly targeting nutrients but rather targeting the nuisance associated with water quality deterioration, and source-oriented mitigation, i.e., directly targeting nutrients. Examples of the former are aeration/mixing that improves hypolimnetic oxic conditions and hampers surface accumulations of algae (Beutel and Horne, 1999; Visser et al., 2016), coagulation of algae cells (Liu et al., 2013), fish-stock reduction that improves clarity and sediment resuspension (Hosper and Meijer, 1993). Examples of source-oriented mitigation are dredging of nutrient-enriched sediments (Zhang et al., 2010) or the application of phosphorus locking agents that precipitate and immobilize phosphorus (Lurling et al., 2016). Phosphorus locking agents that reduce P availability for organism growth provide a promising avenue for in-lake measures. A widely used P fixative is lanthanum-modified bentonite (LMB), sold under the Phoslock[®] trademark (Douglas, 2002), which is designed to remove dissolved reactive phosphorus from the water column and to block P release from the sediment by forming an insoluble lanthanumphosphate complex (LaPO₄). LMB settled at the sediment can thus provide an active barrier for P fluxes from the sediment, promoting oligotrophication. In comparison

Chapter III

with many other chemical locking agents, LMB can keep P locked under a wide range of environmental conditions, such as under high pH, unlike iron and aluminum based products (Mucci et al., 2018); under low pH, unlike calcium-bound P (D. Copetti et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2015); and under low redox conditions, unlike iron- and manganese-bound P) (Mucci et al., 2018). Binding/complexation with other oxyanions/humid substances is only a kinetic hindrance of LMB (Lurling et al., 2014). A laboratory study by Zamparas et al. (2012) showed that the P-adsorption capacity by LMB can be enhanced with increased temperature (from 5 to 35 °C) due to the enlargement of pore size and/or activation of the bentonite surface.

Chapter III

Lake heatwaves (periods of extremely warm lake surface temperatures) are reaching higher temperatures and are lasting longer under climate change (Woolway et al., 2021), which, through subsequent impacts on mineralization rates and internal nutrient loading, could potentially counteract the current efforts in lake restoration. Heatwaves enhance thermal stability, resulting in deep-water anoxia (Jankowski et al., 2006). As a consequence, under anoxic conditions iron- and manganese-bound P in lake sediments can be released and become bioavailable (Beutel et al., 2008). Rising water temperatures can also increase internal loading by enhancing carbon (C) mineralization rates (Gudasz et al., 2010a) and liberating nutrients. Moreover, heatwaves could reinforce global warming regimes through greenhouse gas (GHG: carbon dioxide - CO₂, methane - CH₄, nitrous oxide - N₂O) emissions from lake sediments (Bartosiewicz et al., 2016). Although studies on combined effects of nutrients and warming show strong interactive effects on GHG emission (Aben et al., 2017; Davidson et al., 2018, 2015a), little is known about specific effects of heatwaves and restoration measures. Microbial processes like mineralization, nitrification and denitrification are all temperature dependent (de Klein et al., 2017; Veraart et al., 2011), while restoration measures may modulate these processes by reducing C, N and P availabilities needed for microbial activities (Redfield, 1958). As a result, the nutrient cycling and GHG emission can be largely changed by the altered microbial processes due to restoration and climate change even without considering the role of primary producers.

Most experimental studies on the efficacy of eutrophication control measures under climate change to date used continuous warming temperature scenarios (Cabrerizo et al., 2020a), while few have investigated sudden and large temperature boosts (i.e., heatwaves) and the potential for post-heatwave recovery in lakes. Given its rather sudden and short-term characteristics, the heatwave impacts may be transient rather than long-lived. In our study, we conducted an exposure scenario where we exposed our systems to a heatwave, with prior- and post-heatwave monitoring of water quality, enabling us to study the potential for post-heatwave

recovery in lakes. We investigated if the effectiveness of the well-established nutrient abatement technique Phoslock[®] (hereafter LMB) is impacted by an extreme heatwave, and how this affects potential lake GHG emissions. We measured sediment nutrient release and dissolved GHG concentrations at the sediment-water interface in a three-week sediment incubation experiment. We used unmodified bentonite as a control treatment to account for the potential effects of bentonite clay in the LMB treatment.

We tested three hypotheses: 1) Heatwaves will enhance sediment nutrient releases by increasing mineralization rates and decreasing oxygen concentrations; 2) LMB can reduce the potential heatwave-induced P-release by reducing P-availability in the sediments; and 3) GHG emissions in LMB treated systems will be mitigated due to a reduction in nutrient availabilities.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Experimental design

Pre-treatment. On 21 June 2018, sediments were collected in 39 cores (60 cm in length and 6 cm in diameter) with overlying water column at a depth of 1.85 m from a eutrophic Dutch pond ($52^{\circ}02'20.6$ "N, $5^{\circ}38'51.4$ "E) using a UWITEC gravity core sampler. Pond water was sampled from three depths of the water column (0 m, 0.5 m, 1.5 m). Three of the 39 sediment cores were selected for analyses of P pools in the sediments, whereas the remaining 36 cores were designated for the experiment.

On these 3 cores, we carried out a P fractionation method following (Cavalcante et al., 2018) for the top 10 cm sediment to determine loosely bound P (H₂O-P), redox-sensitive P (BD-P), metal oxide-bound P (NaOH-P), Calcium-bound P (HCl-P) and residual P (residual-P). Each fraction of P consists of soluble reactive P (SRP) and non-reactive P (NRP) that represents the organic part. The sediment pools of mobile P, which can be released in anoxic conditions or by organic matter degradation and become bioavailable, was determined by the sum of the SRPs of the H₂O-P and BD-P fractions and the NRP of the NaOH-P fraction (Cavalcante et al., 2018). The sum of other P forms represents the non-mobile sediment P pool, i.e., the difference between the sum of all P forms and the above-mentioned mobile P forms. In our treatments, we determined LMB doses based on the mobile sediment P pool.

Upon transportation into the laboratory, the undisturbed sediment cores were placed in a temperature-controlled water bath at 20 °C. 20 °C is regarded as a baseline temperature for the experiment, similar to the pond water temperature during core collection. Water temperature was continuously recorded during the course of the experiment. The cores were open to the air throughout the experiment and were kept dark most of the time to prevent algal growth. The cores were exposed to light

during the sampling events of around one hour, when the light ranged between 0.01 and 104.0 umol photons m⁻² s⁻¹. Sediments were acclimatized to the laboratory conditions for 5 days prior to the experiment.

Treatment, LMB was obtained from Phoslock[®] Europe GmbH (Manchester, UK), To test the effectiveness of LMB under a heatwave scenario, we split the 36 sediment cores into three groups such that 12 cores were treated with LMB, 12 cores were treated with bentonite (Bent) and the other 12 cores were left untreated (Ctrl) (Figure 3-1). We made a slurry of 380 mg LMB resuspended in water from each LMB treatment unit and added the slurry at the top of the core, targeting the amount of potential releasable P in the top 3.3 cm of the sediment to achieve an LMB:P ratio of 100:1 (see Table 3-1 for details on calculation of LMB dose). The same dose of bentonite was added to the 'Bent' treatment to control for potential physical capping of sediment in the LMB treatment.

Table 3-1. Calculation of Phoslock [®] (LMB) dose	
--	--

	Step	Calculation	Unit	Value
1.	Target sediment		cm	3.3
	depth			
2.	Target sediment	Target sediment depth \times core	cm ³	93.31
	volume	area		
3.	Potentially	Sum of mobile P forms \times	mgP	3.8
	available P of the	target sediment volume		
	sediment			
4.	La:P weight	molar mass of La (= 138.9) \div	-	4.48:1
	ratio	molar mass of $P (= 31)$		
5.	Amount of La	Available P × La:P weight	mg	17.024
	needed for target	ratio	-	
	volume			
6.	Phoslock®	Amount of La needed for	mg	380
	(LMB) applied	target volume ÷ La content	2	
	. /	(=4.5%, Lurling et al., 2014)		

All of the 36 sediment cores were kept at 20 °C during the first week (Figure SI 3-1). During the second week, a heatwave scenario was simulated by exposing half of the cores of all P control treatments (i.e., LMB, Bent and Ctrl, 18 cores in total) to a temperature of 30 °C, whilst half of the cores of all P control treatments (LMB, Bent and Ctrl) were kept at 20 °C, yielding 6 replicates in each treatment unit (Figure 3-1). After one week at 30 °C, the heatwave cores were all returned to the baseline temperature of 20 °C. The heatwave scenario is similar to the recent summer conditions (2015-2020) in the Netherlands where the average temperature during 50

heatwave that lasted weeks was around 30 °C (KNMI data, https://data.knmi.nl/). In the experimental heatwave scenarios, the heating and cooling of the water columns were realized within one day to simulate a sudden temperature boost scenario. As a result, we were able to monitor the dynamics of different water quality parameters before, during and after the heatwave in different treatment units.



Chapter III

Figure 3-1. Experimental design: 'Ctrl' represents control without adding P-binding materials; 'Bent' represents bentonite treatment; 'LMB' represents Phoslock® treatment. Shaded boxes represent sediment cores exposed to heatwaves.

3.2.2 Water and sediment measurements

We sampled a suite of water quality variables including dissolved oxygen concentrations (O₂), pH, conductivity, dissolved inorganic nutrients and dissolved GHG at 10 cm above the sediment surface of each of the experimental units. We sampled SRP, NO₃-N + NO₂-N and NH₄-N, and carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) in total eight times along the course of the experiment (2-3 times/week). Metals, i.e., lanthanum (La), calcium (Ca), iron (Fe), aluminum (Al) and manganese (Mn) were sampled three times during the experiment (1 time/week). We used handheld sensors to instantaneously measure O₂ (HQ40d Portable probe, Hach, Colorado, US), pH and conductivity (WTW Multi 350i, Geotech Environmental Equipment Inc., Colorado, US). After filtration of water samples over prewashed GF/F filters (Whatman, Maidstone, U.K.) we analyzed the filtrate for SRP, NO₃-N + NO₂-N and NH₄-N, using an QuAAtro39 Auto-Analyzer (SEAL Analytical Ltd., Southampton, U.K.). In addition, we measured concentrations of La, Ca, Fe, Al and Mn in the filtrate by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (iCAP6500 Duo, ThermoFisher, U.K.).

The concentrations of GHGs in the water column were determined by a headspace equilibration technique described in Magen et al. (2014) and Halbedel (2015). Briefly, water samples were introduced in a syringe, where air was introduced and the dissolved GHGs were equilibrated with the headspace by shaking the syringe vigorously for two minutes. Afterwards, the equilibrated headspace gas was collected and analyzed for GHG concentrations in a Gas Chromatography (TRACETM 1300 GC, ThermoFisher, U.K.) machine equipped with a Flame Ionization Detector (FID) and an Electron Capture Detector (ECD). Calculations for the water column concentrations were based on Halbedel (2015), in which we used parameters from Weiss (1974) for CO₂, Yamamoto et al. (1976) for CH₄, and Weiss and Price (1980) for N₂O. Note that the CO₂ concentrations in our system were far beyond atmospheric CO₂ equilibrium (\approx 412 ppm), therefore the limits of the headspace method to analyze the partial CO₂ concentration in water discussed in Koschorreck et al. (2021) is not relevant in our case.

To gain a close understanding of the anoxic conditions in the sediments in addition to the O_2 concentrations measured in the overlying waters, 12 cores (2 cores randomly chosen from each of the six treatment groups) were equipped with redox probes. Redox potential dynamics were continuously recorded (time interval of 10 minutes) at 12 different depths above and/or below the sediment water interface (max = 14 cm depth below the sediment surface).

After the experiment was completed, the P-fractions in 24 out of 36 cores (the ones without a redox probe, i.e., 4 cores from each treatment) were determined

using the same method described for the three initial cores above. Besides the mobile P, their non-mobile P (i.e., the sum of the NRPs of the H₂O-P, BD-P fractions, the SRP from NaOH-P fraction and HCl-P and residual-P fractions) was also determined.

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

The effects of the experimental treatments on the dynamics of different variables including O_2 , pH, SRP, NH₄-N, NO₃-N + NO₂-N, CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O were analyzed by a linear mixed-effect model (LME; Lindstrom and Bates, 1988), with each of the variables as the univariate response variable. The P treatments (Ctrl, Bent, or LMB) and temperatures were included as fixed effects. Day in the experiment was taken as an additional fixed effect to evaluate the changes in response variables through time. Differences among subjects (cores) were taken as a random effect in the LME model. The LME model corresponds to:

$$y_{ik} = \beta_0 + \sum_{m=2}^{3} \beta_{1mk} \times I[P]_{imk} + \beta_{2k} \times Temp_{ik} + \beta_{3k} \times Time_{ik} + b_{0k} + \varepsilon_{ik}$$

Where i = 1, 2, ..., 288, index k = 1, 2, ..., 36 corresponds to the 36 cores, m = 2, 3 corresponds to the P control measures. β are the fixed-effects coefficients. $I[P]_{im}$ is the dummy variable representing the level *m* of the P treatments. $Temp_{ik}$ stands for temperature, and $Time_{ik}$ stands for time. b_{0k} is the random effect for level *k* of cores, and ε_{ik} is the observation error for observation *i*. The random effect has the prior distribution,

$$b_{0k} \sim N(0, \sigma_b^2),$$

And the error term has the distribution,

$$\varepsilon_{ik} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$

We analyzed three phases in the experiment separately. First, we analyzed the period before the heatwave (days 1 - 7), where we only evaluated the effects of the P treatments and time. Second, we analyzed the period during the heatwave (days 8 - 14), where we evaluated the effect of the different temperature treatments (heatwave vs non-heatwave exposed treatments) in addition to the effects of P treatments and time. Finally, we analyzed the post heatwave period (days 15-21), where we evaluated the effects of P treatments and the recovery from the heatwave over time. The normality and heteroscedasticity of the residuals were tested by

Shapiro Wilk test (Ghasemi and Zahediasl, 2012b) and Breusch Pagan test (Waldman, 1983b), respectively. For the data that did not pass the test for normality, we applied a data transformation method (i.e., square root transformation for O₂, pH, NO₂ and NO₃, and logarithm transformation for CH₄). To account for heteroscedasticity, we deployed a weighted linear mixed-effect model (Zuur et al., 2009).

Determination of differences between the sediment P forms after the experiment were performed through two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with heatwave and LMB/Bent treatments as factors. In addition, we carried out two-way ANOVA analyses to determine the differences between metal concentrations in the heatwave phase as well as in the post-heatwave phase. All statistical analyses in this study were performed in R language (Team, 2019b). We used the packages *lubridate* (Grolemond and Wickman, 2011b), *ggplot2* (Villanueva and Chen, 2019b), *nlme* (Pinheiro et al., 2019b) and *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019a).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Pre-treatment conditions

At the moment of field-sampling, water transparency measured with a Secchi disc was 0.54 m, pH was 7.52 ± 0.0 , temperature was $19.5 \pm 0.0 \text{ °C}$ and O_2 concentration was $3.8 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg/L}$ and no apparent water stratification was observed. The soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) concentration was $0.14 \pm 0.02 \text{ mg P/L}$, the ammonium (NH₄-N) concentration was $0.56 \pm 0.13 \text{ mg N/L}$, and the sum of nitrate and nitrite (NO₃-N + NO₂-N) was $0.04 \pm 0.08 \text{ mg N/L}$. The total dissolved carbon (TDC) averaged $49.1 \pm 3.1 \text{ mg/L}$, with an inorganic dissolved carbon (IDC) concentration of $36.9 \pm 0.4 \text{ mg/L}$ and a dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentration of $12.2 \pm 3.0 \text{ mg/L}$.

The sediment layers in the cores were at least 15 cm deep. The sediment was very fluffy with an average water content of $90.7 \pm 1.5\%$, a dry weight (DW) density of 0.10 ± 0.02 g/mL, and an average organic matter (OM) amount of 0.022 ± 0.001 g/mL wet sediment.

Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions



Figure 3-2. Panel (a): Dynamics of soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) in the water column. Error bars indicate the standard error. The pink shading indicates exposure to different temperature regimes (20 °C in solid lines and 30 °C in dashed lines); before and after the pink shading shows all P-treatments (Ctrl, Bent and LMB) at 20 °C. Panel (b): Phosphorus (P) fractions in sediments ($\mu g P/g DW$). The labels on the x-axis illustrate treatment units: 'Ctrl' for no P treatments (i.e., no LMB/bentonite), 'Bent' for bentonite and 'LMB' for Phoslock[®]; '20 °C' for non-heatwave exposed groups and 30 °C for heatwave exposed groups.

3.3.2 Nutrients and metals dynamics and responses

In all treatments the initial SRP concentration in the water columns started at a similar level of 0.71 mg P/L (SE = ± 0.06) and changed significantly throughout the experimental periods (Figure 3-2 a). After LMB application the amount of SRP in the water column of our experimental units dropped by 83% within two days, whereas in the non-LMB groups (i.e., Ctrl and Bent treatments) a continuous increase in the SRP concentrations was observed along the entire course of experiment, up to 1.24 ± 0.10 mg P/L. No significant difference between Ctrl and Bent treatments were detected, with SRP concentrations increasing at a similar rate over time in both groups regardless of heatwave treatment (effect of increasing rate = 0.027 mg P/L/day, F_{1,162} = 117.5, *p* < 0.001). In contrast, in LMB-exposed groups, upon exposure to the heatwave, SRP concentrations were significantly increased compared to the nonheatwave exposed treatments (estimate of difference = 49%, F_{1,58} = 14.20, *p* < 0.001), with effects lasting to the end of the experiment. The heatwave-induced elevation of SRP concentrations in LMB exposed treatments ranged between 0.05 and 0.08 mg P/L.

After completion of the experiment, the sediment P fractionation analyses showed different P pools among different P-binding treatments, with Ctrl treatments of $430.3 \pm 81.6 \ \mu g \ P/g \ DW$, Bent treatments of $494.6 \pm 198.1 \ \mu g \ P/g \ DW$ and LMB treatments of $590.9 \pm 177.9 \ \mu g \ P/g \ DW$ (Figure 3-2 b). According to the two-way ANOVA test of different P pools, heatwave exposure resulted in a significantly lower

redox sensitive P pool (BD-P) than the non-heatwave treatments (estimate of difference = 7%, $F_{1, 113} = 12.2$, p < 0.001). Such heatwave-induced decrease in BD-P was not observed in the LMB addition groups. Other sediment P forms showed no significant heatwave effects, but LMB addition led to significantly higher contents of metal oxide-bound P (NaOH-P, estimate of difference = 86%, $F_{2, 114} = 7.9$, p < 0.001) and calcium-bound P (HCl-TP, estimate of difference = 42%, $F_{2, 114} = 7.9$, p < 0.001).

We analyzed NH₄-N and NO₃-N + NO₂-N as indicators of N dynamics in the water columns (Figure 3-3). In all treatments NH₄-N had a slight increase in the first week from 3.54 ± 0.25 to 4.58 ± 0.29 mg N/L, and then decreased to approximately 0.55 ± 0.34 mg N/L by the end of the experiment. The NH₄-N concentrations for cores subjected to the heatwave were lower (estimate of difference = 27%, F_{1,249} = 117.5, *p* < 0.001) than those not subjected to a heatwave. The NO₃-N + NO₂-N concentrations started to increase from the second week. The NO₃-N + NO₂-N concentrations for treatments subjected to the heatwave were higher compared to the non-heatwave groups in the second week, with a decline after the heatwave leading to a lower concentration relative to the non-heatwave groups at the end of the experiment (estimate of difference = 8%, F_{1,174} = 18.88, *p* < 0.001). No effects of LMB/Bent additions on NH₄-N or NO₃-N + NO₂-N were detected.

Dissolved La concentrations in the LMB-exposed groups were much higher in the pre-heatwave and during the heatwave phases (estimate of difference = 91%, $F_{2, 33} = 35.1$, p < 0.001), and decreased through time, with an end concentration of $1.50 \pm 0.30 \ \mu\text{g}$ La/L, which is below the Dutch La standard for surface water (= 10.1 μg La/L). A decreasing trend of La was also observed in the treatments without LMB additions (Figure SI 3-2 a), without significant differences between LMB/Bent/Ctrl treatments in the post-heatwave phase. Dissolved Fe concentrations decreased through time (Figure SI 3-2 b), with heatwave exposure leading to higher Fe concentrations during and after heatwave phases (estimate of difference = 103%, $F_{1,}$ $_{68} = 9.9$, p = 0.003), whereas no effects from LMB/Bent treatments were detected. Of other metals including Ca, Al, Mn and S we detected no effects from heatwave or LMB/Bent treatments (Figure SI 3-2 c). Both Ca and S concentrations decreased over time with a high correlation between them (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.84, t = 19.3, df = 105, p < 0.001, Figure SI 3-3).

Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions



Figure 3-3. Dynamics of (a) ammonium (NH₄-N) concentration, (b) dissolved oxidized nitrogen (DON = $NO_3-N + NO_2-N$) concentration in the water column. Error bars indicate the standard error. The pink box indicates exposure to different temperature regimes (20 °C in solid lines and 30 °C in dashed lines); before and after the pink box indicates all P-treatments (Ctrl, Bent and LMB) at 20 °C.

3.3.3 Oxygen dynamics

In all treatments the oxygen concentrations significantly increased from 0.42 \pm 0.16 to 3.01 \pm 0.43 mg/L with time (Figure 3-4, F_{1, 239} = 98.6, *p* < 0.001), with no effects from LMB/Bent additions detected. This was reflected by the redox dynamics (Figure SI 3-4) which indicated reducing conditions in the water column of the cores in the starting phase, with the systems becoming more redox potential-positive towards the end of our experiment, irrespective of the treatments. In contrast to observations in the water column, redox potentials in the sediments were descending along the experiment period.

Our linear mixed effect model (LME), however, revealed a temporal reduction of oxygen concentrations during the heatwave in the heatwave treatments (estimate of difference = 16%, $F_{1,34}$ = 4.9, p = 0.03), with a maximum deviation by 0.87 mg/L at day 11. This heatwave effect disappeared after the heatwave. By the end of our experiment, the oxygen concentrations were still unsaturated (saturation concentration at 20 °C = 9.03 mg/L).



Figure 3-4. Dynamics of dissolved oxygen concentration (O_2) in the water column. Error bars indicate the standard error. The pink shading indicates exposure to different temperature regimes (20 °C in solid lines and 30 °C in dash lines); before and after the pink shading indicates all P-treatments (Ctrl, Bent and LMB) at 20 °C.

3.3.4 Dissolved greenhouse gasses

We measured concentrations of dissolved greenhouse gasses CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O, as a proxy of their emission potential. Among the three gasses, CO₂ concentrations were the highest, followed by CH₄ and N₂O, with respectively a factor 10 and 100 lower levels. All three gas concentrations in the water column of the cores changed significantly over time, with significant increase during the heatwave phase (Figure 3-5 a for CO₂, estimate of difference = 15%, F_{1, 243} = 27.9, *p* < 0.001; Figure 3-5 b for CH₄, estimate of difference = 21%, F_{1, 243} = 20.4, *p* < 0.001; Figure 3-5 c for N₂O, estimate of difference = 536%, F_{1, 243} = 116.6, *p* < 0.001), equaling an increased CO₂-equivalent by 106%. No effects from LMB or Bent treatments on the greenhouse gas dynamics were detected.

CO₂ concentrations decreased from $7.3 \pm 0.3 \times 10^3$ to $6.4 \pm 0.3 \times 10^3$ ppm in the before-heatwave phase, whereas during the heatwave phase in the heatwave-exposed treatments the CO₂ concentrations rose up to $8.4 \pm 0.5 \times 10^3$ ppm. In the post-heatwave phase, CO₂ concentrations in the heatwave groups dropped to the same levels as the non-heatwave treatments, resulting in an average of $6.0 \pm 0.5 \times 10^3$ ppm by the end of the experiment.

CH₄ concentrations dropped from 391.98 ± 123.98 ppm to 62.70 ± 45.74 ppm in the pre-heatwave phase. During the heatwave phase, the heatwave-exposed

cores were observed with higher CH₄ concentrations (mean = 47.38 ± 3.21 ppm) than the non-heatwave treatments (mean = 26.69 ± 1.87 ppm). However, in the postheatwave phase (days 15 - 21), the CH₄ concentrations in the non-heatwave treatments surpassed that in the heatwave-exposed groups and reached a high average level of the same magnitude as that measured in the beginning of the experiment (mean = 174.25 ± 57.39 ppm), whereas the CH₄ concentrations in the heatwaveexposed cores had a relatively low-end concentration (mean = 23.40 ± 5.84 ppm).

 N_2O concentrations stayed at a rather low level (mean = 0.15 ± 0.02 ppm) in the before-heatwave phase. During the heatwave phase, N_2O emissions started to increase in all treatments, with N_2O concentrations in heatwave-exposed cores increasing at a much higher rate than in non-heatwave groups. In the period after the heatwave (days 15-21) the non-heatwave groups showed a relatively stable N_2O concentration (mean = 15.16 ± 2.52 ppm) until the end of the experiment. N_2O concentrations in the heatwave groups increased to 72.84 ± 26.53 ppm during the heatwave, but in the post-heatwave phase, the concentrations dropped to 38.10 ± 19.14 ppm, which is, however, a still higher level than the observed N_2O emission in the non-heatwave groups.



Figure 3-5. Dynamics of (a) dissolved carbon dioxide (CO₂), (b) dissolved methane (CH₄) and (c) dissolved nitrous oxide (N₂O). Error bars indicate the standard error. The pink shading indicates exposure to different temperature regimes (20 °C in solid lines and 30 °C in dashed lines); before and after the pink shading indicates all P-treatments (Ctrl, Bent and LMB) at 20 °C.

3.4 Discussion

Using a full-factorial design, we investigated the combined effects of phosphorus control by lanthanum-modified bentonite (LMB) and exposure to an extreme heatwave event on the biogeochemistry at the sediment-water interface and the resulting fluxes between sediment and water. For shallow waters, one of the most abundant water types (Verpoorter et al., 2014), such fluxes between water and sediment play an important role in the phosphorus, nitrogen and carbon cycling. Despite the observation that LMB was able to reduce phosphorus levels in the water column up to 91% in comparison to the control groups by the end of our experiment, LMB effectiveness was hampered upon exposure to a heatwave, resulting in increasing P concentrations with 11%, persisting until the end of the experiment. There was no significant effect of LMB addition on nitrogen dynamics. Under low oxygen conditions ($O_2 < 4.8$ mg/L in all treatments), nitrification was stimulated by

increased oxygen and temperature, resulting in an accumulation of nitrate + nitrite and nitrous oxide. In addition, our results suggest that GHG dynamics were impacted upon heatwave exposure, but LMB did not affect this pattern.

3.4.1 The impact of heatwaves on phosphorus and nitrogen dynamics: eutrophic vs oligotrophic sediments

The continuous P-release in controls, leading to concentrations as high as 1.2 mg P/L towards the end of our experiment, could be explained by the large pool of bioavailable phosphorus in sediment (see Figure 3-2 b). This pool of bioavailable phosphorus consists of phosphorus in the pore water, redox-sensitive P (BD-P), and organic P which can be mobilized under anoxic conditions (Cavalcante et al., 2018). LMB strongly reduced phosphorus concentrations in the water column and kept those persistently low until the end of our experiment, which indicates that LMB both stripped the water column P and hampered sediment P release, as was expected from its well-documented performance (D. Copetti et al., 2016). The bentonite-only treatment did not have any impact on P dynamics relative to our controls, which further underpins that the LMB effect was a result of the P inactivation and not caused by depositing a thin clay layer on top of the sediment. Some studies reported a P abatement capacity of unmodified bentonite (Zamparas et al., 2018) and the layer was evidently too thin to act as a passive barrier (Kim et al., 2007).

When we exposed the LMB-treated sediments to a one-week heatwave, phosphorus concentrations increased by 0.08 ± 0.03 mg P/L (the overlying water volume = 863 ± 21 mL) in the water column at the end of our three-week experiment (see Figure 3-2 a), equaling an 11% increase compared to the non-heatwave exposed group. In an earlier study, however, higher P-adsorption capacity by LMB was observed under increased temperature due to the enlargement of pore size and/or activation of the bentonite surface (Zamparas et al., 2012). It is noteworthy that Zamparas et al. (2012) used a rather simple environment (3 hours of experimental time, heavy mixing of the slurry with solution), whereas the static sediment in our experiment is a much more complex matrix with biogeochemical processes playing an important role in determining the LMB capacity. Earlier model simulations indicate that concentrations of 0.05 mg P/L, similar to the increase in SRP concentrations observed at the end of this experiment, could cause systems to shift from transparent to turbid states (Janse et al., 2008). However, this has not been observed in whole lakes that have undergone LMB additions; for instance, the LMBtreated shallow Lake Barensee in Germany did not develop any blooms during heatwaves (Epe et al., 2017).

The discrepancy between our lab study and the field observations might be caused by a larger dilution effect in lakes compared to the small water volumes in the cores, by not all binding sites of LMB being rapidly available, by a possible underdosing in our experimental treatments, or erratic sediment-water transport through ebullitive processes in our cores. The P inactivation by LMB is a kinetic process, which means that it takes a certain time before all binding sites are occupied (Dithmer et al., 2016a), especially in the presence of high DOC (Lurling et al., 2014) as was the case in our system However despite the notion that binding sites were potentially not all occupied. LMB was only partially able to counteract the temperature-enhanced P release in the week after the heatwave exposure, an observation that has been confirmed by an in-situ months-long enclosure experiment (Zhan et al., 2022). Furthermore, we may have potentially under-dosed LMB our experimental treatments, as we did not include the BD-NRP fraction which may also contain organic P (Jan et al., 2015) in our dose estimates. The microbial breakdown of organic matter results in release of organic phosphate to pore waters and can be considered one of the most important sources of phosphate (Föllmi, 1996). As organic matter breakdown is expected to be enhanced by increased temperature (Gudasz et al., 2010a), part of the liberated P is taken up by the decomposing bacteria, and part will enter the overlying water column. In addition, the ebullition that transports sediment-P might be enhanced under heatwave conditions (Aben et al., 2017). Therefore, inclusion of the BD-NRP and targeting also deeper layers of the sediment in dose estimations are highly recommended for lake managers applying LMB as a eutrophication control measure, especially to counteract the heatwave impacts.

Our results showed that the rates in the N-cycle processes were significantly changed upon exposure to a heatwave, irrespective of treatment. At the start of our experiment, the sediment incubations were anoxic, with NH₄-N as the dominant nitrogen form accumulating in the overlying water. As dissolved oxygen concentrations rose over time, nitrification became a more dominant process, decreasing ammonium accumulation and leading to increased oxidized nitrogen concentrations (Figure 3-3). Rysgaard et al. (1994) demonstrated that nitrification is stimulated by increasing O_2 in the O_2 range of 0-9.6 mg/L, which was the case in our experiment. Upon exposure to a heatwave (30 °C), the oxidation of NH₄-N was accelerated, indicating a positive response of nitrification to increasing temperature. Thamdrup and Fleischer (1998) demonstrated that the optimum temperature for nitrification in warm temperate sediment was near 40 °C. The decline of oxidized nitrogen concentrations (NO₃-N + NO₂-N) in the heatwave groups during the postheatwave phase could be associated with the depletion of ammonium. Nitrification can operate at low ammonium concentration but at low rates (Dodds and Jones, 1987).

Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions

Moreover, denitrification is expected to be stimulated with increasing temperature (Veraart et al., 2011). Though we did not measure denitrification directly, denitrification was plausibly leading to an increased consumption of NO₃-N and NO₂-N, therefore decreasing N-release into the overlying water. The LMB treatment showed no effect on N-dynamics, which supports our conclusion that LMB acted as a chemical binding compound of DRP rather than a physical barrier for nutrient release from the sediments. A recent study by Zeller and Alperin (2021), however, showed that LMB can act as NH₄-N source with an increase in NH₄-N concentration by 10 to 275%. This difference between our results and Zeller and Alperin (2021) might be attributed to the fact that their LMB dose was more than double of ours (0.029 compared to 0.013 g LMB/cm² sediment) and the overlying water volume was much smaller in their experiment (150 mL compared to 863 mL), resulting in higher LMB concentrations.

3.4.2 Heatwave effects on greenhouse gas emissions

In our experimental system, regardless of the treatments, concentrations of greenhouse gasses (GHG) initially decreased (CO₂ and CH₄), or were close to zero (N₂O). Earlier studies on freshwater ecosystems demonstrate increased GHG emissions under warming scenarios (Aben et al., 2017; Bartosiewicz et al., 2016; Bergen et al., 2019). In our experiment, exposure to a heatwave did lead to increased concentrations of CO₂ and N₂O. For CH₄, however, after an initial short-lived increase during the heatwave itself, the heatwave-exposed treatments had lower CH₄ concentrations relative to the non-heatwave exposed group towards the end of the experiments (Figure 3-5). A potential explanation for this might be that on the longer term, substrate limitation for methanogens (Duc et al., 2010) may play a stronger role in the heatwave exposed cultures, potentially due to the short-lived increase in methane production during the heatwave. Note that our sediment incubation was conducted under dark condition, different patterns might emerge in real lakes in the presence of primary producers, which points to the importance of validating our results with field observations.

Previous studies on shallow aquatic systems demonstrated that greenhouse gas emissions are higher in eutrophic systems than in more oligotrophic systems (Davidson et al., 2015a; Peacock et al., 2019). We therefore hypothesized that LMB treatments, by reducing nutrient availability, would inhibit bacteria growth and subsequently reduce GHG productions. In disagreement with our hypothesis, our results showed that addition of LMB, although effective in blocking sediment Prelease, did not affect the GHG emissions from the sediments. Previous studies (Dithmer et al., 2016a) demonstrated that LMB needs time (up to months) to bind all available P in sediments. Another potential cause may be that our doses applied theoretically can only target top 3.3 cm sediment, which is about 20-25% of the sediment column, leaving ample space for bacterial activity and methanogenesis in deeper layers. Under warmer conditions the sediment layers available for bacterial activity and methanogenesis may be located deeper, because anoxia is expected to be stronger (Jankowski et al., 2006), associated with enhanced methanogenesis (Schulz et al., 1997). Nonetheless, our results indicate that LMB might not be an effective method in controlling GHG emissions, at least in the short term. For reduction of carbon associated GHG emissions (CH₄ and CO₂) measures that directly target the reduction of organic matter inputs into sediments, such as an improvement of water treatment in the catchment (Jones et al., 2016) and control of bank soil erosion (Rickson, 2014), may be more favorable.

Chapter III

N₂O is typically derived during nitrification of NH₄-N under oxic conditions and from the coupled nitrification-denitrification reactions under suboxic conditions, which explains the increase in N₂O coinciding with the NH₄-N decrease. Both nitrification and denitrification are strongly temperature-dependent (de Klein et al., 2017; Veraart et al., 2011). Heatwave treatments in our experiment had higher N₂O concentrations, coinciding with a drop in O₂ concentrations, which further indicates that freshwater N₂O emissions can be strongly temperature dependent and can be boosted under climate change (Parton et al., 2001; Veraart et al., 2011). The decline in N₂O concentrations in the post-heatwave phase in heatwave-treated groups could be because NH₄-N for nitrification became limiting, while denitrification in deeper sediment layers increased in efficiency, reducing the N₂O:N₂ ratio in the final product (Leemput et al., 2011). Conventional biological denitrification requires low oxygen concentration less than 0.2 mg/L (Seitzinger et al., 2006). Even when the water column was oxygenated, these concentrations still occurred in anoxic microsites in the sediments of our experimental cores (Figure SI 3-4). In addition, aerobic denitrification has also been observed in freshwater sediments (Lv et al., 2017; Rysgaard et al., 1994; Trevors and Starodub, 1987) as well as in coastal sediments (Marchant et al., 2017). Moreover, the pathway of dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) could also contribute to part of the production of N₂O (Sun et al., 2016). A ¹⁵N tracing technique (Müller et al., 2014) is needed to determine which pathway is mainly responsible for the production of N_2O_2 .

3.5 Conclusions and recommendations

Our sediment incubation experiment indicates that the rates of biogeochemical processes can be significantly accelerated upon heatwave exposure, resulting in a change in fluxes of nutrient and greenhouse gasses between sediment 64 and water column. The current efforts in eutrophication control will face more challenges under future climate scenario with more frequent and intense extreme events as predicted by the IPCC.

The effectiveness of widely established eutrophication control measure LMB was, at least temporarily, impaired upon exposure to an extreme heatwave, with an increase in concentration of 0.08 ± 0.03 mg P/L with an overlying water volume of 863 ± 21 mL, equaling 50% increase relative to non-heatwave treatments. Although the effect of the heatwave on P-release of LMB treated sediments persisted until the end of the experiment, long term studies should address whether the P-concentrations eventually return to lower pre-heatwave levels. In addition, further research is needed to explore whether increased LMB dosage can mitigate the negative impacts of a heatwave. Nonetheless, our study does suggest that our current abatement efforts may be hampered under climate change, which calls for consideration of more climate-robust measures, such as through revisiting dose-response relationships in the development of rehabilitation plans.

Exposure to a heatwave resulted in higher dissolved GHG concentrations with an increased CO₂-equivalent by 106%, showing potential for increased emissions relative to non-heatwave exposed treatments. Our experiment showed that LMB addition did not lead to lower GHG concentrations, which implies that inhibiting microbial GHG production by creating a P-limiting environment through LMB is ineffective. Thus, alternative strategies directly targeting reduction in organic load such as sludge removal or erosion control should be explored to effectively mitigate greenhouse gas emission.

Acknowledgement

We thank Wendy Beekman-Lukassen and Nico Helmsing for their assistance. We thank Paul Bodelier for helpful discussions.

Supplementary information


Chapter III



Chapter IV:

Towards climate-robust water quality management: testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal

Qing Zhan, Sven Teurlincx, Frank van Herpen, Nandini Vasantha Raman, Miquel Lürling, Guido Waajen & Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis

Published in Science of The Total Environment, Volume 828, 1 July 2022, 154421 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154421



Abstract:

Harmful algal blooms are symptomatic of eutrophication and lead to deterioration of water quality and ecosystem services. Extreme climatic events could enhance eutrophication resulting in more severe nuisance algal blooms, while they also may hamper current restoration efforts aimed to reduce nutrient loads. Evaluation of restoration measures on their efficacy under climate change is essential for effective water management. We conducted a two-month mesocosm experiment in a hypertrophic urban canal focusing on the reduction of sediment phosphorus (P)release. We tested the efficacy of four interventions, measuring phytoplankton biomass, nutrients in water and sediment. The measures included sediment dredging. water column aeration and application of P-sorbents (lanthanum-modified bentonite - Phoslock[®] and iron-lime sludge, a by-product from drinking water production). An extreme heatwave (with the highest daily maximum air temperature up to 40.7 °C) was recorded in the middle of our experiment. This extreme heatwave was used for the evaluation of heatwave-induced impacts. Dredging and lanthanum modified bentonite exhibited the largest efficacy in reducing phytoplankton and cyanobacteria biomass and improving water clarity, followed by iron-lime sludge, whereas aeration did not show an effect. The heatwave negatively impacted all four measures, with increased nutrient releases and consequently increased phytoplankton biomass and decreased water clarity compared to the pre-heatwave phase. We propose a conceptual model suggesting that the heatwave locks nutrients within the biological P loop, which is the exchange between labile P and organic P, while the P fraction in the chemical P loop will be decreased. As a consequence, the efficacy of chemical agents targeting P-reduction by chemical binding will be hampered by heatwayes. Our study indicates that current restoration measures might be challenged in a future with more frequent and intense heatwaves.

4.1 Introduction

Eutrophication, defined by over-enrichment of nutrients resulting in increased primary production, is identified as one of the key drivers of water quality deterioration in inland waters across the globe (Carpenter et al., 1999). Eutrophication of a water body can hamper provisioning of ecosystem services by a series of symptoms, e.g., accumulation of phytoplankton biomass in the water column, malodor, and oxygen depletion resulting in fish kill (Smith and Schindler, 2009). Furthermore, some cyanobacterial species can produce toxins, which pose a direct health risk to animals and humans (Chorus et al., 2000). From previous experimental and modeling studies it has been well-established that through reduction of nutrient loading degraded systems can be restored to a clear water state (Janse, 2005; Waajen, 2017).

Nutrient loading (nitrogen and phosphorus) can originate from external sources in the watershed as well as from internal lake sediments. Lakes sediments are often enriched with nutrients after years of accumulation and under certain conditions these sediment nutrients will be released into the water column (Søndergaard et al., 2013). While external loading can be controlled through e.g., watershed management and water treatment, in-lake measures that target sediment nutrient release are becoming inevitable as many studies have demonstrated that a sole reduction of external loading without control of internal loading is not efficient (Lürling and Mucci, 2020; Spears et al., 2016).

While external load control will mostly reduce both nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), in-lake nutrient reduction often focuses on P, as P can be made limiting more easily than N (Schindler et al., 2008). It has increasingly been accepted that drastic reduction of P release from sediments is critical for long-lasting eutrophication control (Carpenter, 2008). Bio-availabilities of phosphorus differ among various sediment P forms (Cavalcante et al., 2018). In general, the mobile P pool is comprised of forms that are easily available, such as P dissolved in pore water (measured as Soluble Reactive Phosphorus, i.e., SRP), P loosely adsorbed to FeOOH and CaCO₃ surfaces, P that can become available rapidly under anoxic conditions (i.e., redox-sensitive P bound to oxidized Iron and Manganese), and P that will gradually become available due to mineralization of organic matter (Hupfer et al., 2009). P adsorbed to aluminum (Al) and Iron (Fe) oxy/hydroxides and P in Al and Fe (hydroxy) phosphates will only become available when phosphate is exchanged with hydroxyl ions at high pH (Boström, 1984). Acid-soluble and refractory organic P, P in calcium-phosphate minerals, and non-extractable mineral P are viewed as nonavailable (Hupfer et al., 2009).

In this study, we investigated four promising measures for their potential in mitigating internal eutrophication, including lanthanum-modified bentonite (LMB) and removal of the nutrient-rich top soil (dredging), as well as aeration and iron-lime sludge amendment. The four restoration measures have variable modes of actions to control eutrophication. Lanthanum-modified bentonite (LMB, also called Phoslock[®]), a well-established eutrophication control technique that has been applied to over 200 water bodies across a wide geographic distribution (Diego Copetti et al., 2016), is developed to immobilize P by forming a La-P complex. This complex has proven to be poorly soluble under anoxic conditions and under a wide range of pH (6-10 tested in Kang et al. 2021; Mucci et al. 2018). This compound has been compared with other P adsorbents with respect to their P adsorption capacity and often performs better (Lin et al., 2015; Mucci et al., 2018). Some studies have evaluated it against dredging, a commonly used measure that removes the organic- and nutrient-rich top sediment layer. The results are not conclusive, as one study observed that LMB was less effective in removing P compared to dredging (Lürling and Faassen, 2012), whereas another study found that LMB was more effective than dredging (Yin et al., 2021). However, dredging in general is more expensive than the application of LMB (Lürling and Faassen, 2012). Aeration, as a measure of artificial oxygenation of the water column, aims at enhancing the natural capacity of the system in binding phosphorus through reduction in the concentrations of reduced forms of iron and manganese (Cowell et al., 1987; Yuan et al., 2020). Iron-lime sludge, a by-product from drinking water production, has P-adsorption capacity through the presence of iron (Fe) and calcium (Ca) (Babin et al., 1994; Golterman, 1997; Smolders et al., 2008). P bound to oxidized iron is redox-sensitive and can be remobilized under anoxic condition (Gächter and Müller, 2003), and P bound to reduced iron is suffering from sulfide which binds more strongly to reduced iron than to P (Geurts et al., 2010). The Ca in the iron sludge may bind P under elevated pH. These Ca-P minerals are stable under most natural conditions, but P bound by Ca can be released under acidic conditions (Huang et al., 2005). As a waste product from water treatment this sludge is economically favorable compared to dredging and lanthanum modified bentonite (LMB).

To compare the efficacy of these four measures in a near-realistic environment, we conducted a two-month mesocosm experiment in a hypertrophic urban canal. Such mesocosm experimental settings have proven to be a valuable approach for testing the efficacy of various ecological restoration measures in urban waterways in previous studies (Waajen et al., 2017). Mesocosm studies represent a near-realistic level of environmental complexity while allowing for a replicated design with well-defined treatments. Shallow water bodies are the most abundant freshwater ecosystems (Verpoorter et al., 2014) and provide important ecological and societal services including recreation, water and nutrients retention, microclimate regulation and biodiversity reservoir (Biggs et al., 2017; Bolund and Hunhammar, 1999). Urban canals and ponds are examples of such shallow freshwater ecosystems that, due to their close proximity to humans, are both valuable for ecosystem service provisioning as well as exposed to high levels of anthropogenic stressors (Noble and Hassall, 2015; S. Teurlincx et al., 2019). They are often nutrient-rich and regularly suffering from blooms of nuisance algae (Waajen et al., 2014).

The main objectives of this study are: (i) comparing the efficacy of four intervention measures in reducing nutrient releases and controlling eutrophication; (ii) evaluating the heatwave impacts on the efficacy of these four intervention measures; (iii) proposing a conceptual model that provides routes through which measures to mitigate sediment phosphorus release might be affected by heatwaves. We propose the following hypotheses regarding the efficacy of the four measures: Hypothesis 1) Dredging and lanthanum modified bentonite (LMB), via reducing mobile P effluxes from the sediments, will be the most effective measures in reducing phytoplankton biomass; Hypothesis 2) Iron-lime sludge will be less effective in reducing sediment P release because it is both redox-sensitive and pH-sensitive; Hypothesis 3) Aeration -although widely used- is not effective for P-reduction as in such a shallow system air pumping can lead to enhanced sediment resuspension promoting nutrient release (Visser et al., 2016).

In future climate conditions the efficacy of the current restoration measures might be hampered by extreme climate events posing a sudden and severe disturbance to lakes (Stockwell et al., 2020; Woolway et al., 2020). For instance, lake heatwayes, defined as periods of extremely warm surface water temperature, are anticipated to increase both in frequency and intensity in future (Woolway et al., 2021). The heatwave impacts are expected to be especially relevant to shallow water systems as their temperatures are highly related to the air temperature (Mooij et al., 2008a). Release of organic P can be enhanced with increasing temperatures owing to accelerated decomposition rates, whereas the redox sensitive P will be rapidly freed under anoxia. Such conditions, higher temperatures, and stronger bottom water anoxia (Jankowski et al., 2006) are consequences of climate change. In addition, warming is also seen as an important factor that promotes algal blooms (Paerl and Huisman, 2008) and therewith could lead to elevated pH in surface waters. The climate impact-related factors temperature, redox, and pH influence phosphate diagenesis and thus how much P can become available (Holtan et al., 1988). Less evidence, however, is collected from field studies on the impact of heatwaves on the effectiveness of restoration measures. In the middle of our two months mesocosm

experiment we recorded an extreme heatwave, which provided the opportunity for evaluation of heatwave impacts on the efficacy of the four restoration measures.

We hypothesize that this heatwave, through its impacts on the oxygen content of the water body (Jeppesen et al., 2021), could hamper the efficacy of ironlime sludge (Hypothesis 4). As a previous short-term laboratory experiment demonstrated that the efficacy of Lanthanum modified bentonite can be hampered upon exposure to a heatwave (Zhan et al., 2021a), we hypothesize that the induced P-release will compromise the efficacy of Lanthanum modified bentonite (Hypothesis 5). Since dredging is designed to remove the nutrient-rich top layer of the sediments, we expect no effect of the heatwave on the efficacy of the dredging treatments (Hypothesis 6).

4.2 Methods and materials

4.2.1 Experimental set-up

A mesocosm experiment was carried out in a shallow urban canal (max depth ca 3 m) situated in the South of the Netherlands in the municipality of Geertruidenberg (coordinates in DMS: $51^{\circ}42'12.0''N$, $4^{\circ}51'40.8''E$). The canal has a stable water level owing to regulation of inlet waters (full capacity = $0.06 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$) by local water managers. Drought is therefore not considered a problem for this system throughout the year. The sediments at this study site were sampled and analyzed in September of 2018 (one year prior to the experiment) for determination of the chemical adsorbent dosages applied in the mesocosm experiment. The P fractions in the top 20 cm sediments (communicating depth) were determined by a sequential P-fractionation analysis (Hupfer et al., 2009; Psenner et al., 1984), where the following fractions were determined: the P dissolved in the pore water (SRP), the redox-sensitive bound P (bound to Iron or Manganese), the organic P, the acidity-sensitive P (bound to aluminum or Calcium) and the refractory P.

The mesocosm experiment was carried out from 25-06-2019 to 19-09-2019. In total, 20 mesocosms (clear Perspex cylinders with height: 2.25 m; diameter: 1.05 m) were exposed to four measures and one control treatment, yielding 5 treatments · 4 replicates. To allow for air-water interactions and sediment-water interactions, the mesocosms were open at the top and bottom, see Fig. 1a. The treatments were assigned randomly to the mesocosms to account for the heterogeneity of sediment and water conditions. The mesocosms were inserted ca. 30 cm deep in the sediment, with an overlaying water layer of ca. 1.6 m. The four measures tested include: iron-lime sludge (drinking water production by-products), lanthanum modified bentonite

(LMB), aeration and dredging. The doses and/or application of these four measures are introduced in section 4.2.2 below.

At the mid of our experiment $(22^{\text{th}} \text{ of July} - 27^{\text{th}} \text{ of July})$, an extreme heatwave event –maximum air temperature 25.0 °C or higher– was recorded by Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI, https://www.knmi.nl/nederlandnu/klimatologie/lijsten/hittegolven). This heatwave had 4 tropical days (maximum temperature 30.0 °C or higher) with a maximum of 40.7 °C (from the nearby weather station Gilze-Rijen, https://www.knmi.nl/nederland-nu/klimatologie/daggegevens). which was the highest recorded heatwave temperature since 1901 (the average Dutch summer temperature ≈ 21.0 °C). During each sampling event we monitored the water temperature, recording a time series of water temperature dynamics at a time interval of 2-3 weeks. In addition to the measurements, we ran FLake (http://www.flake.igbberlin.de/), an open-resource model, specifically designed to evaluate climate scenario's influences on inland waters and numerically predict water temperature and mixing regime (Shatwell et al., 2019). This process-based model has a high level of parametrization, is well validated for inland waters and thus allowed us to simulate water temperature dynamics on a daily basis. Details on how we configured the FLake model for the Geertruidenberg canal system can be found in the supplemental information section SI 4.1. All the model parameters are summarized in Table SI 4-1. Based on the measured and simulated temperature dynamics (Figure 4-1 b), we incorporated the sampling event prior (12th of July) and post heatwave (7th of August) in our analysis of the impacts of an extreme heatwave. In such a way we included both the rising and falling limb of the extreme heatwave. We refer to this period as the 'heatwave phase' from hereon. Note that this heatwave phase differs from the definition of heatwave period by KNMI, which is defined as a succession of at least 5 summer days (maximum air temperature 25.0 °C or higher) in De Bilt (the headquarters of KNMI), of which at least three are tropical (maximum air temperature 30.0 °C or higher).

Chapter IV



Chapter IV

Figure 4-1. (a) Experimental set-up; (b) Dynamics of monitored air temperature (AT; in purple line) and modelled water temperature (WT; in blue line) and measured water temperature (WT; in black points). As we observed no difference in the water temperature in the mesocosms and the surrounding canal water, we proceeded with displaying the mean of the measured temperatures.

4.2.2 Restoration treatments

The sediment was characterized as fluffy with a density of 1.21 ± 0.04 kg/L. The sediment P fractionation analysis showed that the sediment is nutrient-rich. This analysis showed that the P pool available for growth of primary producers (the sum of pore-water P, redox-sensitive P, and organic P) was $234.15 \pm 9.88 \ \mu g P/g$. When taking the acidity-sensitive P that becomes bio-available at very high or low pH, the mobile P averages to $291.32 \pm 10.43 \ \mu g P/g$. The amount of P in pore water was marginal. The redox sensitive P and organic P were the most abundant P species in our sediments.

Lanthanum modified bentonite (also called Phoslock[®]): The dosage of lanthanum modified bentonite (LMB) was based on the amount of potentially releasable P (=291.32 \pm 10.43 µg P/g, including pore-water P, redox-sensitive P, organic P, and pH-sensitive P) in the top 5 cm layer of the sediment (as in Lürling et al. 2017c; Yin et al. 2021), and weight ratio of LMB:P of 230:1 (as based on Lürling et al. 2014). The water column total P (= SRP + particulate P) was assumed to be negligible compared to the sediment P pools and thus not included into the determination of LMB dose. As such, we added 1.35 kg of LMB as a slurry to the bottom of each of the four mesocosms using a 1.5 m tube in a rotating motion in two doses on 25-06-

2019 (by 89% = 1.2 kg LMB) and 26-06-2019 (by the remaining 11% = 0.15 kg LMB), forming a layer of approximately 1 cm thick of LMB on the top of sediments.

<u>Iron-lime sludge</u>: On 25-06-2019, 13.4 kg of iron-lime sludge, collected from drinking water treatment plant Veghel, was applied as a slurry via a 1.5 m tube onto the sediments of each of the four mesocosms, resulting in a layer of approximately 1 cm thick of sludge. Measured concentrations of various elements in the iron-lime sludge can be found in supplemental Table SI 4-2. Our dose resulted in an approximate addition of 495.4 g of Calcium, 215.0 g of Iron, 21.8 g of P, and 1.1 g of Sulphur to the treated mesocosms. The P present in the iron-lime sludge has proven to not hamper eutrophication control in previous experiments (Remke et al., 2018), owing to its favorable Fe/P and Ca/P ratios. Note that phosphorus adsorption capacity of this material is not only dependent on sludge composition (i.e., Ca/Fe, Fe/S) but also on other environmental conditions including redox conditions and pH levels, resulting in a contextual dose-response relationship. As a compromise, we followed the dosage that has proven to be successful in locking P in previous experiments implemented in two eutrophic Dutch ponds (Remke et al., 2018).

<u>Dredging</u>: On 25-06-2019, for dredging treatments ca. 30 cm of the silt layer of the sediments were mechanically removed with an excavator on a pontoon, before four mesocosms were pushed into the dredged sediments. This method was applied in another mesocosm experiment testing the effect of dredging and Lanthanum modified bentonite in controlling phytoplankton nuisance in a hypertrophic pond (Lürling et al., 2017c). Removal of top sediments resulted in the top edge of the four dredged mesocosms being slightly lower relative to the non-dredged mesocosms (< 30cm). At all times during the experiment, there was sufficient headspace in the dredged mesocosms to prevent exchange with the surrounding canal water.

<u>Aeration</u>: Aeration tiles (AIRDisc 250[®]) with a fixed airflow of 250 L h⁻¹ were placed on the sediment and turned on at 26-06-2019, enriching the water column with pressurized air. The aeration rate was set to allow for sufficient oxygenation whilst not creating air bubbles which can negatively impact zooplankton (Cowell et al., 1987).

4.2.3 Water & sediment Sampling

We sampled each mesocosm and the canal water 6-7 times at a time interval of 2-3 weeks over the experimental period for a suite of water quality parameters, including analyses of phytoplankton (green algae, diatoms and cyanobacteria), macronutrients (phosphorus and nitrogen), water transparency (Secchi depth) and 77

metals (manganese-Mn, aluminum-Al, lanthanum-La, iron-Fe). All sampling events were conducted at midday between 12pm and 14pm, such that our oxygen results did not reflect differences in primary productivity taking place over the course of the day. which can be substantial in a hypertrophic system such as ours. A sample of the top 50 cm of the water layer was taken for measurements of chlorophyll-a fluorescence using a Phyto-PAM fluorometer (Walz, Effeltrich, Germany), as a proxy of the phytoplankton biomass (Lürling et al., 2018), with the chlorophyll-a fluorescence of cvanobacteria green algae and diatoms differentiated by blue, green and brown signals in emission lights, respectively (Cabrerizo et al., 2020b). After water samples were filtered over prewashed GF/F filters (Whatman, Maidstone, U.K.), dissolved phosphorus (SRP), nitrite (NO₂-N), nitrate (NO₃-N) and ammonium (NH₄-N) were determined in the filtrate using a QuAAtro39 Auto-Analyzer (SEAL Analytical Ltd., Southampton, U.K.). The filters containing the residue were further used for determination of particulate phosphorus (PP) using a digestion step. In short, we incinerated the filters at 550 °C for 20 minutes, after which the filters were autoclaved with a 2% potassium persulfate solution at 121 °C for 30 minutes. The resulting solutions were analyzed for PP concentrations using a QuAAtro39 Auto-Analyzer (SEAL Analytical Ltd., Southampton, U.K.). The SRP and PP added up to be the total phosphorus (TP). The transparency of the water column was determined on site with a Secchi disc. We used inductively coupled plasma - optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES, Thermo ICAP 6500-duo ICP) for measurement of total filterable metals, including Ca, Al, La, Fe. In addition, we measured depth profiles of dissolved oxygen (DO), pH using a Hydrolab multi-sensor probe (Hydrolab DS 5, Ott Hydromet, Colorado, United States). To control for the impact of mesocosms on the water quality, all of the above measurements were also carried out in the canal outside of the mesocosms (ca. 1 m distance).

In addition, an extra sampling of the pore water of the top 10-15 cm sediment was done using a Rhizon[®] soil sampler at the end of the mesocosm experiment (19-09-2019). Porewater samples were analyzed using the same method and instruments described above for determination of the water concentrations of dissolved nutrients and metal elements. In addition, to gain further insight into the effect of our treatments on microbial activity and their greenhouse gas production, we followed a headspace equilibration technique (Halbedel, 2015; Magen et al., 2014) for determination of concentrations of dissolved carbon dioxide (CO_2), methane (CH_4) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) in the water column. GC-FID (Gas Chromatography-Flame Ionization Detection) was used for determining the headspace gas concentrations, and the gas concentrations in the water column were calculated based on the equilibrium

relationship between water column and headspace (Zhan et al., 2021a). Note that in this approach the gas fluxes through bubbling are not included.

4.2.4 Statistical analysis

We used a multivariate analysis method, i.e., principal response curve (PRC: Paul J Van den Brink and Braak, 1999), to visualize the overall responses (principle response) in different restoration treatments over time. In this approach, a principle variable for each restoration treatment was produced summarizing the variation in a set of response variables including Secchi depth, dissolved oxygen (DO), pH, total phosphorus (TP) and dissolved phosphorus (SRP), total chlorophyll-a (sum of chlorophyll-a of cyanobacteria, green algae, and diatoms) and cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a, which are the most relevant response variables regarding our research questions. The weights of individual response variables on the principle response curve are represented on the extra right y-axis (b_k) in the PRC diagram, indicating the contributions of individual variables to the principle response patterns. The mesocosms without restoration treatments (control) were taken as a reference line, with its principal trajectory set to zero. As a result, the deviations of other treatments from the control mesocosms can be interpreted as an overall response to the restoration treatments (represented in the left y-axis of PRC: expressed as the coefficient of treatment response, C_{dt}) over time (x-axis). The canal water was taken as another treatment for evaluation of the potential effects of mesocosms (i.e., isolation of a water volume from the surrounding canal water). Note that the patterns of the overall responses are influenced by selection of the variables. We have selected the water quality variables that are of importance in terms of evaluation of heatwave and treatment impacts.

Further, we used linear mixed effect models to test for significant differences in the response parameters between the treatments over time (LME; Lindstrom and Bates, 1988c). The linear mixed effect model allows for testing both fixed effects as well as random effects. Mesocosm identity was included in LME as a random effect to account for the heterogeneity between different mesocosm sites. To evaluate the treatment-related changes in response variables over the whole experimental period, we included the restoration treatments and the experimental time as fixed effects. In addition, to evaluate the effect of nutrient availability for the dynamics of algal biomass, dissolved phosphorus (SRP) and dissolved ammonium (NH₄-N) were included as predictor variables in the LME model for the response variables total chlorophyll-a and cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a.

Chapter IV

To evaluate the effect of occurrence of an extreme heatwave on the efficacy of the different measures, observed water temperature was included as an additional fixed effect during the heatwave phase (12^{th} of July – 7^{th} of August). In this analysis, time was excluded as there were only three sampling points during this period. We regard this as a solution for evaluating heatwave impacts in a field experiment where a control treatment of heatwave is not possible.

We used depth-integrated values for the variables DO and pH in the data analysis, as the depth profiles of these variables showed limited variability with depth. We confirmed this absence of stratification during the experimental period with our FLake simulation results.

We used a Shapiro Wilk test (Ghasemi and Zahediasl, 2012b) to test for normality of model residuals and if needed, different data transformation methods were applied, including logarithmic, reciprocal and square root. Breusch Pagen test (Waldman, 1983b) was used to check for heteroscedasticity of the residuals and if needed, a weighted linear mixed-effect model was carried out to correct for deviations from homoscedasticity.

To evaluate treatment effects on the nutrients in the sediment pore water (sampled at the end of the experiment), we used one-way ANOVAs. Tukey's range test was used to compare the means of Greenhouse Gas (GHG: CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O) concentrations between the different treatments (Tukey, 1949). All statistical analyses and data visualization were performed in R language (Team, 2019b). We used the packages *lubridate* (Grolemond and Wickman, 2011b), *nlme* (Pinheiro et al., 2019b), *dplyr* (Wickham et al., 2019), and *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019a). In addition, we used color-blind-friendly color palette for visualizations of our results following (Wong, 2011).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Intervention treatment effects on water quality

Our PRC model (Figure 4-2) revealed that among the four restoration treatments the Lanthanum modified bentonite (LMB) groups showed the strongest mitigation potential relative to the control treatments, followed by the dredging and iron-lime sludge treatments. The aeration treatment showed the least deviation from the control mesocosms, reflecting its limited potential for water quality improvement. In addition, the principal response curve of the surrounding canal water showed a distinct negative deviation from the control treatment, indicating a strong mesocosm effect on the water quality dynamics.

The response variables Secchi depth, total chlorophyll-a and cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a accounted for the largest contribution to the variation in the principle response variable, with TP, pH and DO only playing a minor role in determining the overall response patterns. Secchi depth and nutrients developed in opposite directions to the chlorophyll-a variables, pH and DO, indicating a negative correlation between these two sets of parameters.



Figure 4-2. Principal response curve of water quality parameters. The principal response curve model included the parameters Secchi Depth, DO, pH, total chlorophyll-a, cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a, SRP, TP, NH₄-N, NO₂-N and NO₃-N. The PRC shows the trajectory of each treatment response (coefficient of treatment response, C_{dv}) for each restoration treatment on the left y axis, with the control mesocosms trajectory set to 0. The x-axis represents time. The weights of individual water quality parameters (b_k) on the overall system response curves are displayed on the right y-axis.

Over the course of the experimental period, our LME model detected a significant decrease in dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations over time, from an initial value of 11.0 ± 0.5 mg/L down to 5.7 ± 0.2 mg/L at the end of the experiment (DO log-transformed: effect of time = -0.12, F_{1, 111} = 90.0, *p* < 0.001, Figure 4-3 a). The restoration treatments did not show a significant effect on the DO dynamics.

The LME model detected a significant increase in Secchi depths over the course of the experiment (effect of time = 0.03, $F_{1,111} = 24.8$, p < 0.0001, Figure 4-3 b). The restoration treatments also had a significant impact on Secchi depth relative to the control ($F_{5,15} = 4.13$, p = 0.01), with the largest increases in transparency in the dredging treatment (by 38.5 ± 15.5%), followed by the LMB treatment (by 19.1 ± 15.1%) and the iron-lime sludge treatment (by 11.1 ± 15.0%), whereas the aeration treatment showed a decrease in Secchi depths (by 13.0 ± 15.1%). Secchi depths in 81

mesocosms improved in comparison to the canal water (estimate of difference = -34.3. DF = 15. t-value = -1.83. p = 0.087). The Secchi depth in the canal staved at low levels $(56.9 \pm 1.2 \text{ cm})$ over the entire course of the experiment.

The pH levels in the water columns started at high levels (mean = $9.28 \pm$ 0.02) and decreased significantly over time (effect of time = -0.005, F_{1,111} = 19.46, p < 0.0001; Figure 4-3 c), without significant differences between the different restoration treatments.



Figure 4-3. Dynamics of (a) dissolved oxygen (DO), (b) Secchi depth, and (c) pH values in the water column. Error bars illustrate standard errors.

Over the experimental period, the LME model detected a significant time effect on the dissolved phosphorus levels (SRP, estimate of time effect = 0.0007, F₁. $_{110} = 17.82, p < 0.0001$, Figure 4-4 a). The mesocosms were SRP-depleted at the start of the experiment ($< 0.6 \mu g P/L$), after which the SRP concentrations started to rise, reaching maximum concentrations of $82.2 \pm 16.3 \ \mu g P/L$ on 24^{th} of July. In the end of the experiment, the SRP levels decreased to $30.1 \pm 5.5 \text{ µg P/L}$. The restoration treatments showed no significant effect on the SRP dynamics. The SRP concentrations in the canal water were lower than in the mesocosms during the experimental period ($9.2 \pm 2.1 \,\mu g \, P/L$), showing no initial increase as observed in the mesocosms. At the end of the experimental period, our one-way ANOVA model detected no significant differences in the pore-water SRP concentrations between restoration treatments ($F_{5, 18} = 1.01$, p = 0.44; Figure 4-4 b). The SRP concentrations

in the pore water were comparable with the maximum water column concentrations as observed on 24th of July with average concentrations of $85.7\pm15.1 \ \mu g P/L$.

The total phosphorus concentrations (TP) increased significantly over the experimental period (estimate of time effect by LME model = 0.009, $F_{1, 110} = 31.55$, p < 0.0001, Figure 4-4 c). The LME model detected no effect of the restoration treatments on TP levels, and there was no distinct difference between the TP levels in the canal water and the mesocosm water.

The LME model revealed that the lanthanum concentrations (La) in the water column of the LMB treatments were significantly higher relative to the control mesocosms (estimate of difference = $1.8 \ \mu g / L$, DF = 15, t-value = 2.94, p = 0.01; Figure 4-4 d).

Over the whole experimental period, the LME model detected a significant Time \times Restoration treatment effect on total chlorophyll-a concentrations (F_{5 103} = 4.1, p = 0.0021; Figure 4-5 a). Overall, the total chlorophyll-a concentrations started at a high level of 57.7 \pm 1.9 µg/L, reaching the lowest level of 14.9 \pm 5.4 µg/L at the end of July, which coincided with the peak in nutrients (Figure 4-4, SRP = 82.2 ± 16.2 μ g/L; Figure SI 4-1, NH₄-N = 0.91 \pm 0.07 mg/L) as observed during the heatwave phase (Figure 4-1 b). After the heatwave phase, the total chlorophyll-a concentrations increased with concentrations at the end of the experiment reaching levels of $44.0 \pm$ 6.1 µg Chl-a/L. Our LME model detected a significant difference between the restoration treatments ($F_{5,15} = 5.98$, p = 0.0031), with the dredging treatment resulting in a $62.5 \pm 39.9\%$ reduction in Chl-a levels relative to the control treatment. Compared with the control mesocosm, the LMB treatment reduced Chl-a levels by $48.2 \pm 39.5\%$, while the iron-lime sludge treatment reduced Chl-a levels by $46.2 \pm$ 41.2% by the end of the experiment. The aeration treatment showed no distinct difference with the control treatment. The control treatment had significantly lower total chlorophyll-a concentrations relative to the surrounding canal water, showing a reduction in end concentrations by $82.2 \pm 41.2\%$. In addition, our LME model detected significant effects of nutrient availability on the total chlorophyll-a levels (estimate of SRP effect = -32.46, $F_{1,108} = 28.94$, p < 0.0001; estimate of NH₄-N effect = -32.04, F_{1 108} = 27.09, p < 0.0001).

For the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a, the LME model showed an overall increase during the experimental period (estimate of time effect = 0.13, $F_{1, 108}$ = 31.93, p < 0.0001; Figure 4-5 b). After an initial decrease from 5.84 ± 1.88 to 0.89 ± 0.15 µg/L the concentrations increased continuously ending with a relatively high level of 10.06 ± 1.32 µg/L. The restoration treatments showed significant effects on the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a levels ($F_{5, 15}$ = 5.37, p = 0.005), with the largest reduction relative to the control treatment in the end concentration of cyanobacteria

chlorophyll-a by the dredging treatment by $58.5\pm33.8\%$, followed by the LMB treatment by $51.6 \pm 32.2\%$ and by the iron-lime sludge treatment by $40.8 \pm 33.7\%$, whereas the aeration treatment did not reduce the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a levels. Similar to the total chlorophyll-a measurements, the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a concentrations in the control mesocosms had a much lower level compared to the canal water, showing a reduction of $82.8 \pm 34.6\%$. Comparable to the results of the total chlorophyll-a LME model, the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a LME model also detected significant effects of SRP and NH₄-N on the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a levels (estimate of SRP effect = 9.31, $F_{1,108} = 5.28$, p = 0.02; estimate of NH₄-N effect = -5.08, $F_{1,108} = 6.29$, p = 0.01).



Figure 4-4. Soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) in the water column (a) and in the sediment pore water (b), total phosphorus (TP = SRP + particulate P) (c), and Lanthanum (La) concentration (d) in the water column. The La concentrations in one mesocosm ("+" points in orange color) were represented separately, as the observed concentrations in this mesocosm strongly deviated from the rest of levels found in the other mesocosms on 12th of July. Error bars illustrate standard errors.

4.3.2 The heatwave effects on water quality and intervention treatment efficacy

During the heatwave phase, our LME model did not detect a significant main effect of temperature on DO concentrations. However, during the heatwave phase the restoration treatments showed a significant effect on the DO levels relative to the control treatment ($F_{5, 15} = 5.45$, p = 0.0047), with increased DO concentrations in the dredged treatment (by $12.3 \pm 6.4\%$) and decreased DO concentrations in the LMB 84

treatment (by $10.1 \pm 6.4\%$) and iron-lime sludge treatment (by $8.5 \pm 6.4\%$). There was no significant difference in the aeration treatment (by $2.6 \pm 6.4\%$) relative to the control treatment. The control treatment had significantly lower DO concentrations relative to the surrounding canal water (by $19.3 \pm 7.4\%$).

During the heatwave phase, our LME model indicated that Secchi depths increased significantly with water temperatures (main effect of temperature = 7.36, $F_{1, 44} = 17.25$, p = 0.0001). The main effect of temperature, however, was not treatment-dependent, indicating no treatment effects on the responses in water transparency to heatwave exposure.

The LME model detected a significant difference in the pH dynamics between the restoration treatments ($F_{5, 15} = 6.06$, p < 0.003) relative to the control treatment, with increased pH levels in the dredging treatment (by $0.77 \pm 0.97\%$) and aeration treatment (by $1.89 \pm 0.98\%$), and decreased pH levels in the LMB treatment (by $1.16 \pm 0.97\%$). The iron-lime sludge treatment showed no distinct difference with the control treatment (by $0.48 \pm 0.97\%$). The control treatment had significantly lower pH levels relative to the surrounding canal water (by $1.53 \pm 1.17\%$). The LME model detected no main effect of temperature on the pH dynamics.

During the heatwave phase, LME model detected a positive main effect of temperature on the SRP levels (SRP log-transformed: estimate of temperature effect = 0.40, $F_{1,44} = 27.11$, p < 0.0001), resulting in a mean rise of 37.4 µg P/L compared to the prior-heatwave phase (days 0-16). Similar to the SRP, the TP concentrations increased with water temperatures during the heatwave phase (TP log-transformed: estimate of temperature effect = 0.089, $F_{1,44} = 4.35$, p = 0.04).

During the heatwave phase, LME model showed that the total chlorophylla levels decreased with the water temperatures (total chlorophyll-a log-transformed: estimate of temperature effect = -0.16, $F_{1, 43} = 19.65$, p = 0.0001). Similar to the analyses of the entire experimental period (see above), the availability of NH₄-N had a significant effect on the total chlorophyll-a concentrations during the heatwave phase (total chlorophyll-a log-transformed: estimate of NH₄-N effect = -2.21, $F_{1, 43} =$ 4.89, p = 0.03). The availability of SRP, however, had no significant effect on the total chlorophyll-a levels during the heatwave phase.

During the heatwave phase, LME model detected no main effect of temperature on the development of cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a. Regarding the nutrient effects on the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a, the effect of NH₄-N availability remained (cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a square root-transformed: estimate of NH₄-N effect = -1.34, F_{1,43} = 8.33, p = 0.006) but the SRP effect disappeared.



Figure 4-5. Total chlorophyll-a concentration (a) and cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a concentration (b) in the water column. The cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a concentration concentrations in one mesocosm (bluebluish green points) were represented separately, as the observed concentrations in this mesocosm strongly deviated from the rest of levels found in the other mesocosms on 27^{h} of June. Error bars illustrate standard errors.

4.3.3 Treatment effects on dissolved Greenhouse gas concentrations

The LMB treatment had the highest dissolved GHG concentrations at the end of the experiment, while the aeration treatment had the lowest dissolved GHG concentrations (based on Tukey test, see also Figure 4-6). For instance, the LMB mesocosms had significantly increased dissolved CO₂ values in comparison to the control mesocosms (estimate of difference = 64.0 μ mol/L, *p* = 0.08) and to the aerated mesocosms (estimate of difference = 90.2 μ mol/L, *p* = 0.01).

With respect to the concentrations of the dissolved CH₄ at the end of the experimental period, the aerated mesocosms showed decreased values in comparison to the control mesocosms (estimate of difference = 4.3 nmol/L, p = 0.07) and to the iron-lime sludge mesocosms (estimate of difference = 4.5 nmol/L, p = 0.06); The LMB mesocosms had higher dissolved CH₄ values than the aerated mesocosms (estimate of difference = 7.9 nmol/L, p < 0.005) and dredged mesocosms (estimate of difference = 4.4 nmol/L, p = 0.07).

With respect to the concentrations of dissolved N₂O, the aerated mesocosms had significantly lower values than the control mesocosms (estimate of difference = 19.7 nmol/L, p = 0.02), iron-lime sludge mesocosms (estimate of difference = 18.0 nmol/L, p = 0.05), and LMB mesocosms (estimate of difference = 34.3 nmol/L, p < 0.005). In addition, the LMB mesocosms had higher dissolved N₂O concentrations than the mesocosms that were exposed to the iron-lime sludge mesocosms (estimate of difference = 16.3 nmol/L, p = 0.08) and the dredging mesocosms (estimate of difference = 21.8 nmol/L, p = 0.01).



Towards climate-robust water quality management: testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal

Figure 4-6. Box plot (10%, 25%, 75% and 90% percentiles) of the concentrations of dissolved methane ($a - CO_2$), carbon dioxide ($b - CH_4$), and nitrous oxide ($c - N_2O$) at the end of the experiment (19-09-2019).

4.4 Discussion

In this study, we compared four restoration measures with respect to their efficacy of reducing phytoplankton and improving water quality in an urban canal using a mesocosm approach. This type of experiments comparing different intervention measures at a near-realistic level of environmental complexity are few and far between. Here, we also evaluated how the efficacy of these interventions is impacted by exposure to an extreme heatwave in the middle of the experiment. This addressed the knowledge gap we currently face regarding the usefulness of commonly applied restoration measures under future climate scenarios. At the end of this discussion section, we will propose a conceptual model on potential routes through which measures to mitigate water quality deterioration might be affected by heatwaves. To our knowledge, such a comprehensive conceptual model is still lacking in literature and can provide a starting point for future validation.

The study site was a hypertrophic shallow water system according to the Carlson trophic state index (TSI; Carlson, 1977). The experiment focused on the reduction of the internal loading as a means to mitigate water quality deterioration, with most of the external loading effectively blocked in our type of mesocosm. The

experiment started at the end of June with rather high phytoplankton biomasses (initial total chlorophyll-a = 57.7 \pm 1.3 µg/L) and depleted SRP concentrations (< 0.6 µg P/L), presumably due to high nutrient uptake by phytoplankton. Overall, the dissolved oxygen concentrations in the mesocosms decreased over the lifetime of the experiment, indicating that the systems were shifting from a primary production-dominant to a decomposition-dominant system.

4.4.1 Comparison of intervention measures

Among the tested four restoration treatments, the dredging treatments exhibited the greatest efficacy with respect to reduction of total phytoplankton biomass (evidenced by total chlorophyll-a), cyanobacteria biomass (evidenced by cvanobacteria chlorophyll-a), and improvement on water transparency (evidenced by Secchi depth). The dredging treatments aimed at removing the top nutrient-rich sediments, resulting in newly exposed sediments with lower nutrient release (estimate of the P loading = $0.2-0.7 \text{ P/m^2/day}$; Van Herpen, 2019). While the other three restoration measures only targeted immobilization of inorganic P, dredging of top 30cm sediments will also result in a reduction of nitrogen (Figure SI 4-1) and assimilable carbon in the organic matter that may facilitate microbial growth leading to oxygen depletion and release of redox-sensitive P (Yin et al., 2021). Moreover, there is increasing evidence that phytoplankton can also uptake organic nutrients for their growth (Bentzen et al., 1992; Bover et al., 2006; Znachor and Nedoma, 2010). The anticipated decline in organic matter content in the newly exposed sediments may lead to decreased oxygen consumption, supported by the temporally increased DO and pH during the heatwave phase (Figure 4-3). Such an increase of DO concentrations in the dredging treatments disappeared after the heatwave phase, which can be caused by the sedimentation of phytoplankton charging the newly exposed sediments with organic nutrients (Lürling and Faassen, 2012).

The lanthanum modified bentonite (LMB) treatments exhibited comparative efficacy compared with the dredging treatments, confirming the first hypothesis. We expected that the LMB treatments would immobilize SRP from the water columns into the sediments, which was not supported by the observations of SRP concentrations in the water column showing no distinct deviations from the control treatments. A rough estimate of P fluxes using the water column SRP data from July 12th and July 24th resulted in as high as 16 mg P/m²/d in LMB treatments and 12 mg P/m²/d in controls, and these estimates were even with uptake by phytoplankton. This level of P loading is much higher than the critical value for this system shifting from a clear state to a turbid state (estimate = 2.2 mg P/m²/day; Van Herpen, 2019). The high P-fluxes in LMB treatments are probably due to ebullition of gas transporting sediment nutrients into water, evidenced by the relatively high CO₂ and CH₄ gas 88

concentrations in LMB treatments (Figure 4-6). Previous studies indicated that the ebullition of gasses from sediments can be an important mechanism for nutrient transport from the sediment into overlying water in eutrophic lakes (Vario et al., 2003). This result contrasts other studies that have shown a strong SRP reduction capacity of LMB, also under anoxia (e.g., Funes et al., 2021; Li et al., 2019), but finds support in another mesocosm study that observed hampered SRP binding by LMB (Lürling and Faassen, 2012). There may be several factors responsible for those deviating performances. The high pH at the start of the experiment (pH 9.7) implied strong competition between phosphate and hydroxyl ions for binding sites: the binding capacity of LMB at pH 9.5 is about one-third of the binding capacity at pH 7 (Li et al., 2019). Filterable La in the water column over the course of the experiment did not bind with SRP (Figure 4-4 d), which may be attributed to the presence of high DOC prevailing in eutrophic water bodies (background concentration in the canal = 6.37 ± 1.74 mg/L, unpublished data Water Authority Brabantse Delta), preventing phosphate precipitation by La-clay chelation (Lürling et al., 2014). Field observations from multiple lakes suggest that DOC concentrations negatively influence the efficacy of LMB (Spears et al., 2016) and such negative impacts by DOC will not disappear after one year (Dithmer et al., 2016b). Note that although we observed overall higher La concentrations in the overlying water of the LMB treatments, they are far below the Dutch standard for surface water (10.1 µg La/L; Sneller et al. 2000) during most of the time except for one mesocosm which temporally exceeded the standard reaching 21 µg La/L on 12th of July, but dropped down to 2 µg La/L immediately at the next sampling. Our LMB results were in line with (Li et al., 2019) demonstrating that the presence of phytoplankton can act as a P sink and thus hampering P adsorption by LMB. They found that an intensified dosage of LMB can mitigate such inference from phytoplankton. Moreover, (Lürling and Faassen, 2012) demonstrated that combined sediment dredging and LMB addition is a more promising measure than their treatments alone.

The iron-lime sludge exhibited a moderate efficacy, with a performance better than aeration but worse than dredging and LMB treatments, confirming our second hypothesis that the application of iron-lime sludge on the sediment is less effective in reducing phytoplankton biomass. Fe measurements of the water column as well as pore water (Figure SI 4-2) showed iron-lime sludge did increase the Fe pool. The sediment P-fractionation results (Figure SI 4-3 a) showed that organic P is the second common P fraction after the redox-sensitive P accounting for approximately 35% of the mobile P. Mineralization of organic matter would exhaust the oxygen pool. Thus, the sediments were highly likely to be reducing (also reflected by the decreased DO concentrations in the iron-lime sludge treatments, Figure 4-3 a and Figure SI 4-3 b), leading to an increasing fraction of Fe^{2+} reducing P retention capacity of the sediment (Gächter and Müller, 2003). The optimum pH values for Fe-P binding is 4-5.5 (Kraal et al., 2015), while the Ca-P bond can dissolve under acidic conditions (Gon Kim et al., 2002; Ippolito et al., 2003). We observed no distinct difference in the calcium concentrations in the water column between the iron-lime sludge treatments and other treatments (Figure SI 4-2), suggesting no Ca-P dissolution. Huang et al. (2005) demonstrated that P release in response to pH variations in lake sediments is dependent on a ratio of Fe-P content to Ca-P content, with high Fe-P/Ca-P ratio releasing P under alkaline conditions and low Fe-P/Ca-P ratio releasing more P under acidic conditions. In our Iron-lime sludge, Ca accounted for a larger proportion than Fe (Table SI 4-1), thus, being acidity-sensitive. However, the pH in the water columns remained high in our systems (pH > 8.8, Figure 4-3 c) presumably owing to the presence of a high phytoplankton biomass consuming inorganic carbon. Thus, in this system the efficacy of Iron-lime sludge is more likely to be redox-related than pH-related.

In agreement with our third hypothesis, the aeration treatments were unable to stimulate the iron trap of sediment phosphorus and hinder the growth of phytoplankton, with an end concentration comparable to the control mesocosms (Figure 4-5). Previous studies demonstrated that any form of mixing of water columns in shallow water bodies (< 15 m) can lead to a negative effect on the water quality (Visser et al., 2016). This is because in such shallow water bodies (< 2m), oxygenation by air pumping will inevitably enhance sediment resuspension. The direct consequence of sediment resuspension is decrease in water clarity as reflected by the decreased Secchi depth in comparison to the control mesocosms (see Figure 4-3 b). Another unfavorable consequence of enhanced sediment resuspension may likely be sediment nutrients release, which will fuel the phytoplankton growth in the surface water. The favorable effect of aeration we expected was increased DO in the water columns and in the sediments, preventing release of redox-sensitive P (Cavalcante et al., 2018). Based on the water column DO measurements (Figure 4-3 a, DO concentrations and Figure SI 4-3 b for DO saturation) as well as the pore water nutrient concentrations (Figure 4-4 b for SRP and Figure SI 4-1 for NH₄-N and NO₂-N), we have to reject this hypothesis as we observed no distinct difference between the aeration treatment and the other treatments. This might be related to the large pool of organic matters in the sediments (Remke et al., 2018) and the observation that decomposition of resuspended sediment organic matters can lead to high DO consumption. Gächter and Wehrli (1998) demonstrated that oxygenation was unable to increase the P retention capacity of the sediment in presence of excessive organic

Towards climate-robust water quality management: testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal

matter. In conclusion, aeration is not a suitable measure in eutrophication control in shallow water systems.

In addition to these four measures, the mesocosm treatment itself showed significant effects on water quality (grey area in Figure 4-2). The direct consequences of mesocosm treatments are isolation from the surrounding canal water, which occasionally receives an inlet discharge of 0.06 m^3 /s when the inlet was fully operated (Herpen, 2019). This resulted in a dramatic reduction of external nutrient loading (estimate = $2.77 \text{ mg P/m^2/day}$: Van Herpen, 2019), absence of fish (estimate = 772.8kg/ha: Van Herpen, 2019), and shelter from wind resulting in decreased mixing of water and sediment resuspension (indicated by the increased Secchi depth in mesocosms. Figure 4-3 b). Absence of fish will lead to decreased grazing pressure on zooplankton (Jeppesen et al., 1997) and reduced bioturbation of sediments (Adámek and Maršálek, 2013). In a mesocosm experiment by Lürling et al. (2017c) increased Rotifer and Cladocera abundances were observed, supporting this hypothesis. This could partly explain the lower phytoplankton abundance in the mesocosms owing to increased grazing pressure from zooplankton. The higher P loading in canals, however, did not translate to a relatively higher concentration of SRP relative to the mesocosm water. This is likely to be a result of the higher phytoplankton biomass in the canal resulting in larger amounts of P-uptake (Riegman, 1985).

4.4.2 Heatwave impacts on the internal P cycling

During the heatwave phase, we observed in all mesocosm treatments an increase of SRP concentrations in the water column by on average 270.3%, with a mean concentration of 30.1 µg P/L at the end of the experiment. Previous modeling studies (Janse, 2005) demonstrated that an SRP concentration of 50 µg P/L can result in an ecosystem shift from the clear state to the turbid state. This shows that the temperature effect detected in our data (a rise of the SRP concentration of 10 µg P/L/°C) is highly relevant. The increases in SRP concentrations coincided with increased phytoplankton biomass in the last month (Figure 4-5) and decreased water transparency (Figure 4-3 b). However, the increases in phytoplankton biomass showed a lagged response to the increases in nutrient concentrations. This mismatch could be due to the previous depletion of environmental SRP concentrations resulting in a low internal nutrient content ('cell quota') in the phytoplankton cells (Droop, 1974). It likely took some time for the organisms to rebalance their cell quota resulting in a delayed response in their biomass. This phenomenon is modelled by the well-known Droop equation in ecological models (e.g., PCLake; Janse, 2005). A potential explanation for our observations is thus that sediment SRP release was taken

up quickly once phytoplankton attained sufficient biomasses, resulting in a depleted SRP concentration in the water column until the end of the experiment. Evaluating this hypothesis on the nutrient uptake by phytoplankton is difficult in such *in-situ* mesocosm experimental set-up, where there is unlikely to be a control treatment for primary productivity. Our fourth hypothesis that the efficacy of iron-lime sludge will be hampered by increased water temperature was not rejected as was our fifth hypothesis that heatwave exposure resulted in P-release from lanthanum modified bentonite treated sediments. The heatwave-induced P-release was not re-immobilized despite the presence of available La (Figure 4-4 d), at least at a time scale of months. Similar results were observed in a previous laboratory study (Zhan et al., 2021a), which supported our conclusion that the heatwave-induced P-release is long-lasting and will not disappear immediately post to heatwave. Additional experiments are needed to investigate the changes of La-P binding capacity upon heatwave exposure. Our sixth hypothesis that there is no heatwave effect on the efficacy of dredging is rejected as the dredging was shown to be unable to mitigate the heatwave-induced increases in P-releases. In summary, the efficacy of all the tested measures was reduced during the heatwave phase.

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emission of water bodies is substantial (Li et al., 2021; Rosentreter et al., 2021) and is promoted by eutrophication (Jake J. Beaulieu et al., 2019; Davidson et al., 2015b). Climate change might reduce the efficacy of interventions (Rolighed et al., 2016; Zhan et al., 2021a), as indicated by this study as well. If interventions become less effective, water quality deteriorates even further, resulting in more GHG emissions (Li et al., 2021). These extra contributions to climate change pose a negative feedback to the efficacy of interventions. Thus, insight into the impact of interventions on GHG emissions is needed to reduce the reinforcing effect that eutrophication has on GHG emissions (Moss et al., 2011) and at the same time to provide an instrument for water managers to incorporate GHG emissions when selecting a treatment. Our dissolved GHG measurements indicated that LMB may not be a promising restoration measure in terms of mitigation of GHG emissions, given its overall higher GHG concentrations than other treatments (Figure 4-6). It was unexpected that the LMB treatments showed higher GHG values than the control treatments given that LMB applications should not target organic carbon. A potential cause for this may be that the newly formed LMB layer on the top of sediments hampers oxygen penetration creating a favorable anoxic environment for microbial gas production. Surprisingly, the dredged mesocosms did not show a significant reduction in GHG concentrations with treatments other than LMB. We speculate that the dredging exposed sediments did not differ substantially in organic C content relative to the non-dredged sediments. This research gives an indication of GHG

emissions caused by promising interventions (Figure 4-6), though GHG flux of ebullition needs to be incorporated to provide an accurate estimation of the GHG emissions from sediments.

We propose a graphical model illustrating the underlying mechanisms for heatwave impacts on the efficacy of intervention measures (Figure 4-7). In general, the P cycle can be divided into two compartments, one representing a biological P loop that involves P fluxes between organic P and labile P via biological processes (i.e., decomposition and primary production), another representing a chemical P loop that involves P fluxes between chemical bound P (including Lanthanum bound P; redox-sensitive P: Fe/Mn-P; and pH-sensitive P: Al/Fe-P) and labile P via chemical sorption and desorption processes. Our results indicated that heatwave exposure increased the phosphorus pools stored in the biological loop, whereas the phosphorus pools in the chemical loop decreased.

The heatwave effect can play a role in phosphorus cycling through several mechanisms. Firstly, increasing temperature enhances decomposition of organic matter and release of detrital nutrients (Gudasz et al., 2010b). Furthermore, the decreased oxygen concentrations as a result of enhanced mineralization and respiration could lead to anoxic conditions at the sediment resulting in release of redox-sensitive phosphorus (Fe- and Mn-bound P; Cavalcante et al., 2018).

In addition, increasing DOC levels resulting from decomposition of organic matter has been found to interfere with the precipitations of La-P (Lürling et al., 2014; Spears et al., 2016) and Ca-P (Cao et al., 2007; Sindelar et al., 2015), thus, decreasing phosphorus immobilization via these pathways. Lei et al. (2018) suggests that high pH can overcome the negative DOC effects on Ca-P. The pH level is elevated owing to increased primary production and enhanced uptake of inorganic carbon. High pH would facilitate desorption of pH-sensitive P (Fe-/Al-P). Some laboratory experiments demonstrated negative impacts of high pH on the P removal efficacy of LMB (Kang et al., 2021), and attributed it to competition with hydroxyl ions for binding sites. However, the pH effects on Ca-/La- P precipitation are either established in short laboratory experiments or far from reaching a consensus. Thus, we decided not to include the pH effects on Ca-/La- P precipitation in our model.

With phosphorus pools locked in the biological loop, the chemical immobilization of labile P was inhibited. This maybe especially true for summer conditions, when temperatures are high and primary production is intensive, a high amount of P is stored in organisms, hampering the P-adsorption efficacy of chemical adsorbents, which underpins the importance of planning restoration activities during periods when most P is not already stored in biota. It is anticipated that inland waters may have prolonged growing seasons with a higher risk of long-lasting algal blooms

under the effects of global warming, which is currently, however, rarely taken into consideration by lake managers when applying restoration measures (Jeppesen et al., 2007). In addition, warm lakes tend to be more productive than similar cold lakes, with everything else equal (Jeppesen et al., 2020). Our results on this temperate shallow urban water system could provide implications for eutrophication management of tropical lakes when selecting treatments, in which the restoration efforts are much limited compared to the lakes in the temperate zone (Thornton, 1987). Our results suggest that the intervention measures that only target SRP might take longer in inhibiting phytoplankton biomass in temperate systems when applied during warm periods with high rates of biological processes, whereas they might not be promising in tropical systems with no period where there is low organismal biomass (i.e., perennial growth).

Chapter IV

Knowledge about the influence of temperature on chemical P binding capacity is lacking. Although it is hypothesized that warmer water can facilitate interactions between chemical compounds through increased kinetic energy, such positive temperature effects on P binding capacity are not conclusive for LMB and aluminum salts (Kang et al., 2021). We hypothesize that in highly productive systems temperature effects on biological processes are more important to nutrient cycling when compared with the direct temperature effects on the chemical nutrient de-/sorption, as most of the nutrients exist in organic forms. For these reasons, the temperature effects on chemical reactions are not included in our conceptual model.



Figure 4-7. Conceptual model illustrating the interaction between environmental conditions and internal phosphorus cycling. The solid lines represent the P fluxes between different P forms. The dashed lines with the "+" and "-" are the positive or negative effects on P fluxes during a heatwave event.

4.5 Conclusions, caveats and recommendations

Using a replicated near-real world mesocosm study, we tested the efficacy of four restoration measures to control internal P-loading in a hypertrophic shallow urban system impacted by an extreme summer heatwave. Our sampling time interval was rather large for an event analysis, with high frequency measurements likely providing a more detailed insight on the water quality dynamics of the restored water.

Notwithstanding the limitations of our sampling regime, we were able to derive a conceptual model that explains the underlying pathways that determine the cycling of phosphorus between different forms, which can improve our understanding and prediction of the efficacy of restoration measures under future climate scenarios. Measurements of more variables such as dissolved organic carbon and the sediment redox potential are needed for validating the proposed conceptual model. The take home messages of our study:

1. Dredging and Lanthanum modified bentonite are more effective than ironlime sludge in decreasing phytoplankton biomass and improving water clarity.

- 2. Near-sediment aeration was not able to stimulate the iron trap in the sediment in shallow water systems.
- 3. The efficacy of the tested measures was hampered by a heatwave. We speculate that the heatwave, through its accelerating impacts on biogeochemical processes, locked P pools in the biological loop, i.e., the exchange between labile P and organic P. As a consequence, the efficacy of P adsorbents is hampered due to reduced P pools in the chemical loop.
- 4. As intervention measures that only target SRP may likely take longer in inhibiting phytoplankton biomass during warmer periods, we recommend an application strategy before the growing season (autumn or early spring in temperate systems) when the biological P loop is less prominent relative to the chemical P loop.

In conclusion, our results suggest that our current efforts on eutrophication control are very likely to be compromised under global warming, and more research on how to adapt our restoration measures to a warming world is needed.

Acknowledgements:

We want to thank Machiel van Halsteren, Erik Reichman, Dennis Waasdorp and Nico Helmsing for assistance in the field campaign and sample analyses. This research was designed and carried out in collaboration with independent consultancy Royal HaskoningDHV (<u>https://global.royalhaskoningdhv.com/</u>), and in particular with Boris Smulders and Niels Schoffelen. This research was commissioned and funded by Waterboard Brabantse Delta, in collaboration with the municipality of Geertruidenberg. Specifically, we are grateful for Henk Kools of the municipality of Geertruidenberg, and Simon Hofstra, Henk van Laarhoven en Louis Vriens of the Waterboard Brabantse Delta for the co-design of the study. Q. Zhan was funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 722518 (MANTEL ITN) and the Royal Dutch Academy of Science (KNAW).

Supplementary information



Chapter Il



Chapter V:

Process-based modeling for ecosystem service provisioning: Non-linear responses to restoration efforts in a quarry lake under climate change

Qing Zhan, Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis, Miquel Lürling, Rafael Marcé, Tom Heuts, Sven Teurlincx

Published in Journal of Environmental Management: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.119163



Chapter l

Abstract:

Healthy freshwater ecosystems can provide vital ecosystem services (ESs), and this capacity may be hampered due to water quality deterioration and climate change. In the currently available ES modeling tools, ecosystem processes are either absent or oversimplified, hindering the evaluation of impacts of restoration measures on ES provisioning. In this study, we propose an ES modeling tool that integrates lake physics, ecology and service provisioning into a holistic modeling framework. We applied this model to a Dutch quarry lake, to evaluate how nine ESs respond to technological-based (phosphorus (P) reduction) and nature-based measures (wetland restoration). As climate change might be affecting the future effectiveness of restoration efforts, we also studied the climate change impacts on the outcome of restoration measures and provisioning of ESs, using climate scenarios for the Netherlands in 2050. Our results indicate that both phosphorus reduction and wetland restoration mitigated eutrophication symptoms, resulting in increased oxygen concentrations and water transparency, and decreased phytoplankton biomass. Delivery of most ESs was improved, including swimming, P retention, and macrophyte habitat, whereas the ES provisioning that required a more productive system was impaired (sport fishing and bird watching). However, our modeling results suggested hampered effectiveness of restoration measures upon exposure to future climate conditions, which may require intensification of restoration efforts in the future to meet restoration targets. Importantly, ESs provisioning showed nonlinear responses to increasing intensity of restoration measures, indicating that effectiveness of restoration measures does not necessarily increase proportionally. In conclusion, the ecosystem service modeling framework proposed in this study, provides a holistic evaluation of lake restoration measures on ecosystem services provisioning, and can contribute to development of climate-robust management strategies.

5.1 Introduction

We have entered a human-dominated geological epoch, coined the Anthropocene (Lewis and Maslin, 2015), characterized by an increasing impact and over-utilization of ecosystems by humans. In the Anthropocene, the demand for almost all ecosystem services is on the rise (Assessment, 2005). Ecosystem services (ESs) are defined as direct and indirect contributions of ecosystems to human wellbeing (Carpenter et al., 2009). In recent years, this concept of ecosystem service has guided ecosystem management and restoration efforts, aiming to integrate social, economic and ecological perspectives (Kull et al., 2015; Seppelt et al., 2011; Valencia Torres et al., 2021).

Quantifying ecosystem services can be instrumental in recognizing the benefits humans receive from ecosystems, providing stronger arguments for ecological restoration (Grizzetti et al., 2019; Guerry et al., 2015). Conveying restoration impacts in terms of the loss or gain of ESs can facilitate effective communication of restoration outcomes to policy-makers and river basin authorities responsible for implementing restoration measures (Wortley et al., 2013b). While modeling terrestrial ecosystem services often focuses on mapping ESs provisioning through spatial variations of catchment attributes (e.g., land use, topography, lithology) (Nelson and Daily, 2010), the dynamics of water quantity and quality necessitate a more explicit consideration in aquatic ecosystem service modeling (B. Grizzetti et al., 2016).

There is increasing evidence that freshwater ecosystem services provisioning is closely linked to the ecological quality (or ecological state) of different aquatic environments, including shallow lakes (Janssen et al., 2021), deep lakes (Seelen et al., 2021a), rivers and coastal waters (Grizzetti et al., 2019). Based on data reported under the European Water Framework Directive, Grizzetti et al. (2019) demonstrated that higher provisioning of ESs is mostly correlated with better ecological states, particularly for regulating services (e.g., water purification, erosion retention, flood protection) and cultural services (e.g., recreation). However, current modeling tools for water-related services primarily focus on water quantity (B. Grizzetti et al., 2016), with limited integration of services closely related to water quality (Keeler et al., 2012). Water quality dynamics are mediated by complex interactions among a myriad of ecosystem processes, which are often oversimplified in large-scale modeling frameworks. For instance, one widely-used ecosystem service model, InVEST, simplifies by using nutrient loading as a proxy for determining the availability of lake-related ESs (Nelson et al., 2009; Polasky et al., 2011), assuming simple linear responses of ecosystems to nutrient loading. This

Chapter l

approach contradicts the resistance theory of ecosystems (Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2011; Ibelings et al., 2007), which supports threshold-type ecosystem responses to pressures. Consequently, the assessment of management actions often relies on variables collected at the landscape scale (e.g., Burkhard et al. 2012; Hernández-Romero et al. 2022), which may be inaccurate due to the aforementioned nonlinear responses or ill-fitting when assessing the impacts of in-lake restoration measures (Lürling and Mucci, 2020). Keeler et al. (2012) proposed a conceptual framework linking ecological-related services with corresponding water quality variables based on a review of existing ES models, emphasizing the importance of this link in assessing management actions. Nevertheless, an integrated ES modeling framework closely tied to water quality dynamics is still lacking.

Successful lake management efforts should also account for the effects of climate change in addition to eutrophication control (Salk et al., 2022). Previous studies have suggested nonlinear ecosystem responses to climate change pressures (Burkett et al., 2005). Climate change can influence lake physics and ecology, e.g., by changing stratification patterns and mineralization rates. This in turn may lead to water quality deterioration (Moss et al., 2011) and impair the effectiveness of restoration measures (Cabrerizo et al., 2020a; Zhan et al., 2022, 2021b), further affecting aquatic ES provisioning. It remains an urgent question for water managers to determine how robust their current measures for restoring ES provisioning are in light of future climate conditions. Addressing this question requires a model capable of simulating climate change impacts on lake physics (e.g., thermal regimes) and ecological processes.

To address the challenges posed by various pressures on lakes, such as eutrophication and climate change, different restoration strategies have been developed and can be divided into two groups: technological solutions and naturebased solutions. Technological restoration strategies focus on employing engineered solutions to mitigate stressors affecting lakes. One prominent technological approach involves the controlled removal or inactivation of excess phosphorus from water bodies and sediments using techniques like geoengineering, or dredging (Zhan et al., 2022). Phosphorus reduction strategies are amenable to implementation in diverse lake types and meet the increasing demands for spaces of different types of land-uses, as technological-based measures often require relatively less space and act at shorter time scales (Kim et al., 2021). In contrast, nature-based solutions (NbS), exemplified by wetland restoration, emphasize the use of natural features and processes to restore lakes. Importantly, NbS need to provide benefits for human well-being and biodiversity. Wetlands are a hotspot for biodiversity and act as natural filters that absorb excess nutrients, sediment, and contaminants from water bodies (Sollie et al.,

hapter V
Process-based modeling for ecosystem service provisioning: Non-linear responses to restoration efforts in a quarry lake under climate change

2008). There is also a growing demand for nature-based solutions, as they are suggested to be potential adaptation strategies to climate change (Seddon et al., 2020b; van Leeuwen et al., 2021). Yet establishment of a dose-effect relationship is needed for the evidence-based implementation of these restoration measures (Seddon et al., 2020b). The main objective of this paper is to assess how effective our current lake restoration measures are in restoring ecosystem services provisioning, for which we followed this work flow: 1) Develop a model framework linking lake physics, ecology and ecosystem services provisioning. 2) Assess effectiveness of a nature-based restoration (wetland restoration) and a technological restoration measure (phosphorus reduction) in a eutrophic quarry lake. 3) Study the impacts of climate change on ES delivery, by running the model under two climate scenarios.

5.2 Methodology

5.2.1 An Integrative Ecosystem Service Modeling Framework

A freshwater one-dimensional lake physics model – FLake (Kirillin et al., 2011) – was used to predict the vertical temperature profile in the water column, based on weather data or climate scenarios. FLake uses climate data (air temperature, wind speed, solar radiance, humidity and cloud cover) as input. The output of FLake including mixing and water temperatures is subsequently imposed into a lake ecosystem model (PCLake+) as boundary conditions reflecting climate-related impacts (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Model chain for ecosystem service modeling. Rectangles denote state variables, ovals denote models, hexagon denotes ecosystem service module, rounded rectangles denote input data, solid arrows denote model input or output, dashed arrows denote data input. (Flake in blue, PCLake+ in green, input in white, output in orange).

Chapter l

PCLake is a process-based ecological model that was developed to simulate water quality and assess the trophic state of lakes based on ecological interactions (Janse, 2005). It models nutrient cycling including nitrogen and phosphorus and a simple food web consisting of three functional groups of phytoplankton (cyanobacteria, green algae and diatoms), zooplankton, and fish. Moreover, it involves a wetland module that exhibits a purification function of the lake water, through biogeochemical processes explained in Janse et al. (2001). PCLake+ is an expanded version of PCLake that allows for water column stratification to take place, to model deep lakes (Janssen et al., 2019). After that, an extension was done by Chang et al. (2020) to include more realistic cyanobacterial traits, which modelled surface cyanobacterial biomass accumulation in addition to the epilimnion and hypolimnion biomass. In this study, we further expanded PCLake+ with a module for ecosystem services provisioning.

5.2.2 Modeling of ecosystem services provisioning

We built an ecosystem service module into PCLake+ to translate the water quality into a quantitative description of ecosystem services provisioning. We followed a framework for assessing ecosystem services proposed by Seelen et al. (2021a), which links ecosystem state indicators with ecosystem service provisioning through a threshold approach. The threshold values reflect the values that certain water quality parameter in a lake must attain to support the provision of a given service. The threshold values were based on published peer-reviewed literature, a field campaign covering 51 quarry lakes in the south of the Netherlands, and expert judgment (Table 1; see Seelen et al. 2021a for the supporting materials). Per ecosystem service, different aspects of the water quality requirements of the service are considered. For instance, the service of swimming is only suitable when the lake has sufficient transparency, the cyanobacterial biomass is at a safe level, and there is adequate vegetation-free water column. In the ES module, the suitability of delivering each ES was expressed by an indicator function ranging between 0-1, with "1" representing a fully suitable provisioning, "0" representing an unsuitable provisioning, and values in between representing a moderate suitability.

Table 1. List of Ecosystem Services, their corresponding ecosystem state indicators and threshold value
being included in the modeling framework. Ecosystem state indicators with a symbol (*) represent a
adjustment from Seelen et al. (2022), with the decisions explained in SI section 2.

Category	Service	CICES Code	Ecosystem state indicators	Threshold values	
Provisioning	Professional fishing - fishponds	1.1.4.1	Steady state fish density (kg/ha)	>100 (suitable), 10- 100 (moderate), < 10 (unsuitable)	
	Commonreed1.1.5.2Helophytesshoot(Phragmitesbiomass (marsh zone, gAustralis)DW/m²)production for roofthatching		>2500 (suitable)		
	Irrigation	4.2.1.2	*Cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a (ug/L)	<12 (suitable), 12-75 (moderate), >75 (unsuitable)	
Regulation and maintenance	Nutrient (P and N) burial in lake sediment	2.2.4.2	Reduction phosphorus/nitrogen load (%)	<pre>>50 (suitable), 20-50 (moderate), <20 (unsuitable)</pre>	
	Maintenance of habitats for Water Framework Directive	2.2.4.2	*Surface coverage (%) with sufficient light (>4%)	>60 (suitable), 30-60 (moderate), <30 (unsuitable)	
	Particle capture between macrophytes	2.1.1.2	Macrophyte biomass (gDW/m ²)	>200 (suitable), 20- 200 (moderate), <20 (unsuitable)	
Cultural	Swimming	6.1.1.1	Transparency (Secchi depth, m)	>1.5 (suitable)	
			*Cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a (ug/L)	<12 (suitable), 12-75 (moderate), >75 (unsuitable)	
			Plant nuisance: vegetation-free water column (m)	>0.5 (suitable)	
	Bird watching	3.1.1.2	Fish density (kg/ha)	>67 (suitable)	

Helophyte den littoral zone (g I	nsity in DW/m²)	>73 (suitable)
Transparency depth, m)	(Secchi	>5 (suitable), 1.5-5 (moderate), < 1.5 (unsuitable)

In total, nine ESs are modelled with their water quality requirements summarized in Table 1. We followed the Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES: Haines-Young and Potschin, 2012), in which the ESs are divided into four different groups: provisioning (water, materials, energy and others), regulation and maintenance (remediation and regulation of the biophysical environment, flow regulation, regulation of the physic-chemical and biotic environment), cultural (physical or experiential use of ecosystems, intellectual representations of ecosystems), and *abiotic* (abiotic materials, energy, and space) services. We selected the ecosystem services that can be provided by quarry lakes following Seelen et al. (2022). Our final selection was constrained by the capacity of PCLake+ to compute quantitative ecological state indicators. Some adjustments have been made to the ecosystem model that are described in detail in SI section 1. A brief summary of the main modifications: 1). Hypoxia inhibition effect on fish growth is included into PCLake+; 2). We ran our model using hourly meteorological input data to capture the diurnal variations in light, temperature, evaporation, and rainfall, as drivers of water quality dynamics.

5.2.3 Model application and validation

Our developed ES modeling framework was applied to a quarry lake located in the south of Netherlands – "Put aan de Omloop" (51°79'22.8"N, 4°95'15.2"E). "Put aan de Omloop" or Lake de Omloop is a typical quarry lake that was created as a result of sand mining activities, showing up on topographic maps since 1969 (see https://www.topotijdreis.nl/). After creation, the lake has undergone a land-use induced eutrophication process, resulting in an increasing frequency of algae blooms. The lake is characterized by a relatively small surface area (59,370 m²) with an average water depth of 7.7 m (see Figure SI-1 for lake bathymetry). The lake sediment is identified as sand-type soil, covered with a fluffy layer of organic matter resulting from an accumulation of detritus originating from primary production. The water and nutrient budgets are summarized in Table SI-1, with the detailed methodology on estimation of each source described in SI section 4. In short, this lake is isolated from any surface flows and fed by both groundwater and precipitation (respectively 47.8%

Chapter V

and 52.2%), resulting in a long residence time of ca. 1724 days. The background eutrophic level is high attributed to fertilizer application in the surrounding agriculture area, with especially high nitrogen loading (≈ 0.018 g N/m²/day), and phosphorus loading (≈ 0.45 mg P/m²/day). Given the fact that this lake is mainly regulated by the ground water state which is relatively stable over time within a time window of a year, for simplification, we assumed static water inflows and external nutrient loading as the forcing data for PCLake+. Wind fetch was calculated based on the measured wind speed and direction using an approach introduced in Janssen et al. (2017). We reduced the wind speed by half to account for the windbreak effects by the forests surrounding the study site (Jeong and Lee, 2020).

The ecosystem model PCLake+ used in this study was calibrated based on a generic lake dataset of primarily Dutch lakes (Janse et al., 2010). PCLake+ has a large set of parameters (>250), making overfitting the model a risk when subjecting it to site-specific calibration when data is not abundantly present. Hence, we rely on the generic calibration for our study and only adjust boundary conditions of the lake (i.e., depth, hydraulic and nutrient loads, climate forcing, wind fetch, etc., see Table SI-1).

We collected meteorological input data from the closest weather station of Netherlands Meteorological the Roval Institute (Herwijnen, https://www.knmidata.nl/) from 2011 as a reference year. FLake simulation suggests that the lake is a dimictic lake undergoing thermal summer stratification (i.e., mixing depth \neq lake depth), which is confirmed by the measured depth profiles of water quality variables in the summer of 2014 (see Fig. SI-2), and occasional winter inverse stratification (Figure 2-a). Under a climate change scenario, the summer stratification was prolonged by more than two weeks, with an earlier on-set in spring and a postponed termination in autumn. Winter stratification however becomes much rarer with warmer temperature. A detailed description of the current ecosystem states can be found in SI section 2.

Chapter V



Figure 2. Model results validation. Panel a: predicted mixing depth dynamics by FLake under present climate and future climate. Panels (c-d): Comparison between observed and predicted water quality variables under current climate conditions. The predicted oxygen concentrations are plotted for both the epilimnion (_Epi), while a surface layer (_Surf) is plotted in the total nitrogen and Chlorophyll-a which models surface cyanobacterial accumulation.

We combined the field measurements from the period from 2003-2016 (see appendix B for dataset, combinedly shown in Figure 2 c-d & Figure SI-3), to valid the PCLake+ performance. A suite of water quality data was measured intermittently with water samples taken in the epilimnion, at ~50 cm below the water surface. We ran PCLake+ for a period of 30 years to reach equilibrium states which are no longer dependent on the initial states. The simulation results of the last year was used for validating if the model is able to capture the generic dynamics of the lake ecosystem. Without any calibration of the default model parameters, PCLake+ showed an overall adequate performance in capturing the generic water quality dynamics in the study lake, especially regarding timing of the onset and offset of summer peaks (see Figure 2, panels c-d). The statistical agreements between the simulation and observation data were evaluated on the coefficient of determination (R²) and Root Mean Square Deviation (RMSE). To exemplify, O₂: $R^2 = 0.36$, Root Mean RMSE = 2.04 mg/L; TN: $R^2 = 0.40$, RMSE = 0.71 mg/L; Tot-Chla: $R^2 = 0.44$, RMSE = 13.3 µg/L.

5.2.4 Scenario analysis

(1) <u>Restoration scenarios</u>: After validation of the model performances, we simulated different restoration scenarios that can potentially tackle the water quality deterioration in Lake De Omloop. Note that no real restoration has taken place in the lake to date. We evaluated two different types of restoration scenarios with respect to their impacts on the lake ecosystem states and subsequently ecosystem service provisioning. The restoration scenarios include a technology-based measure – phosphorus reduction, and a nature-based measure – wetland restoration. We undertook a bifurcation analysis of the validated model for the studied quarry lake, to study how the lake ecosystem responds to different levels of restoration intensities. For each level of restoration, the model output variables during summer period (day 150 to day 210) were averaged to represent the response of ecosystem states as well as ecosystem service provisioning.

Technology-based restoration scenarios exhibit variable effectiveness in P reduction (Zhan et al., 2022). We simulated the full spectrum of P reduction effectiveness ranging between 0% and 100% (with 7% increments), to investigate the impact of varying levels of effectiveness on ecological states and subsequently ES provisioning. A P reduction of 0% represents the initial condition without restoration treatment, while a P reduction of 100% represents that the lake is devoid of phosphorus loading. A complete removal of phosphorus loading is not common in practice but theoretically can be achieved by technological approaches, for instance, through using a filtration system with P-binder pumping water thoroughly and repeatedly. Note that we assume technology-based measures solely reduce P without affecting nitrogen (N). This assumption is based on the fact that P is often the primary target element for most chemical adsorbents, though some engineering measures, such as dredging, target both P and N (Zhan et al., 2022).

In addition, we investigate the effectiveness of nature-based restoration scenarios in the form of purifying wetland creation. This was carried out via expansion of the wetland fraction in the model, a parameter representing the size of the wetland area relative to that of the lake area ranging between 0 and 100%. Several ecological processes are present in the wetland module: transport and settling of suspended solids, denitrification, nutrient uptake by marsh vegetation (increasing nutrient retention), and improvement of habitat conditions for predatory fish. The substances and process descriptions (mineralization, settling, P adsorption, nitrification and denitrification) are analogous to those in the lake model, except that

Chapter l

the water depth is much lower (default 0.5 m), settling velocities are higher due to the absence of wind action and resuspension is assumed to be zero. Phytoplankton is assumed not to grow in the shadow of the reed vegetation. Mixing between the water columns of the lake and the wetland is described by an exchange coefficient (representing both dispersive transport and transport due to water level changes) multiplied by the concentration difference. We explored the impacts of an increased coverage of wetland area ranging from 10% to 100% (relative to water surface area, with 5% increments). Theoretically, however, this value can go beyond 100%., representing a larger wetland area relative to that of the lake.

To assess the magnitude of restoration effects, we applied linear regression models to the scenario results. For ecosystem state indicators, we calculated a slope-to-intercept ratio (=slope/intercept, in %) as a standardized indicator metric for the magnitude of change in the ecosystem state variables in relation to their initial levels. For instance, a slope-to-intercept ratio of 100% or -100% indicates that, with 100% increments in restoration intensity, the response variable is increased or decreased by 100%, respectively, compared to their initial states without restoration. As for ecosystem services provisioning that are scaled and ranging between 0-1, we convert the slope into percentage as an indicator of the magnitude of the response. We reported the adjusted R-square of the regression model that corrects for the sample size effect (Thompson, 2007). An adjusted R-square value of 1 represented a linear relationship, whereas a value smaller than 1 indicates a non-linear relationship, validated by a visual inspection. All statistical analyses were performed in R language (Team, 2019b).

(2) Climate change: To evaluate the impacts of climate change on ecosystem states and subsequent service delivery, we followed the predictions of future climates scenarios for the Netherlands by KNMI (Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment; Attema et al. 2014). We implemented the climate scenario changes for the prediction of climate around 2050 under global warming and high changes in air circulation patterns, representing the "most extreme" scenario at that time. This scenario shows an increase in air temperature by 2.3 °C, an increase in precipitation by 5%, and an increase in solar radiation by 1.2%. These future climate conditions were first implemented in FLake for simulation of lake physics under climate change, from which the outputted mixing depth and water temperature vertical profile were used to force PCLake+ for prediction of lake ecology. To assess the magnitude of difference in ecosystem responses between two climate scenarios, we calculated an effect size metric using Hedges's g_s (Lakens, 2013). Effect size is regarded as a standardized metric which can be understood regardless of the scale of measured variables. For interpretation of effect sizes we followed adopted Hedges's g_s thresholds: no evidence ($|g_s| < 0.2$); weak ($|g_s| < 0.5$); moderate ($|g_s| < 0.8$) and strong ($|g_s| >= 0.8$) (Munthali et al., 2022; Thompson, 2007). We used *R* package *effsize* for the effect size calculations (Torchiano, 2016). For visualization of our results, we used a color-blind-friendly color palette following (Wong, 2011).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 The impacts of restoration scenarios on ecosystem state indicators

The responses of ecosystem state indicators and ecosystem service provisioning upon exposure to increasing restoration intensity are depicted in Figure 3 and 4, with statistics of regression analyses summarized in Table SI - 2 and 3, respectively. Overall, both P reduction and wetland restoration scenarios showed positive eutrophication control effects, with increased epilimnion oxygen concentrations (For P reduction: slope/intercept= 5%, adjusted R^2 = 0.98; For wetland restoration: slope/intercept = 2%, adjusted R^2 = 0.99), increased Secchi disc depths (For P reduction: slope/intercept = 64%, adjusted R^2 = 0.83; For wetland restoration: slope/intercept = 90%, adjusted R^2 = 0.98), and decreased cyanobacteria concentrations in upper layer (For P reduction: slope/intercept = -47%, adjusted R^2 = 1.00; For wetland restoration: slope/intercept = -43%, adjusted R^2 = 0.93). In addition, light conditions for macrophyte growth were improved, indicated by greatly increased critical depths (For P reduction: slope/intercept = 113%, adjusted R^2 = 0.98; For wetland restoration: slope/intercept = 129%, adjusted R^2 = 0.99).

Chapter l

Chapter V



Figure 3. The response of ecosystem state indicators to increasing intensity of a technical restoration (dark yellow) or a nature-based solution (green). The solid lines represent the current climate, while the dashed lines represent the future 2050 climate scenario.



Figure 4. The response of ecosystem state indicators to increasing intensity of a technical restoration (dark yellow) or a nature-based solution (green). The solid lines represent the current climate, while the dashed lines represent the future 2050 climate scenario.

However, improved light conditions by P reduction did not lead to increase in the total macrophyte density (helophyte in wetland zone + vegetation in lakes in g/m^2 : slope/intercept = -2%, adjusted R^2 = 1). In contrast, wetland restoration led to largely increased total macrophyte density (slope/intercept = 435%, adjusted R^2 = 0.96). Helophyte densities in wetland zone that are not light-limited showed a slight 113 decline in response to both measures (For P reduction: slope/intercept = -2%, adjusted $R^2 = 1.00$; For wetland restoration: slope/intercept = -5%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$). The total fish biomass was decreased upon exposure to both restoration scenarios (For P reduction: slope/intercept = -70%, adjusted $R^2 = 1.00$; For wetland restoration: slope/intercept = -62%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$).

5.3.2 The changes of ecosystem service delivery in response to restorations

In general, the restoration scenarios led to an increase in most ESs provisioning including macrophyte habitats (For P reduction: slope = 30%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$; For wetland restoration: slope= 57%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$), phosphorus sequestration (For P reduction: slope= 44%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.87$; For wetland restoration: slope = 60%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.76$), irrigation (For P reduction: slope = 21%, adjusted $R^2 = 1$; For wetland restoration: slope = 19%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.99$), and swimming (For P reduction: slope = 14%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$; For wetland restoration: slope = 16%, adjusted $R^2 = 0.96$).

However, two services decreased in response to restorations, namely bird watching (For P reduction: slope = -7%, adjusted R^2 = 0.88; For wetland restoration: slope = -2%, adjusted R^2 = 0.36) and fishing (For P reduction: slope = -30%, adjusted R^2 = 1.00; For wetland restoration: slope = -25%, adjusted R^2 = 0.92). These two measures are closely dependent on fish biomass, which are reduced by both restoration scenarios. While the P reduction measure showed no effect on nitrogen retention capabilities (For wetland restoration: slope coefficient = 0.25, intercept coefficient = 0.03, R^2 = 1.00, p < 0.001). For ESs that are dependent on macrophyte biomass, P reduction showed weak effects (For thatching: slope = -1%, adjusted R^2 = 1; For particle capture: slope = -1%, adjusted R^2 = 1), whereas wetland restoration showed positive effects (For thatching: slope = 9%, adjusted R^2 = 0.17; For particle capture: slope = 5%, adjusted R^2 = 0.12).

Most ESs responded non-linearly to the intensity of the restoration measures (see Figure 5), with the effects on ES being overall more pronounced at intensified interventions. For macrophyte habitat, the restoration effects were marginal until P reduction reached 50% or wetland coverage was larger than 30%. For nitrogen retention, a response was only found after the wetland coverage reaches ca. 30%. For phosphorus retention, P reduction showed increased effect with intensified interventions, whereas the wetland restoration effect declined with increased wetland coverage. Similar response patterns were found for swimming service under P reduction, where a positive response emerged only after P reduction of ca. 50-70%.



Figure 5. The responses of ecosystem service provisioning to P reduction (left panels) or wetland restoration (right panels). The solid lines represent the current climate, while the dashed lines represent the future 2050 climate conditions. Icons are in the same colors as the corresponding services for illustrative purpose.

Chapter V

5.3.3 Climate change impacts on ecosystem state indicators and ecosystem services provisioning

Under the 2050 Dutch climate change scenario (see dashed lines in Figure 3-4 for bifurcation analyses, and Figure 6 for the statistics of Hedges's g_s effect size test), eutrophication symptoms were reinforced with declined oxygen concentrations in both epilimnion (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s ; For wetland restoration: strong Hedges's g_s) and hypolimnion (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s), decreased Secchi disc depth (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s). Though the cyanobacteria chlorophyll-a in the upper layer (surface + epilimnion) showed negligible increase under future climate conditions (For P reduction: no evidence Hedges's g_s), the surface bloom showed a strong response (For P reduction: moderate Hedges's g_s ; For wetland restoration: strong Hedges's g_s), climate change showed a negative effect on macrophyte growth under P reduction scenarios (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s).

		Ecosyste	m state i	ndicators	5]		
	DO (mg/L)	Secchi depth (m)	Cyano- Chia (µg/L)	Fish density (g/m2)	Total macrophyte density (g/m2)	Critical depth for macrophyte (m)			
Phosphorus Reduction	-2.15	-1.32	0.06	0.21	-9.56	-0.48			
Wetland Restoration	-4.14	-1.42	0.16	0.29	-0.15	-0.27			
		(a)	Ecosys	tem serv	ices prov	isionina			
	Macrophyte	Phosphorus	Nitrogen	Irrigation	Swimming	Thatching	Bird watching	Fishing	Particle
Phosphorus Reduction	-0.63	-0.21		-0.04	-1.11	-6.9	-0.4	0.21	-8.16
Wetland Restoration	-0.24	0.17	-0.29	-0.16	-1.45	-0.06	-1.29	0.29	-0.05
Effect of climate	change	Hedge	s' a						
	Strong evide	nce g < -0	.8						
Decreasing	Moderate ev	idence -0.8 < g <	-0.8 < g < -0.5						
	Weak evider	-0.5 < g +	-0.2						
No effect	No evidence	-0.2 < g	< 0.2						
	Weak evider	nce 0.2 < g -	0.5						
Increasing	Moderate ev	idence 0.5 < g ·	0.8						
	Strong evide	nce g>0.	8						

Figure 6. Summary of effect size values using Hedges's g_s . DO = dissolved oxygen, Cyano- Chla = cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a. Strength of evidence takes the form of no, small, medium and large, with positive Hedges's g_s indicating an increase under future climate conditions and negative Hedges's g_s indicating a decrease. Note that DO here stands for epilimnion DO concentration, and cyano- Chla stands for cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a in the upper layer (surface + epilimnion). Statistics for hypolimnion DO and cyanobacterial chlorophyll-a in the surface layer can be found in Table SI-2.

The provisioning of almost all ESs was hampered under future climate conditions (see dashed lines in Figure 5 for bifurcation analyses), with the effect sizes varying among ESs and upon restoration scenarios (Figure 6). The service 'swimming' was vulnerable to climate change (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s ;

Process-based modeling for ecosystem service provisioning: Non-linear responses to restoration efforts in a quarry lake under climate change

For wetland restoration: weak Hedges's g_s). In contrast, the service 'fishing' showed limited improvement in suitability under 2050 Dutch climate conditions (For P reduction: weak Hedges's g_s ; For wetland restoration: weak Hedges's g_s). Relative to P reduction, wetland restoration was able to mitigate climate change impacts on macrophyte-related ESs, which includes macrophyte habitat (For P reduction: moderate Hedges's g_s ; For wetland restoration: weak Hedges's g_s), the availability of macrophytes for thatching (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s ; For wetland restoration: no evidence Hedges's g_s), and particle capture (For P reduction: strong Hedges's g_s ; For wetland restoration: no evidence Hedges's g_s).

5.4 Discussion

Our modeling framework enabled us to evaluate how the provision of nine ecosystem services in a quarry lake was impacted by a technology-based (phosphorus reduction) and a nature-based (wetland restoration) restoration scenario, under current and future climate scenarios. To this end, we provided an ecosystem service modeling approach that comprehensively incorporates complex ecosystem processes, filling what had been, to the best of our knowledge, a previously existing gap. Our results indicated that both types of restoration scenarios could mitigate eutrophication symptoms. However, the effectiveness of both restoration measures did not linearly increase with the restoration intensity. The ESs that require good water quality were improved, including swimming, irrigation and macrophyte habitat, whereas services requiring more productive systems were hampered (sport fishing and bird watching). Overall, climate change showed negative impacts on the provisioning of ESs.

5.4.1 The effectiveness of restoration scenarios on ES provisioning

The technology-based solution simulated in this study focused solely on phosphorus reduction, as phosphorus is the commonly targeted element in geoengineering approaches (e.g., through the application of lanthanum-modified bentonite). Solutions that also target N are available, such as dredging or some chemical amendments (Gibbs et al., 2011). In contrast, the nature-based solution, i.e., wetland restoration, in our simulation targeted both nitrogen and phosphorus simultaneously. Furthermore, it can also contribute to removal of organic materials, which not only consists of organic carbon, but also contains organic nutrients (Reinl et al., 2022).

The technology-based solution simulated was more effective at high degrees of intensity, suggesting a lagged system response to the reduction of phosphorus

Chapter l

loading. Such delayed system response could be attributed to the relatively high background nutrient loading and eutrophic state of this lake, suggested by the high internal loading measured from the lake sediments (1.35 mg $P/m^2/day$, see SI section 2). In lakes that are degraded for years, most of nutrients are locked in biological forms, which are less available for nutrient binding (Zhan et al., 2022). Moreover, the nutrients released from sediments will be brought into the upper water layer during wind mixing, which constantly charges the primary production (Schindler, 2006).

In contrast, wetland restoration showed an opposite relationship, i.e., decreased effectivity with larger wetland coverage. This is in contrast to previous studies on eutrophication control by wetland restoration suggesting that only a large percentage of wetland area led to a significant restoration effect (Janse et al., 2001; Sollie et al., 2008). However, these studies were carried out on shallow lakes. Deep lakes are inherently different due to their pronounced seasonal stratification and water column mixing (Wetzel, 2001). Deep lakes showed higher water column stability due to stratification (Crisman et al., 2005). A potential explanation of our contrasting results could be that deep systems tend to become less stable with increased wetland restoration, impairing the wetland restoration effectiveness.

Overall, our results revealed non-linear impacts by restoration scenarios on the ecosystem state indicators as well as on the provisioning of ecosystem services. These results hint at the existence of a threshold relationship between restoration efforts and societal benefits in the form of ecosystem services (Iwasa et al., 2007). In other words, incremental increases in restoration efforts do not translate into proportionate enhancements in the water quality or the provisioning of ecosystem services. Our modeling outcomes underscore the presence of an optimum level of restoration efforts, that produces the desired outcomes. Hence, river basin authorities and policy makers should be aware of such non-linear responses in their ecosystems and their services, and make use of tools such as the one presented here to better understand the optimal effort needed to reach desired outcomes.

5.4.2 Climate change impacts on ES delivery

We used FLake to provide a more explicit description of mixing regime and vertical water temperature, which was then used to force PCLake+ for predicting lake ecosystem dynamics under future climate conditions. The model performance was validated by comparing with observed water quality data under current climate condition. Note that we took a simplified approach to climate change in this study, focusing on direct impacts to the lake ecosystem itself. However, over the time span of restoration, compounding changes may also take place that are not considered in the model, from climatic impacts on the wider catchment, e.g., increased droughts,

land use change, increasing runoff, to changing nutrient loads and load ratios. The predicted impacts of climate change on eutrophication symptoms, including higher surface cyanobacteria biomass and lower water transparency, align with findings from earlier studies on climate change effects on freshwater ecology (Jeppesen et al., 2020; Nielsen et al., 2014). FLake predicted a prolonged summer stratification in 2050 climate scenario compared to the current climate conditions, which is in line with previous modeling studies (Feldbauer et al., 2022).

Our results indicate that climate change, overall, may have negative impacts on eutrophication control and ES provisioning, with the effects being more pronounced on the direct ecosystem state indicators than the ES provisioning. This supports the conclusion from previous studies (Zhan et al., 2022, 2021b) that an intensification of nutrient intervention measures could overcome the negative impacts by climate change. In other words, to acquire the same magnitude of eutrophication control or ES provisioning, higher intensities of restoration measures (both technicalbased and nature-based solutions) will be required under future climate conditions. Moreover, the Hedges's *g* effect size tests on climate change impacts showed that wetland restoration had overall lower effect size values, which indicates that naturebased solutions as restoration approach may offer greater potential for climateadaption and resilience of wetland ecosystems.

5.4.3 Strengths and future development possibilities of the ES modeling framework

By building an ecosystem service module into a modeling framework that incorporates complex physical and ecological processes, our approach was able to study the linkages between ecosystem states and ecosystem services in a more quantitative way, as a follow-up of the recommendations by previous studies (Janssen et al., 2021; Seelen et al., 2021a). Using our approach, managers can make more quantitative estimations of ES provisioning under different restoration scenarios, their effectiveness, and how they might evolve in the future.

Our results suggest a conflict between good water quality (low primary production and biomass) and high fishery production, as claimed in previous studies (Matsuzaki et al., 2018; Seelen et al., 2021a). By integrating multiple ESs into one framework, we were able to illustrate the contrasting requirements of ecosystem states by different services, thus studying possible trade-offs between ESs (Janssen et al., 2021).

Our ES modeling framework can pave the way for comprehensive costbenefit assessment between restoration scenarios. The monetary cost of wetland restoration was demonstrated by field applications to be higher over an order of magnitude than in-lake measures (Huser et al., 2016). In addition, nature-based 119

solutions such as wetland restoration have higher demands of space and time, which are usually limited in intensively populated urban areas (Cooke et al., 2018). Which measure to select requires a comprehensive evaluation of its effectiveness as well as economical cost. In this study, we studied the scenarios of two restoration measures individually in order to derive mechanistic understanding of their individual impacts. However, our modeling framework is capable of evaluating a mix of the two restoration measures to study their combined effects.

It is important to recognize that our modeling outcomes represent a knowledge-based estimation of how ecosystems might respond to the two restoration scenarios tested, built upon a set of assumptions such as an extended timeline for restoration to take effect. In practice, restoration effectiveness will depend on a combination of political, societal, economic and ecological factors. Our model offers managers and policy makers an evidence-based, first-order impact assessment from an ecological standpoint, highlighting potential benefits gained or lost in terms of ecosystem service provisioning due to an envisioned restoration scenario. Importantly, our model provides working hypotheses on restoration strategies that need to be validated by experimental approaches and/or observational data.

Our analysis is not exhaustive of all ecosystem services provided by freshwater lakes. It is limited by the ability to quantify ESs as well as the capabilities of PCLake+ of modeling the required ecosystem state indicators, being limited to water-based ecosystem services. In addition, the assessment of ES suitability often relies on people's perceptions and can vary across cultures (Pereira et al., 2020). For instance, people's perception of aquatic plants as nuisance is found to be dependent on their relation to the area, with visitors being less likely than residents to perceive macrophytes as a nuisance (Hussner et al., 2017). Seelen et al. (2019) survey data shows Europeans greatly underestimate their personal water use. To achieve a wider range of ecosystem services in our modeling framework, we envision expansions and improvements to the current model, such as making greenhouse gas fluxes explicit (Santos et al., 2022a) and utilizing our model across lake networks (Sven Teurlincx et al., 2019; van Wijk et al., 2022). Our modeling framework is designed to facilitate the incorporation of new and adjusted ecosystem services and is easy to modify. Importantly, making it open source allows for the synthesis of multidisciplinary knowledge required for ecosystem service assessment.

5.5 Conclusion

Incorporating an ecosystem service module into a modeling framework that considers complex physical and ecological processes has allowed us to explore the linkages between ecosystem states and ecosystem services in a quantitative manner. 120

Our study employed this framework to a quarry lake, and evaluated the impacts of two restoration scenarios on ecosystem state indicators and provisioning of ecosystem services (ESs) under current and 2050 climate scenarios, leading to several take-home messages:

- Our scenario analyses revealed non-linear relationships between the level of restoration intensity and the resulting outcomes of ecosystem service provisioning. Phosphorus reduction scenarios demonstrated increasing effectiveness with higher intensities, while the intensive wetland construction tended to exhibit decreasing effectiveness in the studied deep lake.
- 2. Both measures showed positive effects on ESs that requires good water quality, such as swimming, irrigation, and macrophyte habitat. However, they had negative effects on ESs that require more productive systems, such as fishing and bird watching.
- 3. Climate change had adverse impacts on the effectiveness of restoration measures regarding ecosystem state indicators and ESs provisioning. To achieve the same level of eutrophication control and ES provisioning, greater intensities of restoration measures (both technology-based and nature-based solutions) will be necessary under future climate conditions. Notably, our results indicate that nature-based restoration may display greater resilience to climate change, as evidenced by their overall weaker climate change effects.

Our ecosystem service modeling framework equips managers with the instruments to quantitatively estimate ES provisioning under various restoration scenarios, assess their effectiveness, and anticipate how the restoration impacts may evolve in the future. In conclusion, this framework is a valuable resource for decision-makers seeking optimal restoration strategies while considering the challenges posed by climate change.

Acknowledgement:

We thank Ronald Gylstra, Roel van der Veen and Arjen de Bruine from Waterboard Rivierenland for sharing their knowledge on "Put aan de Omloop" and for help in accessing their data. We thank Mireille van Tilborg-Damen (formerly municipality Altena) for sharing data and knowledge on ecosystem services demand. We thank Wiebe Lekkerkerk for his guidance in the calculation of water & nutrient balances. We are grateful for Shuiqing He for her suggestions on the artwork. QZ received funding from European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programmes Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 722518 (MANTEL ITN). In addition, QZ received funding from the Royal Dutch Academy of Science (KNAW). QZ, LdSD and ST received funding from European Union's H2020 DRYvER [Grant number: 869226]. LdSD and ST received funding from the Waterboard Rivierenland and Municipality Altena. TH received funding by WET HORIZONS GAP-101056848 (Horizon Europe).

Supplementary information:





Chapter VI- General Discussion

6.1 Recap of the main objectives and outline of the general synthesis

We have entered the Anthropocene, an era characterized by unprecedented human impacts on ecosystems, and these impacts are projected to escalate due to the growth of the world's population which is expected to peak in the mid-2080s (Lewis and Maslin, 2015; Steffen et al., 2011). Consequently, there is an increasing demand for ecosystem services across almost all types of ecosystems (Carpenter et al., 2009), leading to the degradation of various habitats, including freshwater ecosystems (Dodds et al., 2013). Another significant driver of ecosystem degradation is the ongoing climate warming since the 1950s, which is primarily attributed to human activities (likelihood > 95%) (Change, 2022). Climate change has been welldocumented as a critical factor contributing to water quality deterioration in aquatic ecosystems (Moss et al., 2011).

In response to these challenges, several aquatic ecosystem restoration measures have been developed and implemented (Waajen, 2017). However, uncertainties persist regarding the robustness of these measures in the face of climate change. In addressing this crucial question, I have followed a framework proposed in Chapter I, which integrates four key components of aquatic ecosystem restoration (Figure 6-1): environment pressures, ecosystem functions, ecosystem services, and restoration measures.

In Chapter II, we conducted a microcosm experiment to investigate the impacts of two climatic stressors on primary production and nutrient dynamics. Moving on to Chapter III, our focus was to evaluate the effectiveness of a widely used nutrient intervention measure, Lanthanum-modified Bentonite (LMB), when subjected to a heatwave. The experiment excluded primary producers, allowing me to focus on abiotic nutrient fluxes and greenhouse gas emissions at the water-sediment interface.

In Chapter IV, we evaluated four restoration measures, including LMB, to assess their efficacy in controlling eutrophication under the disturbance of a heatwave. For this experiment, the complete species assemblage is included, allowing me to investigate changes in ecosystem function within a more complex environmental setting.

In Chapter V, we developed an ecosystem service (ES) modeling framework to establish a semi-quantitative link between ecosystem functions and the provisioning of ecosystem services. Using this framework, I evaluated gradients of intensities for two restoration measures under both current and future climatic conditions.

Finally, in this chapter I synthesize the results from Chapter II, III, IV and V to address five themes essential for climate-robust aquatic ecosystem restoration:

- 1) The interactions of multiple environmental stressors on ecosystem functions: Synergistic vs. antagonistic effects;
- 2) The short-term and long-lasting impacts of extreme climatic events on ecosystems;
- 3) The effectiveness of restoration measures under the disturbance of extreme climatic events
- 4) Gaining insights into the mechanisms to make steps towards climate-robust water quality management;
- 5) Evaluating lake restoration success based on ecosystem service delivery.

Overall, my thesis aims to shed light on critical aspects of aquatic ecosystem restoration to better inform future management strategies in the face of the challenges of the Anthropocene.



Figure 6-1. Connections of Chapters to corresponding components in the framework (adapted from Figure 1-6 to align with the results of chapters).

6.1.1 The interactions of multiple environmental stressors on ecosystem functions: Synergistic vs. Antagonistic effects

In the Anthropocene, our freshwater ecosystems face the impact of multiple stressors, and their interactions play a critical role in determining the ultimate responses of these ecosystems (Christensen et al., 2006). Here, stressors refer to any natural or anthropogenic pressure that leads to measurable changes, be they positive or negative, in biological response. Piggott et al. (2015) categorized potential interactions among multiple stressors into four types: 1) two single stressor effects oppose each other, 2) act in the same direction, 3) when both stressors have no effect individually, and 4) when one single stressor has a significant effect and the other stressor does not have a significant effect. Côté et al. (2016) further refined the conceptualization of the interactions among ecosystem stressors (see Figure 6-2).



Figure 6-2. Conceptual model for illustration of interactions among multiple stressors from Côté et al. (2016). (a) Two stressors (A and B) impact a biological response in the same direction when acting separately. (b) Two stressors have opposing effects on a biological response.

In this thesis, I explored three types of climatic stressors: prolonged warming (Chapters II and V), extreme heatwayes (Chapters III and IV), and extreme precipitation (Chapter II). By applying nutrient intervention measures, we studied the re-oligotrophication process (Chapters III, IV and V). Our findings provide support for the notion that phytoplankton blooms thrive in warmer conditions (Paerl and Huisman, 2008), as evidenced by increased phytoplankton proliferations under both "press" conditions (prolonged warmer temperature in Chapters II and V) and "pulse" perturbations (heatwave exposures in Chapters II and IV) Additionally the results of Chapter II indicate that warmer temperatures favor cyanobacteria, consistent with some studies (S. Kosten et al., 2012; Lurling et al., 2018). However, in the mesocosm experiment conducted in an urban canal (Chapter IV), we did not observe a higher response in cyanobacteria biomass during the heatwave period in comparison to green algae and diatoms. Other studies have reported contrasting patterns where warming may lead to lower cyanobacteria abundance (Lürling et al., 2017b). S. Kosten et al. (2012) & Lurling et al. (2018) tested this hypothesis across 39 mesotrophic to hypertrophic lakes and found that 36% of the cases showed lower evanobacteria with elevated temperature. Overall, the relationship between warmer conditions and cvanobacteria dominance is not conclusive and may be species-dependent (Lurling et al., 2018), likely influenced by other factors such as seasonal temperature variations or food web structure (Urrutia-Cordero et al., 2020).

The impacts of extreme precipitation event are inconclusive, influenced by various interconnected factors. On one hand, extreme precipitation can have a negative effect on primary production: runoff pulses may result in a hydrological diluting effect on phytoplankton biomass (Wood et al., 2017), and runoff water with high suspended solids can increase turbidity, limiting light availability for phytoplankton growth (Feuchtmayr et al., 2019; Kasprzak et al., 2017; Morabito et al., 2018). Conversely, nutrient pulses introduced by runoff events may also stimulate primary productivity and lead to increased phytoplankton biomass (De Senerpont Domis et al., 2013; Zwart et al., 2017). Our findings from Chapter II suggest that under eutrophic conditions, the hydrological diluting effects resulting from the extreme precipitation event outweigh the positive effects induced by nutrient addition.

In Chapter II, the treatments exposed to an extreme precipitation event and warming revealed an antagonistic interaction, although this effect seemed to be transient, likely due to the short-term impact of extreme precipitation. In the modeling study of Chapter V, the effects of climate change on ecosystem states varied across nutrient pollution levels for some biological parameters, leading to both antagonistic and synergistic outcomes. For instance, the modeling results demonstrated a

hapter Vi

synergistic interaction between nutrient pollution and climate change on fish biomass. while an antagonistic interaction was observed on water transparency (as indicated by Secchi depth). Previous research has highlighted a mixture of antagonistic and synergistic interactions between climatic stressors, with phytoplankton communities showing diverse responses to various climate scenarios (Bergkemper et al., 2018; A. D. Richardson et al., 2019). A meta-analysis of multiple stressor studies on freshwater ecosystems by Jackson et al. (2016) revealed that antagonistic impacts were predominant (48%), followed by synergistic (28%), and additive interaction (16%). Given the high variability in the interaction effects of multiple stressors. I think it is crucial for future studies examining multiple stressors to consider geographical differences. Geographical variations can influence the nature, frequency, and severity of stressors (Donat et al., 2016). Incorporating regional projections will guide the selection of appropriate climate stressors to assess the likely pressures and responses of aquatic ecosystems, as demonstrated in Chapter II. Accordingly, the composition of run-off treatment in Chapter II was simulated based on real world conditions in lake De Omloop, which served as a case study for validating our model expansion in Chapter V. For the same reason, in the climate change scenario of Chapter V, we applied the Dutch climate change scenarios conducted by KNMI (Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute) to capture relevant regional impacts.

6.1.2 The short-term and long-lasting impacts of extreme climatic events on ecosystems

One of the prominent aspects of climate change is the increased intensification, frequency, and duration of extreme climatic events (ECEs) (Stott, 2016). Regional projections for the EU suggest more frequent and intense heatwave events (McGregor et al., 2005; Woolway et al., 2021), with higher temperature tracking an increase in higher intensity of precipitation events during summer (Klein Tank and Lenderink, 2009). Consequently, research on extreme climatic events has significantly increased (Easterling et al., 2000), accounting for one fifth of published papers on climate change research in 2006. ECEs studied in this thesis, i.e., extreme heatwaves (Chapters III and IV) and extreme precipitation events (Chapter II), are known for their sudden and short-term nature, raising questions about whether their impacts on ecosystems are also transient. (Van de Pol et al., 2017) identified three types of ecosystem responses to short-term pulse perturbations (see Figure 6-3): 1) short recovery, 2) long recovery (hysteresis), and 3) state change or regime shift. The findings from our experiments in Chapter II, III and IV can provide valuable insights into this question.



Chapter VI

Figure 6-3. Scenarios of biological response upon exposure to a climate extreme (Modified from Van de Pol et al. (2017).

The results of our experiment in Chapter II indicate that the extreme precipitation event had minimal and short-lived effects on the microcosm assemblage. The phytoplankton biomass showed a temporary change (see Figure 2-1 b in Chapter II), recovering before the end of the experiment. The increase in suspended solids following the runoff application was also short-lived. The increased nutrient availability due to runoff did not result in long-lasting effects, although redox-sensitive and organic P fractions, which account for a large proportion of the runoff sediment P pools, might take longer to mobilize than the duration of our three-week experiment (Reinl et al., 2022).

In Chapter III, the before and after heatwave experimental design (BACI; Smith et al., 1993) allowed us to investigate the post-disturbance recovery of biogeochemical processes, as opposed to with continuous warming effects studied in Chapters II and V. The heatwave-induced P releases persisted until the end of the three-week experiment. Additionally, long-lasting effects of the heatwave were evident in the measurements of dissolved greenhouse gasses throughout the experiment in Chapter III (Figure 6-4), with an increase in CO2-equivalent concentrations upon heatwave exposure, followed by partial recovery, but ultimately settling at a higher GHG equilibrium compared to pre-heatwave levels and control groups. This indicated a regime shift according to Van de Pol et al. (2017).

In the two-month experiment conducted in a eutrophic urban canal with a more complex and real-world environmental setting (Chapter IV), the heatwave negatively impacted the effectiveness of all tested measures. This led to increased nutrient releases, elevated phytoplankton biomass, and reduced water clarity compared to the pre-heatwave phase. Notably, the system did not fully recover from the heatwave impacts, further supporting the notion that the effects of heatwave may be long-lived rather than transient.

In conclusion, our results suggest that the impact of extreme precipitation on a eutrophic system is likely to be transient, as the effect of nutrient addition through runoff might be offset by the dilution effect of runoff (Chapter II). Conversely, the impacts of heatwaves on a eutrophic system appear to be more persistent, lasting for weeks or even months (Chapters III and VI). It is important to realize the potential role that the trophic state of the study system plays in how extreme climatic events unfold. For oligotrophic systems, runoff events may likely lead to increased phytoplankton productivity (Reinl et al., 2021). To gain a deeper understanding, further research should validate these mechanisms in more diverse environmental settings, utilizing approaches such as mesocosm infrastructure that allows greater control over physical conditions (e.g., project Aquacosm: https://www.aquacosm.eu/), and employing higher temporal resolution of measurements (e.g., automatic monitoring techniques; Marcé et al. 2016).



Figure 6-4. Principal response curve analysis (PRC; Paul J. Van den Brink and Braak, 1999) of the dynamics of CO2-equivalent over the course of the experiment in Chapter III. C-T in light green color: no nutrient intervention treatment + no heatwave treatment; C-HW in dark green color: no nutrient intervention + heatwave treatment; B-T in yellow color: Bentonite treatment + no heatwave treatment; LMB-T in light purple: LMB treatment + no heatwave treatment; The calculation of CO2-equivalent followed the equation:

CO2eq = 1/(1+21+310) * CO2+21/(1+21+310) * CH4+310/(1+21+310) * N2O

6.1.3 The effectiveness of restoration measures under the disturbance of extreme climatic events

The concept of ecosystem degradation leading to reduced resilience to environmental pressures has been a topic of discussion for some time (Holling, 1973; Scheffer et al., 2001). Scheffer et al. (2001) proposed the ball-in-valley model as a conceptual framework for ecosystem resilience (see Figure 6-5), wherein a desired ecosystem state is represented by a ball in a wider and deeper valley, signifying higher resilience to disturbances without transitioning to alternative states in neighboring valleys. A logical deduction of this theory would be that restoration of the degraded ecosystems can enhance their resilience to extreme climatic events disturbances (Standish et al., 2014).

Supporting evidence for this hypothesis includes studies such as Sheehan et al. (2021), which showed that rewilding of Protected Areas in Lyme Bay, United Kingdom, led to the enhanced recovery of reef assemblages after extreme storm disturbances, and Derolez et al. (2020), which showed increased resilience to anoxia crises after restoration in Thau lagoon upon heatwaves. Similarly, investigations into 132

Chapter l

the oligotrophication of freshwater ecosystems suggest increased resilience to climate change, characterized by reduced phytoplankton biomass (Cabrerizo et al., 2020a) and lower greenhouse gas emissions (Aben et al., 2017; Davidson et al., 2015a; Marotta et al., 2014; Peacock et al., 2019). However, disagreements also exist, such as a controlled experiment by Stelzer et al. (2022), which did not observe differences in the response of the chlorophyll-a levels between different eutrophication levels to pulse perturbation of the oxidant hydrogen peroxide. In this thesis, we explored whether restored ecosystems exhibit higher resilience to climatic stressors, specifically assessing whether restoration measures can mitigate the impacts of ECE perturbations. Drawing from a 55-year dataset of reservoir water quality and quantity variables, Munthali et al. (2022) suggested improved resilience of water quality related variables to ECEs following significant nutrient reduction.



Chapter VI

Figure 6-5. Ball-in-valley conceptual model for illustration of the relationship between ecosystem conditions and ecosystem resilience (Figure from Scheffer et al. 2001, p. 200). The stability landscapes depict the equilibria and their basins of attraction at five different conditions. Stable equilibria correspond to valleys; the unstable middle section of the folded equilibrium curve corresponds to a hill. If the size of the attraction basin is small, resilience is small and even a moderate perturbation may bring the system into the alternative basin of attraction.

Our experimental findings in Chapters III and IV demonstrated that our restoration measures, which involved intervening nutrient releases, effectively alleviated eutrophication symptoms. These measures led to decreased phosphorus (P) 133

releases, reduced primary producer biomass, increased oxygen levels, and improved transparency, consistent with previous studies (Janse, 2005; D. W. Schindler, 1974; Waajen, 2017). However, when examining the response of the restored systems to heatwave events, our initial hypothesis that restoration measures can mitigate the impacts of ECE perturbations did not seem to be supported. In Chapter III, the heatwave treatment resulted in a significant 11% increase in P concentration. In the eutrophic microcosms of Chapter III, no significant heatwave impacts were observed, likely due to the dramatic nutrient releases overshadowing the heatwave effects. Furthermore, in Chapter IV, we observed increases in N and P concentrations during the heatwave period, and our linear-mixed effect models did not show significant differences between restoration and control treatments.

Additionally, the measurements of dissolved greenhouse gas (GHG) concentrations and nitrogen also did not suggest an increased resilience of the system to heatwaves. This was evidenced by a similar increase in the GHG concentrations between the restoration and control groups upon heatwave exposure in Chapter III and non-significant differences in GHG levels by the end of the two-month experiment in Chapter IV. A study by Nijman et al. (2022) in an 18-month experiment vielded contrasting results, showing that LMB and dredging can reduce methane emissions over a longer timeframe, as they only observed significant effects in the second year from the start of the experiment. This discrepancy might be explained by the kinetics of P inactivation by LMB, which requires a certain time for all binding sites to be occupied (Dithmer et al., 2016a), especially in the presence of high DOC (Lurling et al., 2014), as was the case in our systems. However, the different results could also be attributed to difference in the foodweb structure between our experiments (Chapter III: exclusion of primary production, Chapter IV: presence of phytoplankton) and their study (Nijman et al., 2022). Therefore, their contrasting results do not dismiss our speculation that microbial activities for GHG emission are less likely to be limited by reducing C, N and P availability (Redfield, 1958). Moreover, the nitrogen measurements in Chapter III suggested a stimulated nitrification by the heatwave with increased ammonium loss and the accumulation of dissolved oxidized nitrogen species, regardless of the restoration measures. These nitrogen and GHG concentration dynamics further indicate that microbial processes like mineralization, nitrification and denitrification are more temperature-sensitive (de Klein et al., 2017; Veraart et al., 2011) and less likely to be nutrient-limited, at least over the course of months.

On the other hand, the opposite hypothesis could also be supported: heavily impacted systems may be more resistant to a change upon perturbation. For instance, a shallow lake mesocosm experiment by J. Richardson et al. (2019) revealed that

eutrophication treatments led to lower responses to heating compared to control groups. However, our experimental results in Chapters III and IV did not show any significant differences between restoration measures and control groups in their responses to the heatwaves. One potential explanation could be the under-dosing of our restoration measures, as discussed by Nijman et al. (2022). This speculation finds support in the modeling results of Chapter V, where we simulated a gradient of restoration intensities under current and future climate scenarios. We observed that negative climate change impacts on water quality became more pronounced relative to the current climate scenario along restoration intensities (evidenced by Secchi depth, Chl-a concentrations, fish biomass, and macrophyte). These results indicate that eutrophic systems might be less responsive to changes in climate conditions given their already advanced water quality deterioration, whereas oligotrophic aquatic ecosystems may be more sensitive to biogeochemical changes under climate change (Reinl et al., 2021). Nevertheless, our conclusions remain that the effectiveness of our restoration measures may be compromised under climate change, and an intensified restoration approach seems to be inevitable.

6.1.4 Evaluating lake restoration success based on ecosystem service delivery

In Chapter IV, our experimental results demonstrated the positive impacts of nutrient interventions on ecosystem functions, such as primary production and nutrient release. However, the implications of these changes in water quality parameters for human well-being may not be readily apparent to water managers and stakeholders, which hinders the effective evaluation of restoration measures (Seppelt et al., 2011). The concept of ecosystem service was adopted in Chapter V to address this limitation (Boyd and Banzhaf, 2007; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2012). In this chapter, we developed an ecosystem service modeling framework for lake ecosystems, following a threshold approach proposed by Seelen et al. (2021a). We expanded the ecosystem model - PCLake+ with an ecosystem service module, and we coupled it with a lake physics model - FLake to incorporate climate impacts. Our ES modeling tool contributes to addressing the poorly integrated water quality-related ecosystem services in the current ecosystem service modeling tools (Keeler et al., 2012).

While the mesocosm experiment in Chapter IV assessed the effects of one single dose of different types of nutrient interventions on eutrophication symptoms, our ES modeling framework in Chapter V allowed us to simulate a gradient of restoration intensities and evaluated their impacts on ecosystem service provisioning. Our ES framework demonstrated its capacity to study how stressors and system structure affect ecosystem services, providing valuable insights where knowledge is

scarce (Hering et al., 2010). The results revealed non-linear impacts of restoration measures on the ecosystem state indicators as well as on the ecosystem service provisioning, suggesting a threshold relationship between restoration efforts and societal benefits in the form of ecosystem services. As restoration intensity increased. most ecosystem services, such as swimming, P retention, and macrophyte habitat, showed improvement, while those requiring a more productive system, like sport fishing and bird watching, were impaired. The framework also showed its capacity to assess the contrasting water quality requirements of different ecosystem services, as suggested by Seelen et al. (2021a). However, there are limitations that need to be addressed in follow-up studies. Firstly, the analysis is not exhaustive of all ecosystem services provided by freshwater lakes. It is limited by the quantifiability of ESs as well as the capabilities of PCLake+ on modeling the required ecosystem state indicators, being limited to water-based ecosystem services. Secondly, the evaluation of ES suitability is often influenced by people's perception, which can vary culturally (Pereira et al., 2020). For instance, people's perception of aquatic plants as a nuisance is found to be dependent on their relation to the area, with visitors being less likely than residents to perceive macrophytes as a nuisance (Hussner et al., 2017). Seelen et al. (2019) showed that perception of water threats can differ between scientists and nonscientists, with climate change impacts often being perceived as "abstract" threats, or less tangible relative to threats like industrial pollution, sewage overflow etc. Different approaches may be needed to collect and model impacts of such perception differences. For example, Thiemer et al. (2023) used a Bayesian Belief Network to integrate people's perception of macrophytes as nuisance or not into decision-making on use of restoration measures. Their survey data suggested that residents are more likely to perceive macrophytes as nuisance in comparison to visitors.

Last but not least, the concept of ecosystem service has been criticized for its anthropocentric nature (Silvertown, 2015), tending to neglect other values of ecosystems. Inclusion of diverse ecosystem value perspectives in decision-making is crucial for adaptive management under climate change (Pereira et al., 2020). To address this, frameworks like the Nature Future Framework (NFF) have been proposed, recognizing three value perspectives: Nature for Society (Nature's benefits to people, e.g., ecosystem services), Nature as Culture (Living in harmony people one with nature) and Nature for Nature (Intrinsic value of nature, space allocated for nature). Kramer et al. (2023a) demonstrated that currently aquatic ecosystem models have a strong focus on Nature for Nature and to some extent Nature for Society perspectives, but do not capture Nature as Culture.

Notwithstanding these limitations, our ES modeling framework provides a more comprehensive understanding of the potential benefits and trade-offs of

napter V

restoration efforts, bridging the gap between ecological changes and their relevance for human well-being and decision-making processes. Additionally, it can contribute to improving the representation of freshwater ecosystems in global environmental assessment models (Environment, 2019; Potts et al., 2016). By describing restoration outcomes in the form of ecosystem services, water managers can better advocate for restoration efforts and work towards achieving the Water Framework Directive's aim of achieving 'good status' for all water bodies (with 47% of EU water bodies failing to meet the aim: Commission, 2012). To further promote the widespread use of our ES modeling framework, I envision expanding and improving the current model. This includes explicit modeling of greenhouse gas fluxes (Santos et al., 2022b), application of the model across lake networks (Kramer et al., 2023b; van Wijk et al., 2022), and incorporating the Dynamic Energy Budget principle for a more realistic representation of physiological processes (Troost et al., 2010). Importantly, our modeling framework is easily modifiable and open-source, allowing for the integration of multidisciplinary knowledge required for ecosystem service provisioning in diverse contexts.

6.2 Lake ecosystem modeling

Models are simplified representations of a lake ecosystem, with a series of mathematical equations describing the interrelations between water quality variables. They often carry a great deal of uncertainty, resulting from 1) model structure, where multiple equally valid representations of the system can exist; 2) uncertain parameter values that influence the model's behavior and outcomes; 3) uncertain initial states, which can impact the model's accuracy in predicting future states; and 4) observation errors, used for forcing, calibrating and validating the models against real-world data. There is a common question for every single model: "how truthful it is". For these kinds of questions. I often answer with a common aphorism by the statistician George Box: "all models are wrong, but some are useful" (Curchoe, 2020). I think there are two aspects of the "True or not", for one, models are only approximations of realworld, based on assumptions (whether implied or clearly stated). As a result, the truthfulness of a model cannot be unambiguously stated. On the other hand, it is debatable, from a philosophical point of view, whether a system is an entity that really exists, or whether it is a construct of the human mind to represent our mental conception (Descheemaeker et al., 2021). I would rather take away the "But" part, that "some models are useful". In this aspect, ecosystem modeling is a pragmatic approach that can help us to address real-world problems and increase our understanding of the functioning of the ecosystem. Thus, in Chapter V of this thesis,

I focused more on the questions "Is the model good enough for this particular application?" Lake models are intensively used in water management as they enable us to evaluate variable scenarios on our lake ecosystem states at whole lake scale, as it was used in Chapter V. Afterall, experiments at the whole-lake scale are only possible in a few cases (Pace et al., 2019), but not applicable in most of the cases.

6.3 Gaining insights into the mechanisms to make steps towards climate-robust water quality management

In Chapters III and IV, we investigated four commonly used restoration measures. Chapter III focused on a geoengineering technique called Lanthanummodified Bentonite (LMB), designed to immobilize phosphorus in sediments. Our results confirmed that the LMB's effect was a result of P inactivation (Haghseresht et al., 2009), showing no impact on nitrogen species. Bentonite-only treatment had no influence on P dynamics, underpinning that LMB's effect was not caused by a thin clay layer deposition on the sediment. This contrasts with the findings of Zamparas et al. (2012), who observed such a bentonite treatment effect in a shorter experiment (3h) with heavy mixing of the slurry with solution.

Chapter V

In Chapter IV, we extended our investigation to real-world conditions and examined three additional commonly-used nutrient intervention measures: sedimentdredging, iron-lime sludge (an iron-containing geoengineering compound) and aeration (artificial oxygenation). Among these measures, dredging and lanthanum modified bentonite exhibited the highest efficacy in controlling eutrophication. Interestingly, Lürling and Faassen (2012) suggest that combining these two measures could be more effective than using them individually. On the other hand, iron-lime sludge appeared less effective, likely due to reducing sediments hindering its ironbased P-binding capacity, consistent with findings from previous studies (Gächter and Müller, 2003). We also found that aeration, despite its widespread use, did not effectively control eutrophication in our shallow system (ca. 3m deep), likely due to air pumping enhancing sediment resuspension and nutrient release. Our results align with previous findings (Visser et al., 2016), supporting that aeration is only effective in deeper water systems. Our investigations in Chapter V, where we modelled the effects of wetland in controlling eutrophication, also revealed different responses between shallow and deep lakes. We observed decreased wetland purification effects with increased wetland coverage in our studied deep lake (7.7m), contrary to the findings of a previous modeling study on shallow lake (2m; Janse et al. 2001).

To summarize the interactions of these nutrient intervention measures with heatwaves (Chapters III and IV), we proposed a conceptual model (Figure 4-7 in Chapter IV). The model suggests that heatwaves lock nutrients in the biological P 138
loop, involving the exchange between labile P and organic P, while the P fraction in the chemical P loop decreases. As a consequence, the efficacy of chemical agents targeting P-reduction through chemical binding is hindered during heatwaves. This phenomenon of bloom-induced internal nutrient release was also observed in a case study in Lake Taihu, China (Kang et al., 2023). To counteract the negative impacts by climate change, we recommend two strategies: 1) Implement restoration measures outside of the high primary production season, and 2) consider harvesting phytoplankton biomass to break the biological nutrient cycles. To enhance the efficacy of mechanical harvesting, robotic techniques may be used, e.g., Seacleaner project uses robotics for harvesting coastal litters (https://seaclear-project.eu/).

Chapter V

Chapter VI

Chapter VI

Summary:

Our climate is getting more and more extreme, with increasing frequency as well as the intensity of extreme climatic events (ECEs). It remains a question if our current restoration efforts are still effective under climate change and other increasing anthropogenic pressures. In Chapters II, III and VI, I used controlled experiments to evaluate two ECEs, including heatwave and extreme precipitation events on the ecosystem functions (primary productivity), and their impacts on the effectiveness of different eutrophication control measures. In Chapter V, I used a modeling approach to investigate how the sustainable ecosystem service provisioning is impacted by alternative restoration and climate scenarios. During my PhD research, I have carried out various types of methodologies including controlled experiments and modeling approaches.

In Chapter II, my co-authors and I addressed the concerns regarding the combined effects of multiple, coinciding stressors on phytoplankton. Our results further support that higher water temperatures under eutrophic conditions will support larger phytoplankton biomasses, especially cyanobacteria. However, the extreme precipitation event had minimal and short-lived effects on the microcosm assemblage. Overall, the combined effect of the two climate stressors resulted in an interaction lesser than that of the individual stressors, i.e., the precipitation runoff event was not amplified by temperature.

In Chapters III and VI, my co-authors and I tested the heatwave impacts on the effectiveness of different restoration measures by the laboratory microcosm experiment and in situ mesocosm experiment, respectively. Our results suggested that the efficacy of the four tested measures was hampered by a heatwave. We speculate that the heatwave, through its accelerating impacts on biogeochemical processes, locked P pools in the biological loop, i.e., the exchange between labile P and organic P. As a consequence, the efficacy of P adsorbents is hampered due to reduced P pools in the chemical loop. Dredging and Lanthanum modified bentonite are more effective than iron-lime sludge in decreasing phytoplankton biomass and improving water clarity. Near-sediment aeration was not able to stimulate the iron trap in the sediment in shallow water systems. As intervention measures that only target SRP may likely take longer in inhibiting phytoplankton biomass during warmer periods, we recommend an application strategy before the growing season (autumn or early spring in temperate systems) when the biological P loop is less prominent relative to the chemical P loop. In addition, the experiments gave an indication of eutrophication control measures on GHG; we did not test reduction of GHG concentrations upon interventions

In Chapter V I developed an ecosystem service modeling framework in which I coupled a lake physic model with a lake ecosystem model, and the ecosystem model with an ecosystem service module. This is, to the best of our knowledge, for the first time that ecosystem service provisioning in lakes is quantitatively modelled based on the dynamics of water quality. This tool enables water managers to simulate alternative scenarios of eutrophication control measures and climate change impacts. Our scenario analyses indicate that: 1) The restoration measures showed non-linear impacts on the ecosystem state indicators as well as on the ecosystem services (ESs) provisioning. Phosphorus (P) reduction is more effective at high intensity, whereas wetland restoration showed a decreased effectiveness over intensity; 2) Both measures showed positive effects on ESs that requires good water quality, such as swimming, irrigation, and macrophyte habitat, but negative effects on ESs that require more productive systems (e.g., fishing and bird watches); 3) Climate change posed negative impacts to the effectiveness of restoration measures on ecosystem state indicators and ESs provisioning, an intensification of restoration measures will be needed under climate change.

List of publications

(Update: October 2023):

2023

- Michael F. Meyer*, Merritt E. Harlan*, Robert T. Hensley*, Qing Zhan*, Nahit S. Börekçi, Tuba Bucak, Alli N. Cramer, Johannes Feldbauer, Robert Ladwig, Jorrit P. Mesman, Isabella A. Oleksy, Rachel M. Pilla, Jacob A. Zwart, Elisa Calamita, Nicholas J. Gubbins, Mary E. Lofton, Daniel A. Maciel, Nicholas S. Marzolf, Freya Olsson, Audrey N. Thellman, R. Quinn Thomas, Michael J. Vlah (2023). Hacking Limnology Workshops and DSOS23: Growing a Workforce for the Nexus of Data Science, Open Science, and the Aquatic Sciences. Limnology and Oceanography Bulletin, https://doi.org/10.1002/lob.10607
- Qing Zhan*, Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis, Miquel Lürling, Rafael Marcé, Tom Heuts, Sven Teurlincx (2023). Process-based modeling for ecosystem service provisioning: Non-linear responses to restoration efforts in a quarry lake under climate change. Journal of Environmental Management, Volume 348, 119163 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.119163
- Margaret Armstrong*, Qing Zhan, Elias Munthali, Hui Jin, Sven Teurlincx, Piet Peters, Miquel Lürling, Lisette N. de Senerpont Domis* (2023). Stressors in a bottle: a microcosm study on phytoplankton assemblage response to extreme precipitation event under climate warming. *Freshwater Biology, Volume 68, Issue 8, https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.14109*

2022

- Margaret Armstrong*, Hazal Aksu Bahçeci, Ellen van Donk, Asmita Dubey, Thijs Frenken, Berte M Gebreyohanes Belay, Alena S Gsell, Tom S Heuts, Lilith Kramer, Miquel Lürling, Maarten Ouboter, Laura MS Seelen, Sven Teurlincx, Nandini Vasantha Raman, Qing Zhan, Lisette N de Senerpont Domis (2022). Making waves: Lessons learned from the COVID-19 anthropause in the Netherlands on urban aquatic ecosystem services provisioning and management. Water Research, 118934, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118934
- Kaitlin L Reinl*, Ted D Harris, Inge Elfferich, Ayooluwateso Coker, Zhan, Q, Lisette N De Senerpont Domis, Ana M Morales-Williams, Ruchi Bhattacharya, Hans-Peter Grossart, Rebecca L North, Jon N Sweetman (2022). The role of organic nutrients in structuring freshwater phytoplankton communities in a rapidly changing world. *Water Research*, 118573, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118573
- Zhan, Q.*, Teurlincx, S., van Herpen, F., Raman, N. V., Lürling, M., Waajen, G., & de Senerpont Domis, L. N. (2022). Towards climate-robust water quality management: Testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal. *Science of the Total Environment*, 828, [154421]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154421

2021

- Zhan, Q.*, Kong, X., & Rinke, K. (2021). High-frequency monitoring enables operational opportunities to reduce the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) load in Germany's largest drinking water reservoir. *Inland Waters*, *12*(2), 245-260. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1987796
- Reinl, K. L.*, Brookes, J. D., Carey, C. C., Harris, T. D., Ibelings, B., Morales-Williams, A. M., de Senerpont Domis, L., Atkins, K. S., Isles, P. D. F., Mesman, J. P., North, R. L., Rudstam, L. G., Stelzer, J. A. A., Venkiteswaran, J. J., Yokota, K., & Zhan, Q. (2021). Cyanobacterial blooms in oligotrophic lakes: Shifting the high-nutrient paradigm. *Freshwater Biology*, 66(9), 1846-1859. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13791
- Zhan, Q.*, Stratmann, C. N., van der Geest, H. G., Veraart, A. J., Brenzinger, K., Lürling, M., & de Senerpont Domis, L. N. (2021). Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme

heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions. *Biogeochemistry*, 156, 421-436. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-021-00854-z

 Musolff, A.*, Zhan, Q., Dupas, R., Minaudo, C., Fleckenstein, J. H., Rode, M., Dehaspe, J., & Rinke, K. (2021). Spatial and Temporal Variability in Concentration-Discharge Relationships at the Event Scale. *Water Resources Research*, *57*(10), [e2020WR029442]. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020WR029442

2019

 Kong, X.*, Zhan, Q., Boehrer, B., & Rinke, K. (2019). High frequency data provide new insights into evaluating and modeling nitrogen retention in reservoirs. *Water Research*, 166, [115017], https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.115017

* First author or co-first author, and/or correspondence author

About the author (关于作者):



我不得不承认,以下中文主要依赖谷歌翻译。我本想改善一下,结果 发现,我的中文不一定比它的好,于是作罢。。。回想一下,在中国以外生 活已经有7年多了,就让我原谅自己的语言吧。。。我不得不先澄清我下面的 一些故事片段带有一些灰色幽默(最起码是我的初衷),如有冒犯,请记住 你们是我生命中不可分割的一部分,本人充满感激之情!

我于 1994 年 11 月 27 日出生于中国湖北省黄石市。黄石市人口超过 200 万,我很惊讶它比阿姆斯特丹还大。虽然在中国以外,甚至在湖北省以外, 它不为人知。我童年的大部分时间都是在黄石度过的,直到高中,虽然由于 父母的生意,我多次在包括武汉及其周边地区在内的各个城市之间辗转。我 记得我的一位小学(花湖小学)班主任曾诙谐地抱怨过: "我们学校不是菜 市场,不能随意出入"。嗯,这是我至今仍记得来自老师为数不多的教导之 一。我的童年记忆充满了与我的伙伴和我的狗狗("飞虎")一起在大自然 中的冒险。飞虎在自然探险方面做得非常出色,提醒我们注意蛇等危险动物。 然而,他不太适应城市环境,导致了他的故事的悲伤结局……我希望我能更 好地懂得如何训练他。 2016年,德国世界杯那一年,我的初一(黄石十八中),我找到了一 个新伙伴——足球!无论我走到哪里,它都跟着我,直到现在。为了让我专 心上课,班主任和妈妈配合得很好,采取了"胡萝卜加大棒"的策略。我的 老师告诉我,如果我表现好并进入更好的高中,我会有更好的体育基础设施。 我彼时太年轻太天真居然相信他们。虽然高中有足球场,但你没有时间去踢 球。更重要的是妈妈的决心,有一次我离家抗议,结果难以忍受饥饿放弃 了……最终我向他们妥协,放弃了上体校的念头,参加了初中学业考试。

我高中就读于黄石市实验中学,在我们"小"城市也算是市重点高中。 高中时期是比较无聊甚至苦恼的,三年的时间都在准备一场考试——高考。 但有些片段难以忘记,比如·1)我的一位同班同学对班主任的评价·"也许 你在拯救我们的未来,但你却毁了我们的青春!"我忍不住为他的勇于直言 鼓掌。 2) 我必须在全班同学面前对课间踢足球进行自我批评。同时作为一名 足球迷和一名中国学生,我意识到我拿到了一个悲剧的剧本。3)另一个难忘 的经历是,我被班头的鼓励("挑衅")激发斗志,她说她要把我踢出"最 快班"。两个月之内,我就从稳定的倒数10名跃升至学校前10名。我仍然记 得我的老师们令人惊讶的面部表情,以及当你满足他们的期望时,他们的态 度会发生多么戏剧性的变化。突然,我的班头像对待她的儿子一样对待我, 邀请我夫她的办公室吃午饭 · · · · · 最终在高考中,我至少为自己取得了令人满 意的成绩(前5%),但对我妈妈来说却不是。我妈妈希望我重新学习并重新 参加高考,以取得和我姐姐一样好的成绩(前 0.3%)。我回复她: "妈妈, 每个人都说自己表现不好(甚至是我姐姐……),但你知道吗,我可以向你 保证,如果我重考,我只会表现更差,因为我不想重新经历地狱折磨!"显 然,我的决心阻止了她的想法,就像她对我的足球梦所做的那样。我的另一 个梦想(众多梦想中的一个)在高中时被打破,但这一次不是因为我亲爱的 妈妈。我梦想成为一名飞行员,像《壮志凌云》中的汤姆•克鲁斯一样酷。 不幸的是,我因为戴眼镜而没被选上。更让我觉得遗憾的是,它离我太近了: 我的同桌被选上了,并嘲笑我:"这就是为什么我晚自习过后不跟你们一起 去网吧"。那是我第一次真心地后悔迷恋电脑游戏。

选择大学我听从了喜欢历史的姐姐的建议,去了南京这座有着悠久历 史的城市。虽然我对历史一点兴趣都没有,但由于南京的足球氛围在中国比 较好,我在南京度过了美好的四年 -- 终于没有人能阻止我踢足球了。哦不对, 我是去那里上本科的……我在南京农业大学获得了学士学位。我选择"环境 科学"作为我的学士课程,因为它包含两个都吸引了我兴趣的术语。环境: 我在学校里听各种环境问题和污染耳朵已经听出茧了。与中国许多其他城市 一样,黄石是一个快速发展的城市,我亲眼目睹了我家前面的湖泊和植被区 域如何消失并被高楼大厦所取代。这些经历为我最大的抱负之一奠定了基础: 解决环境问题。科学:我相信科学产生的知识是解决每个问题的最终解决方 案。至于最后我对本科专业的印象,也许如一位同专业学长总结到:"当我 们选择环境科学这个专业时,我们想的是拯救世界;读完过后,发现需要被 拯救的是我们自己。"客观来说这个专业太广泛了,涵盖了从空气到土壤、 到水的一切,以至于最后你不知道自己到底能做什么。我的大多数本科同学 都转行了,完全放弃了环境科学,也许收入才是王道。回想我四年的本科生 涯,没有什么比为资源环境学院赢得第一个学院杯更令人难忘的了,尤其是 在上个赛季我担任队长时被大学队友做局之后。一个毕业学长教训道:永远 不要让你的命运掌握在别人手中。还有一件值得吹牛的事就是我跟随这个学 长组建的 TBS (江湖人称"特别帅")球队叱咤南京业余足球界。当你足够 强的时候,别人就做不了局了。。。

当我不知道本科毕业后该做什么时,我跟随我的朋友夫了一个关于在 德国攻读硕士学位的研讨会。我朋友是德国队的球迷。我很觉得出国看看是 什么样子并不是一个坏主意。我妈妈再次不同意,因为她认为我想出去踢足 球而不是学习。她说的没错,但这一次她无法阻止我,因为我的父亲经济上 支持我。我父亲年轻时就游历过中国,显然他把我出国旅行视为一种顺理成 章的升级。经过两年的德语准备和一些考试,我跟随 JJ 来到一个我没听说过 的德国城市马格德堡攻读硕士学位。相对于本科,在我的硕士学习期间,我 决定深专一个地球系统而不是啥都学。我发现土壤很重要, 但太静态(无意 冒犯陆地科学家),流体系统的动态性质对我更有吸引力。空中和海洋系统 虽然令人着迷,但过于庞大日超出人类控制范围(同样是那个愚昧无知的我 的个人观点)。在我看来,淡水生态系统是最理想的研究系统,具有足够的 活力,而且规模也不是太大,我们仍然可以对此做点什么。在我的硕士论文 中,我在 Dr Karsten Rinke 的指导下,研究了亥姆霍兹环境研究中心湖泊研究 部饮用水水库的水质动态。在那里作为论文学生和助理工作的一年多的时间 里,我加深了对科学的兴趣,并决定在完成硕士学位后攻读博士学位。除了 学习之外,我确实花了很多时间在足球上,我加入了当地的足球俱乐部 SV Arminia,并参加了 Landesklasse 联赛。当我在一个不到千人的小村庄遇到一 些"硬骨头"时,我意识到中国国家队只进过一次世界杯是有原因的。总的 来说,我在马格德堡度过了美好的三年,感谢 JJ、我的朋友们、同事们和队友们。

攻读博士学位的雄心使我来到了位于瓦赫宁根的荷兰生态研究所。瓦 赫宁根对我来说并不完全陌生,因为我之前有机会拜访了那里的一位朋友。 这座小城市引起了我的兴趣,由于其高度的国际化,在一些人中赢得了"欧 洲纽约"的绰号。当谈到我的博士学位时,我真的没有什么可抱怨的,我非 常幸运能够拥有最好的日常导师 - Prof. Dr Lisette de Senerpont Domis,她在专 业和个人方面为我提供了卓越的指导和支持。就我个人而言, 2012 年至 2016 年这四年可不是在公园里散步的四年。和很多人一样,我需要经历不同层面 的多重危机,这些危机深刻地影响了我的生活,也重塑了我对世界的看法。 但生活就像过山车, 永远不会完美。和在其他地方一样, 我遇到了朋友, 也 度过了美好/糟糕的时刻。我想总结一下我读博期间的美好的事情:比如遇见 SO,和Five、OO一起度过了难忘的两年多;获得博士学位,成为我大家族的 第一位博士生(可用来吹牛…);我不会有困难地介绍我来自哪里(武汉附 近…);但在我心中真正会留下的是与很多人在一起的无数美好回忆,它们 可能也会给你带来微笑,就像我现在所做的那样。当我反思这段旅程时,我 的心情复杂,尚未消化,但需要承认我生命的这一章已经结束(流泪是可以 原谅的)。

About the author in English:

I was born on November 27th, 1994 in Huangshi City, Hubei Province, China. Huangshi has a population of over 2 million, I am surprised it is even larger than Amsterdam. It is fairly unknown outside of China, and even beyond Hubei province. I spent most of my childhood in Huangshi until high school, though I temporarily moved among various cities including Wuhan and its surrounding, following my parents' business. I recall a humorous complaint from one of my Elementary school (Huahu Elementary school) head teachers: "Our school is not a vegetable market, you can't come and go just as you please". Well, that makes one of the few lessons from my teachers I can still remember until now. My childhood memories are filled with adventures in nature alongside my buddies and my dog, Feihu (meaning "flying tiger"). Feihu did an excellent job in nature adventure alerting us from dangerous animals like snakes. However, he struggled to adapt to the urban environment, leading to a sad end to his story...I wish I knew better how to train him. In the first year of my middle school (Huangshi No.18 Middle School) in 2016, the year of the Germany World Cup, I found a new buddy - soccer! It follows me everywhere I go, even until now. In order to let me concentrate on class, my headteacher collaborated quite well with my mom using a "carrot and stick" strategy. My teacher told me that I would have better infrastructure for sports if I perform well and go to a better high school. I was too young and too naive to believe him. Although you have a soccer playground in the high school, you won't have time to play. More importantly is my mom's determination. I failed in the leaving-home protest after one day because of hunger...I surrendered to them and quitted the idea of going to sports school, and prepared for the Academic Test for the Junior High School Students.

I went to the Huangshi Experimental Senior School for high school. It is not as good as the provincial key high school, but still a municipal key high school. The high school period was relatively boring and even distressing, the entire three years dedicated to preparing for one exam - The National College Entrance Examination ("gaokao"). I remember a few highlights: 1) A comment from one of my classmates to the headteacher: "Maybe you are saving our future, but you have ruined our youth!" I couldn't stop applauding for his bravery. 2) I had to make a self-criticism in front of all the classmates for playing soccer during the break. It is a tragedy of being a soccer fan and a Chinese student at the same time. 3) Another unforgettable experience is that I was triggered by my headteacher's encouragement ("provocation"), who stated she would kick me out of the "rocket" classroom, where students with the best performances were gathered. Within two months, I made a leap from the stable bottom 10 to the top 10 in the school. I still remember my teachers' surprising facial expressions and how dramatic their attitudes can change when you meet their expectations. Suddenly, my headteacher treated me like her son, inviting me to her office for lunch... Eventually in the gaokao, I achieved a satisfying performance for myself at least (top 5%), but not for my mom. My mom wanted me to restudy and retake the gaokao, to perform as good as my older sister (top 0.3%). I replied to her: "Mom, everyone says they didn't perform well (even my older sister...), but you know what, I can guarantee you I will only perform worse if I retake it because I do not want to re-go through hell!" Apparently, my determination stopped her from dreaming, just like what she did to my soccer dream. Another dream of mine (out of many) was broken during high school, but this time not because of my dear mom. I dreamed of being a pilot, as cool as Tom Cruise in "Top Gun". Unfortunately, I was deselected because of wearing glasses. More unfortunate is that it is so close to me: my classmate sitting next to me made it, and teased me: "That's why I didn't join you guys to the Internet Cafe after the Night self-learning". That was the first time I sincerely regretted playing too many computer games.

For my Bachelor, following my older sister's advice, who is a fan of history. I went to Naniing City, a city with a lot of history. Although I am not interested in history at all. I had a wonderful four years in Naniing because of its relatively good soccer atmosphere in China, and finally no one could stop me from playing soccer anymore. Actually, I went there to study... I did my Bachelor's in Nanjing Agricultural University. I chose "environmental science" as my bachelor programme because it consists of two terms that both attracted my interest. Environment: I have been overwhelmingly introduced to all kinds of environmental problems, pollutions throughout my schools. Huangshi is a fast-growing city like many other Chinese cities and I witnessed how the lake and vegetation area in front of my home disappeared and was replaced by high rise buildings. These experiences formed the basis for one of my strongest ambitions: to tackle the environmental problems. Science: it was just my belief that knowledge produced by science is the ultimate solution to every single problem. What I do remember about my Bachelor programm, maybe a comment from one of my college classmates: "When we chose this major in environmental science, we envisioned ourselves as saviors of the world. However, upon completing this program, we came to realize that we are the ones in need of saving." The program was too broad for me, covering everything from air to soil, to water, so that you don't know what you can do exactly. Most of my college classmates changed their career trajectories, moving away from environmental science entirely, probably it is clearer to follow money. Reflecting on my 4-year Bachelor's life, nothing is more memorable than winning the first College cup for our Resource and Environmental College, especially after being cheated by my university teammates in the previous season when I was captain. One lesson learned as told by a senior: never let your fate be in the hands of others. Another thing worth bragging about is that I joined the TBS (known as "super cool" in Jinaghu) team formed by this senior, and we dominated the Nanjing amateur football world. When you are strong enough, no one can stop you anymore...

When I did not know what to do after Bachelor, I followed my friend and went to a workshop about pursuing a Master's in Germany. My friend is a fan of the German soccer team. I found it is not a bad idea to go abroad and see what it looks like. My mom disagreed again as she thought I wanted to go out to play soccer rather than study. She is partly true, but she could not stop me this time, because my father supported me. My father traveled across China when he was young, apparently, he regarded my traveling abroad as a logical upscaling. After two-year of preparation for German and some exams, I followed JJ and ended up doing my masters in Magdeburg, a random city in Germany to me. During my master's studies, I wanted to focus on one of the Earth Systems to expand my efforts further. I found soil is important but too static (no offense to terrestrial scientists), the dynamic nature of fluid systems is more appealing to me. Air and marine systems, while fascinating, are too vast and beyond human control (again personal opinion at that age). Freshwater ecosystems appeared to me to be the most ideal study system, dynamic enough, and not too big that we can still do something about it. In my Master thesis, I worked on the water quality dynamics in a drinking water reservoir at Helmholtz-Centre for Environmental Research, in the Lake Research department, under supervision by Dr. Karsten Rinke. During the stay there for more than one year as a thesis student and working as an assistant, I deepened my interest in science and decided to pursue a PhD after completion of my master's degree. Besides the study, I indeed spent a lot of time on soccer, I joined a local soccer club, SV Arminia and played the Landesklasse liga. When I met some "hard bones" in a small village with a population less than thousand, I realized that there is a reason why the CN national team only qualified World Cup for one time. Overall, it was a nice three years for me living in Magdeburg, thanks to JJ, my friends, my colleagues, and my teammates.

The ambition of pursuing a PhD brought me to the Netherlands Institute of Ecology in Wageningen. Wageningen was not entirely unfamiliar to me, as I had the chance to visit a friend there before seeking my PhD. The small city piqued my interest, earning the nickname "EU New York" among some people due to its high international component. When it comes to my Ph.D. program, I truly have very little to complain about. I am incredibly fortunate to have had the best daily supervisor -Prof. dr. Lisette de Senerpont Domis, who provided me exceptional guidance and support both professionally and personally. On a personal level, these 4 years from 2012 to 2016 were no walk in the park. Just like many others, I needed to go through multiple crises at different levels, which deeply impacted my life and reshaped my perspective on the world. But life is a rollercoaster, and it is never perfect. As in any other place, I met friends and had good/bad moments. I want to summarize good things during my PhD trajectory: like meeting SO, having a memorable two years together with Five and QQ; Receiving my PhD degree, being the first doctor in my family (hopefully...); I won't have a challenge of introducing where I am from (nearby Wuhan); But what I really hope to leave out are the countless wonderful memories with you, which may bring a smile to your faces just like they do for me right now. As I reflect on this journey, it is with a mix of emotions that I have not digested yet but need to acknowledge this chapter of my life has come to an end (tears are fine).

Acknowledgement

First of all, I want to thank the many people who I forgot to acknowledge here below, I am sorry for that! I just want to let you know that interactions with you are composed of my unforgettable four-year PhD life!

Lisette: You have been my guiding light throughout this entire PhD journey. Without your exceptional support, both professionally and personally, I don't think I would have made it to this stage. I don't think I could be more fortunate than to have you as my daily supervisor and promotor.

Mike: Thank you for your thoughtful and sometimes critical feedback, which guaranteed the quality of our publications. And I also appreciate your support as my promotor on other aspects of my PhD.

Rafa: Thank you for co-supervising my PhD. I vividly recall my first MANTEL training school in Tartu, Estonia, where you introduced George Box's aphorism: "all models are wrong, but some can be useful", which has profoundly shaped how I approach modeling.

Sven: Thank you for your support in many of my chapters and research. Your previous works have laid a strong foundation for my PhD research, highlighting the importance of transferability of scientific outputs.

To all my co-authors in my thesis, including Maggie, Cleo, Elias, Hui, Piet, Harm, Annelies, Kristof, Frank, Nandini, Guido, Tom, Rafa, Sven, Mike, and Lisette: working with all of you has been an absolute pleasure, thank you for being collaborative.

To my paranymphs Annemieke and Berte: thanks for your support during the last phase of my PhD!

Annemieke: It is special that we have become colleagues at the beginning and the end of PhD, the circle is closed! Now it is your turn, best luck of persuading your PhD.

Berte: It is hard to work when you are there, because we can't stop those interesting conversations...Thank you!

Muhammud: Thank you! If it weren't you, I would not have known about the PhD position. I owe you dinner!

Jaap and Guido: thank you for your hosting during my secondment study at Brabantse Delta. And thank you Jaap for your tour visit to the Mark-Dintel-Vliet system. I 152

learned a lot from the interactions with you and colleagues at the water board. I hope you all the best in your career & life!

Jose: thank you for your warm hospitality during my short stay at IHCantabria! I wish you much success in your field of interest and all the best for your family.

To GLEON people: thank you, you have shown me that science can be both fun and impactful. The interactions within GLEON will undoubtedly shape my future approach to scientific collaboration.

Hui: Thank you, you've always been like a big brother, caring for others. I truly miss your presence at NIOO.

Dedmer: thank you for the conversations we had, and your valuable suggestions on career development. "Be proactive", I'll keep it in mind.

Maggie: Thank you for your guidance at the beginning which helped me a lot to familiarize myself with the PhD project, and thank you for the good times we shared, especially the dance you taught me (rotating body, I don't know the name...).

Manqi: Thank you for our conversations on science and other topics. "Delayed gratification", the concept I learned from you.

Nandini: thank you for the wonderful times we shared, especially those memorable multicultural dinners.

Asmita: it has been a pleasure sharing an office with someone as observant and caring as you. Thank you for being a wonderful colleague.

To my GVC buddies (Jort, Alex, and Alex, Narcis, Bouba, Baibing, and many), we had a lot of fun playing soccer together, I am grateful for the camaraderie we shared.

Alena and Vera: Because of Doudou we know each other much more. It is nice meeting you! Thank you for everything that you have done for Doudou, I wish you and Keke all the best!

Yanjie, Ana: thank you for taking care of Doudou from time to time!

Abao: Thank you for the good times we shared, wish you all the best!

Keli: Thank you and Feimi for taking care of QQ from time to time!

I want to express my gratitude to Shuiqing. You said "Life is like walking against streams, the further you travel, the more of yours is taken away", but I believe that

the memories will stay for a lifetime. Thank you and Five for being part of my journey and making it so memorable. I wish you all the best!

最后,我要拥抱下妈,爸和姐,我是我的出身和我的轨迹的产物,你们制作 了第一部分。In the end, I want to hug my mom, my father, and my older sister, I am a product of my origin and my track, you made the first part.

References:

- Aben, R.C., Barros, N., Van Donk, E., Frenken, T., Hilt, S., Kazanjian, G., Lamers, L.P., Peeters, E.T., Roelofs, J.G., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2017. Cross continental increase in methane ebullition under climate change. Nature communications 8, 1–8.
- Adámek, Z., Maršálek, B., 2013. Bioturbation of sediments by benthic macroinvertebrates and fish and its implication for pond ecosystems: a review. Aquaculture International 21, 1–17.
- Adrian, R., O'Reilly, C.M., Zagarese, H., Baines, S.B., Hessen, D.O., Keller, W., Livingstone, D.M., Sommaruga, R., Straile, D., Van Donk, E., 2009. Lakes as sentinels of climate change. Limnology and oceanography 54, 2283– 2297.
- Alex Elliott, J., Thackeray, S.J., Huntingford, C., Jones, R.G., 2005. Combining a regional climate model with a phytoplankton community model to predict future changes in phytoplankton in lakes. Freshwater Biology 50, 1404– 1411.
- Assessment, M.E., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: wetlands and water. World resources institute.
- Attema, J., Bakker, A., Beersma, J., Bessembinder, J., Boers, R., Brandsma, T., van den Brink, H., Drijfhout, S., Eskes, H., Haarsma, R., 2014. KNMI'14: Climate Change scenarios for the 21st Century–A Netherlands perspective. KNMI: De Bilt, The Netherlands.
- Babin, J., Prepas, E.E., Murphy, T.P., Serediak, M., Curtis, P.J., Zhang, Y., Chambers, P.A., 1994. Impact of Lime on Sediment Phosphorus Release in Hard water Lakes: the Case of Hypereutrophic Halfmoon Lake, Alberta. Lake and Reservoir Management 8, 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/07438149409354465
- Bartosiewicz, M., Laurion, I., Clayer, F., Maranger, R., 2016. Heat-Wave Effects on Oxygen, Nutrients, and Phytoplankton Can Alter Global Warming Potential of Gases Emitted from a Small Shallow Lake. Environ Sci Technol 50, 6267–6275. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b06312
- Bartosiewicz, M., Przytulska, A., Deshpande, B.N., Antoniades, D., Cortes, A., MacIntyre, S., Lehmann, M.F., Laurion, I., 2019. Effects of climate change and episodic heat events on cyanobacteria in a eutrophic polymictic lake. Science of the Total Environment 693, 133414.
- Beaulieu, Jake J, DelSontro, T., Downing, J.A., 2019. Eutrophication will increase methane emissions from lakes and impoundments during the 21st century.

Nature communications 10, 1375.

- Beaulieu, Jake J., DelSontro, T., Downing, J.A., 2019. Eutrophication will increase methane emissions from lakes and impoundments during the 21st century. Nat Commun 10, 1375. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09100-5
- Bender, E.A., Case, T.J., Gilpin, M.E., 1984. Perturbation experiments in community ecology: theory and practice. Ecology 65, 1–13.
- Bentzen, E., Taylor, W.D., Millard, E.S., 1992. The importance of dissolved organic phosphorus to phosphorus uptake by limnetic plankton. Limnology and Oceanography 37, 217–231.
- Bergen, T.J.H.M. van, Barros, N., Mendonça, R., Aben, R.C.H., Althuizen, I.H.J., Huszar, V., Lamers, L.P.M., Lürling, M., Roland, F., Kosten, S., 2019. Seasonal and diel variation in greenhouse gas emissions from an urban pond and its major drivers. Limnology and Oceanography 64, 2129–2139. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11173
- Bergkemper, V., Stadler, P., Weisse, T., 2018. Moderate weather extremes alter phytoplankton diversity—A microcosm study. Freshwater Biology 63, 1211–1224.
- Bergström, A.-K., Karlsson, J., 2019. Light and nutrient control phytoplankton biomass responses to global change in northern lakes. Global change biology 25, 2021–2029.
- Beutel, M.W., Horne, A.J., 1999. A review of the effects of hypolimnetic oxygenation on lake and reservoir water quality. Lake and Reservoir Management 15, 285–297.
- Beutel, M.W., Horne, A.J., Taylor, W.D., Losee, R.F., Whitney, R.D., 2008. Effects of oxygen and nitrate on nutrient release from profundal sediments of a large, oligo-mesotrophic reservoir, Lake Mathews, California. Lake and Reservoir Management 24, 18–29.
- Biesbroek, G.R., Swart, R.J., Carter, T.R., Cowan, C., Henrichs, T., Mela, H., Morecroft, M.D., Rey, D., 2010. Europe adapts to climate change: comparing national adaptation strategies. Global environmental change 20, 440–450.
- Biggs, J., von Fumetti, S., Kelly-Quinn, M., 2017. The importance of small waterbodies for biodiversity and ecosystem services: implications for policy makers. Hydrobiologia 793, 3–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-3007-0
- Bolund, P., Hunhammar, S., 1999. Ecosystem services in urban areas. Ecological economics 29, 293–301.
- Boström, B., 1984. Potential Mobility of Phosphorus in Different Types of Lake

Sediment. Internationale Revue der gesamten Hydrobiologie und Hydrographie 69, 457–474. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.19840690402

- Boyd, J., Banzhaf, S., 2007. What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. Ecological economics 63, 616–626.
- Boyer, J.N., Dailey, S.K., Gibson, P.J., Rogers, M.T., Mir-Gonzalez, D., 2006. The role of dissolved organic matter bioavailability in promoting phytoplankton blooms in Florida Bay. Hydrobiologia 569, 71–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-006-0123-2
- Bradshaw, A.D., 1996. Underlying principles of restoration. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53, 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1139/f95-265
- Brück, M., Abson, D.J., Fischer, J., Schultner, J., 2022. Broadening the scope of ecosystem services research: Disaggregation as a powerful concept for sustainable natural resource management. Ecosystem Services 53, 101399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2021.101399
- Bullock, J.M., Aronson, J., Newton, A.C., Pywell, R.F., Rey-Benayas, J.M., 2011. Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. Trends in ecology & evolution 26, 541–549.
- Burkett, V.R., Wilcox, D.A., Stottlemyer, R., Barrow, W., Fagre, D., Baron, J., Price, J., Nielsen, J.L., Allen, C.D., Peterson, D.L., Ruggerone, G., Doyle, T., 2005. Nonlinear dynamics in ecosystem response to climatic change: Case studies and policy implications. Ecological Complexity 2, 357–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2005.04.010
- Burkhard, B., Kroll, F., Nedkov, S., Müller, F., 2012. Mapping ecosystem service supply, demand and budgets. Ecological Indicators, Challenges of sustaining natural capital and ecosystem services 21, 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.06.019
- Burson, A., Stomp, M., Akil, L., Brussaard, C.P.D., Huisman, J., 2016. Unbalanced reduction of nutrient loads has created an offshore gradient from phosphorus to nitrogen limitation in the North Sea. Limnology and Oceanography 61, 869–888. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10257
- Cabrerizo, M.J., Álvarez-Manzaneda, M.I., León-Palmero, E., Guerrero-Jiménez, G., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., Teurlincx, S., González-Olalla, J.M., 2020a. Warming and CO2 effects under oligotrophication on temperate phytoplankton communities. Water Research 173, 115579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.115579
- Cabrerizo, M.J., Álvarez-Manzaneda, M.I., León-Palmero, E., Guerrero-Jiménez, G., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., Teurlincx, S., González-Olalla, J.M., 2020b.
 Warming and CO2 effects under oligotrophication on temperate

phytoplankton communities. Water Research 173, 115579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.115579

- Calderó-Pascual, M., de Eyto, E., Jennings, E., Dillane, M., Andersen, M.R., Kelly, S., Wilson, H.L., McCarthy, V., 2020. Effects of consecutive extreme weather events on a temperate dystrophic lake: A detailed insight into physical, chemical and biological responses. Water 12, 1411.
- Cao, X., Harris, W.G., Josan, M.S., Nair, V.D., 2007. Inhibition of calcium phosphate precipitation under environmentally-relevant conditions. Science of the total environment 383, 205–215.
- Carey, C.C., Ibelings, B.W., Hoffmann, E.P., Hamilton, D.P., Brookes, J.D., 2012. Eco-physiological adaptations that favour freshwater cyanobacteria in a changing climate. Water Research, Cyanobacteria: Impacts of climate change on occurrence, toxicity and water quality management 46, 1394– 1407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.12.016
- Carlson, R.E., 1977. A trophic state index for lakes 1. Limnology and oceanography 22, 361–369.
- Carpenter, S.R., 2008. Phosphorus control is critical to mitigating eutrophication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105, 11039–11040.
- Carpenter, S.R., Ludwig, D., Brock, W.A., 1999. Management of Eutrophication for Lakes Subject to Potentially Irreversible Change. Ecological Applications 9, 751–771. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1999)009[0751:MOEFLS]2.0.CO;2
- Carpenter, S.R., Mooney, H.A., Agard, J., Capistrano, D., DeFries, R.S., Díaz, S., Dietz, T., Duraiappah, A.K., Oteng-Yeboah, A., Pereira, H.M., Perrings, C., Reid, W.V., Sarukhan, J., Scholes, R.J., Whyte, A., 2009. Science for managing ecosystem services: Beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 1305–

1312. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808772106

- Cavalcante, H., Araújo, F., Noyma, N.P., Becker, V., 2018. Phosphorus fractionation in sediments of tropical semiarid reservoirs. Science of The Total Environment 619–620, 1022–1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.204
- Chang, M., Teurlincx, S., Janse, J.H., Paerl, H.W., Mooij, W.M., Janssen, A.B., 2020. Exploring how cyanobacterial traits affect nutrient loading thresholds in Shallow Lakes: a modeling approach. Water 12, 2467.
- Change, I.C., 2022. Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; Pörtner, H. O., Roberts, DC, Tignor, M., Poloczanska, ES,

Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., et al., Eds 3056.

- Change, I.C., 2014. impact. Adaptation and vulnerability, IPCC WGII AR5 summary for policymakers.
- Chausson, A., Turner, B., Seddon, D., Chabaneix, N., Girardin, C.A.J., Kapos, V., Key, I., Roe, D., Smith, A., Woroniecki, S., Seddon, N., 2020. Mapping the effectiveness of nature-based solutions for climate change adaptation. Global Change Biology 26, 6134–6155. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15310
- Chorus, I., Falconer, I.R., Salas, H.J., Bartram, J., 2000. Health risks caused by freshwater cyanobacteria in recreational waters. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health Part B: Critical Reviews 3, 323–347.
- Christensen, M.R., Graham, M.D., Vinebrooke, R.D., Findlay, D.L., Paterson, M.J., Turner, M.A., 2006. Multiple anthropogenic stressors cause ecological surprises in boreal lakes. Global Change Biology 12, 2316–2322. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01257.x
- Cobbaert, D., Wong, A., Bayley, S.E., 2014. Precipitation-induced alternative regime switches in shallow lakes of the Boreal Plains (Alberta, Canada). Ecosystems 17, 535–549.
- Commission, E., 2012. Report from the commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the implementation of the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) River Basin Management Plans. European Commission.
- Cook, J., Nuccitelli, D., Green, S.A., Richardson, M., Winkler, B., Painting, R., Way, R., Jacobs, P., Skuce, A., 2013. Quantifying the consensus on anthropogenic global warming in the scientific literature. Environ. Res. Lett. 8, 024024. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/024024
- Cooke, S.J., Rous, A.M., Donaldson, L.A., Taylor, J.J., Rytwinski, T., Prior, K.A., Smokorowski, K.E., Bennett, J.R., 2018. Evidence-based restoration in the Anthropocene—from acting with purpose to acting for impact. Restoration Ecology 26, 201–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12675
- Copetti, Diego, Finsterle, K., Marziali, L., Stefani, F., Tartari, G., Douglas, G., Reitzel, K., Spears, B.M., Winfield, I.J., Crosa, G., 2016. Eutrophication management in surface waters using lanthanum modified bentonite: a review. Water research 97, 162–174.
- Copetti, D., Finsterle, K., Marziali, L., Stefani, F., Tartari, G., Douglas, G., Reitzel, K., Spears, B.M., Winfield, I.J., Crosa, G., D'Haese, P., Yasseri, S., Lurling, M., 2016. Eutrophication management in surface waters using lanthanum modified bentonite: A review. Water Res 97, 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.11.056

- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P., van den Belt, M., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387, 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/387253a0
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Sutton, P., van der Ploeg, S., Anderson, S.J., Kubiszewski, I., Farber, S., Turner, R.K., 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Global Environmental Change 26, 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.04.002
- Côté, I.M., Darling, E.S., Brown, C.J., 2016. Interactions among ecosystem stressors and their importance in conservation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 283, 20152592. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2592
- Cotner, J.B., 2017. Nitrogen is not a 'House of Cards.' Environmental Science & Technology 51, 3–3.
- Cowell, B.C., Dawes, C.J., Gardiner, W.E., Scheda, S.M., 1987. The influence of whole lake aeration on the limnology of a hypereutrophic lake in central Florida. Hydrobiologia 148, 3–24.
- Crisman, T.L., Mitraki, C., Zalidis, G., 2005. Integrating vertical and horizontal approaches for management of shallow lakes and wetlands. Ecological Engineering, Wetland creation 24, 379–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2005.01.006
- Curchoe, C.L., 2020. All Models Are Wrong, but Some Are Useful. J Assist Reprod Genet 37, 2389–2391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-020-01895-3
- Davidson, T.A., Audet, J., Jeppesen, E., Landkildehus, F., Lauridsen, T.L., Søndergaard, M., Syväranta, J., 2018. Synergy between nutrients and warming enhances methane ebullition from experimental lakes. Nature Climate Change 8, 156–160. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-017-0063-z
- Davidson, T.A., Audet, J., Svenning, J.-C., Lauridsen, T.L., Søndergaard, M., Landkildehus, F., Larsen, S.E., Jeppesen, E., 2015a. Eutrophication effects on greenhouse gas fluxes from shallow-lake mesocosms override those of climate warming. Global Change Biology 21, 4449–4463. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13062
- Davidson, T.A., Audet, J., Svenning, J.-C., Lauridsen, T.L., Søndergaard, M., Landkildehus, F., Larsen, S.E., Jeppesen, E., 2015b. Eutrophication effects on greenhouse gas fluxes from shallow-lake mesocosms override those of climate warming. Global Change Biology 21, 4449–4463. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13062
- de Klein, J.J., Overbeek, C.C., Jørgensen, C.J., Veraart, A.J., 2017. Effect of temperature on oxygen profiles and denitrification rates in freshwater

sediments. Wetlands 37, 975-983.

- De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Elser, J.J., Gsell, A.S., Huszar, V.L., Ibelings, B.W., Jeppesen, E., Kosten, S., Mooij, W.M., Roland, F., Sommer, U., 2013. Plankton dynamics under different climatic conditions in space and time. Freshwater Biology 58, 463–482.
- De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Mooij, W.M., Huisman, J., 2007. Climate-induced shifts in an experimental phytoplankton community: a mechanistic approach, in: Shallow Lakes in a Changing World: Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Shallow Lakes, Held at Dalfsen, The Netherlands, 5–9 June 2005. Springer, pp. 403–413.
- de Vries, W., Erisman, J.W., Spranger, T., Stevens, C.J., van den Berg, L., 2011. Nitrogen as a threat to European terrestrial biodiversity. The European nitrogen assessment: sources, effects and policy perspectives 436–494.
- DelSontro, T., Beaulieu, J.J., Downing, J.A., 2018. Greenhouse gas emissions from lakes and impoundments: Upscaling in the face of global change. Limnology and Oceanography Letters 3, 64–75.
- Derolez, V., Malet, N., Fiandrino, A., Lagarde, F., Richard, M., Ouisse, V., Bec, B., Aliaume, C., 2020. Fifty years of ecological changes: Regime shifts and drivers in a coastal Mediterranean lagoon during oligotrophication. Science of The Total Environment 732, 139292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139292
- Descheemaeker, K., Reidsma, P., Schut, T., 2021. The Art of modeling.
- Dithmer, L., Nielsen, U.G., Lundberg, D., Reitzel, K., 2016a. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on the efficiency of P sequestration by a lanthanum modified clay. Water research 97, 39–46.
- Dithmer, L., Nielsen, U.G., Lundberg, D., Reitzel, K., 2016b. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on the efficiency of P sequestration by a lanthanum modified clay. Water research 97, 39–46.
- Dodds, W.K., Jones, R.D., 1987. Potential rates of nitrification and denitrification in an oligotrophic freshwater sediment system. Microb Ecol 14, 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02011574
- Dodds, W.K., Perkin, J.S., Gerken, J.E., 2013. Human Impact on Freshwater Ecosystem Services: A Global Perspective. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 9061–9068. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4021052
- Donat, M.G., Lowry, A.L., Alexander, L.V., O'Gorman, P.A., Maher, N., 2016. More extreme precipitation in the world's dry and wet regions. Nature Clim Change 6, 508–513. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2941
- Douglas, G.B., 2002. Remediation material and remediation process for sediments.

- Drabkova, M., 2007. Methods for control of the cyanobacterial blooms development in lakes. Masaryk University, Brno.
- Droop, M.R., 1974. The nutrient status of algal cells in continuous culture. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 54, 825–855. https://doi.org/10.1017/S002531540005760X
- Duc, N.T., Crill, P., Bastviken, D., 2010. Implications of temperature and sediment characteristics on methane formation and oxidation in lake sediments. Biogeochemistry 100, 185–196.
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D.J., Lévêque, C., Naiman, R.J., Prieur-Richard, A.-H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M.L., 2006. Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. Biological reviews 81, 163–182.
- Duraiappah, A.K., Naeem, S., Agardy, T., Ash, N.J., Cooper, D., Díaz, S., Faith, D.P., Mace, G., McNeely, J.A., Mooney, H.A., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: biodiversity synthesis.
- Easterling, D.R., Evans, J.L., Groisman, P.Y., Karl, T.R., Kunkel, K.E., Ambenje, P., 2000. Observed variability and trends in extreme climate events: a brief review. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 81, 417–426.
- Ekvall, M.K., de la Calle Martin, J., Faassen, E.J., Gustafsson, S., Lürling, M., Hansson, L.-A., 2013. Synergistic and species-specific effects of climate change and water colour on cyanobacterial toxicity and bloom formation. Freshwater Biology 58, 2414–2422.
- Environment, U.N., 2019. Global Environment Outlook—GEO-6: Healthy Planet, Healthy People.
- Epe, T.S., Finsterle, K., Yasseri, S., 2017. Nine years of phosphorus management with lanthanum modified bentonite (Phoslock) in a eutrophic, shallow swimming lake in Germany. Lake and Reservoir Management 33, 119–129.
- Faassen, E.J., Lürling, M., 2013. Occurrence of the microcystins MC-LW and MC-LF in Dutch surface waters and their contribution to total microcystin toxicity. Marine drugs 11, 2643–2654.
- Faivre, N., Fritz, M., Freitas, T., de Boissezon, B., Vandewoestijne, S., 2017. Nature-Based Solutions in the EU: Innovating with nature to address social, economic and environmental challenges. Environ. Res. 159, 509–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.08.032
- Feldbauer, J., Ladwig, R., Mesman, J.P., Moore, T.N., Zündorf, H., Berendonk, T.U., Petzoldt, T., 2022. Ensemble of models shows coherent response of a reservoir's stratification and ice cover to climate warming. Aquat Sci 84, 50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-022-00883-2

- Feuchtmayr, H., Pottinger, T.G., Moore, A., De Ville, M.M., Caillouet, L., Carter, H.T., Pereira, M.G., Maberly, S.C., 2019. Effects of brownification and warming on algal blooms, metabolism and higher trophic levels in productive shallow lake mesocosms. Science of the Total Environment 678, 227–238.
- Filiz, N., Işkın, U., Beklioğlu, M., Öğlü, B., Cao, Y., Davidson, T.A., Søndergaard, M., Lauridsen, T.L., Jeppesen, E., 2020. Phytoplankton community response to nutrients, temperatures, and a heat wave in shallow lakes: An experimental approach. Water 12, 3394.
- Föllmi, K.B., 1996. The phosphorus cycle, phosphogenesis and marine phosphaterich deposits. Earth-Science Reviews 40, 55–124.
- Fowler-Walker, M.J., Connell, S.D., 2002. Opposing states of subtidal habitat across temperate Australia: consistency and predictability in kelp canopy-benthic associations. Marine Ecology Progress Series 240, 49–56.
- Francy, D.S., Brady, A.M., Ecker, C.D., Graham, J.L., Stelzer, E.A., Struffolino, P., Dwyer, D.F., Loftin, K.A., 2016. Estimating microcystin levels at recreational sites in western Lake Erie and Ohio. Harmful algae 58, 23–34.
- Funes, A., Álvarez-Manzaneda, I., Arco, A.D., de Vicente, J., de Vicente, I., 2021. Evaluating the effect of CFH-12[®] and Phoslock[®] on phosphorus dynamics during anoxia and resuspension in shallow eutrophic lakes. Environmental Pollution 269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.116093
- Gächter, R., Müller, B., 2003. Why the phosphorus retention of lakes does not necessarily depend on the oxygen supply to their sediment surface. Limnology and Oceanography 48, 929–933. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2003.48.2.0929
- Gächter, R., Wehrli, B., 1998. Ten Years of Artificial Mixing and Oxygenation: No Effect on the Internal Phosphorus Loading of Two Eutrophic Lakes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 32, 3659–3665. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9804181
- Geurts, J.J.M., Smolders, A.J.P., Banach, A.M., van de Graaf, J.P.M., Roelofs, J.G.M., Lamers, L.P.M., 2010. The interaction between decomposition, net N and P mineralization and their mobilization to the surface water in fens. Water Research 44, 3487–3495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.03.030
- Ghasemi, A., Zahediasl, S., 2012a. Normality tests for statistical analysis: a guide for non-statisticians. International journal of endocrinology and metabolism 10, 486.
- Ghasemi, A., Zahediasl, S., 2012b. Normality tests for statistical analysis: a guide for non-statisticians. International journal of endocrinology and metabolism 10,

486.

- Giakoumis, T., Voulvoulis, N., 2018. The Transition of EU Water Policy Towards the Water Framework Directive's Integrated River Basin Management Paradigm. Environmental Management 62, 819–831. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-018-1080-z
- Gibbs, M., Hickey, C., Özkundakci, D., 2011. Sustainability assessment and comparison of efficacy of four P-inactivation agents for managing internal phosphorus loads in lakes: Sediment incubations. Hydrobiologia 658. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0477-3
- Golterman, H.L., 1997. The distribution of phosphate over iron-bound and calciumbound phosphate in stratified sediments. Hydrobiologia 364, 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003159924052
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., Alcorlo, P., Montes, C., 2011. Ecosystem services associated with a mosaic of alternative states in a Mediterranean wetland: case study of the Doñana marsh (southwestern Spain). Hydrological Sciences Journal 56, 1374–1387. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2011.631495
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., De Groot, R., Lomas, P.L., Montes, C., 2010. The history of ecosystem services in economic theory and practice: from early notions to markets and payment schemes. Ecological economics 69, 1209–1218.
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., Martín-López, B., Barton, D., Braat, L., Saarikoski, H., Kelemen, E., García-Llorente, M., van den Bergh, J., Arias, P., Berry, P., 2014. State-of-the-art report on integrated valuation of ecosystem services. EU FP7 OpenNESS Project Deliverable 4, 1–33.
- Gon Kim, J., Hyun Kim, J., Moon, H.-S., Chon, C.-M., Sung Ahn, J., 2002. Removal capacity of water plant alum sludge for phosphorus in aqueous solutions. Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability 14, 67–73.
- Graham, M.D., Vinebrooke, R.D., 2009. Extreme weather events alter planktonic communities in boreal lakes. Limnology and Oceanography 54, 2481–2492.
- Grizzetti, Bruna, Lanzanova, D., Liquete, C., Reynaud, A., Cardoso, A.C., 2016. Assessing water ecosystem services for water resource management. Environmental Science & Policy 61, 194–203.
- Grizzetti, B., Lanzanova, D., Liquete, C., Reynaud, A., Cardoso, A.C., 2016. Assessing water ecosystem services for water resource management. Environmental Science & Policy 61, 194–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2016.04.008
- Grizzetti, B., Liquete, C., Pistocchi, A., Vigiak, O., Zulian, G., Bouraoui, F., De Roo, A., Cardoso, A.C., 2019. Relationship between ecological condition and ecosystem services in European rivers, lakes and coastal waters. Science of

TheTotalEnvironment671,452–465.https://doi.org/10.1016/i.scitoteny.2019.03.155

- Grolemond, G., Wickman, H., 2011a. Dates and Times Made Easy with lubridate. J Stat Softw 40, 1–25.
- Grolemond, G., Wickman, H., 2011b. Dates and Times Made Easy with lubridate. J Stat Softw 40, 1–25.
- Gudasz, C., Bastviken, D., Steger, K., Premke, K., Sobek, S., Tranvik, L.J., 2010a. Temperature-controlled organic carbon mineralization in lake sediments. Nature 466, 478–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09186
- Gudasz, C., Bastviken, D., Steger, K., Premke, K., Sobek, S., Tranvik, L.J., 2010b. Temperature-controlled organic carbon mineralization in lake sediments. Nature 466, 478–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09186
- Guerry, A.D., Polasky, S., Lubchenco, J., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Daily, G.C., Griffin, R., Ruckelshaus, M., Bateman, I.J., Duraiappah, A., Elmqvist, T., Feldman, M.W., Folke, C., Hoekstra, J., Kareiva, P.M., Keeler, B.L., Li, S., McKenzie, E., Ouyang, Z., Reyers, B., Ricketts, T.H., Rockström, J., Tallis, H., Vira, B., 2015. Natural capital and ecosystem services informing decisions: From promise to practice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112, 7348–7355. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1503751112
- Haghseresht, F., Wang, S., Do, D.D., 2009. A novel lanthanum-modified bentonite, Phoslock, for phosphate removal from wastewaters. Applied Clay Science 46, 369–375.
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., 2012. Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES): Consultation on Version 4, August-December 2012 34.
- Halbedel, S., 2015. Protocol for CO2 sampling in waters by the use of the headspace equilibration technique, based on the simple gas equation; second update. https://doi.org/10.1038/protex.2015.085
- Hallegraeff, G.M., Anderson, D.M., Belin, C., Bottein, M.-Y.D., Bresnan, E., Chinain, M., Enevoldsen, H., Iwataki, M., Karlson, B., McKenzie, C.H., Sunesen, I., Pitcher, G.C., Provoost, P., Richardson, A., Schweibold, L., Tester, P.A., Trainer, V.L., Yñiguez, A.T., Zingone, A., 2021. Perceived global increase in algal blooms is attributable to intensified monitoring and emerging bloom impacts. Commun Earth Environ 2, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-021-00178-8
- Hansen, J., Ruedy, R., Sato, M., Lo, K., 2010. Global Surface Temperature Change. Reviews of Geophysics 48. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010RG000345

Hansson, L.-A., Nicolle, A., Granéli, W., Hallgren, P., Kritzberg, E., Persson, A.,

Björk, J., Nilsson, P.A., Brönmark, C., 2013. Food-chain length alters community responses to global change in aquatic systems. Nature Climate Change 3, 228–233.

- Harris, R.M., Beaumont, L.J., Vance, T.R., Tozer, C.R., Remenyi, T.A., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S.E., Mitchell, P.J., Nicotra, A.B., McGregor, S., Andrew, N.R., 2018. Biological responses to the press and pulse of climate trends and extreme events. Nature Climate Change 8, 579–587.
- Hering, D., Borja, A., Carstensen, J., Carvalho, L., Elliott, M., Feld, C.K., Heiskanen, A.-S., Johnson, R.K., Moe, J., Pont, D., Solheim, A.L., de Bund, W. van, 2010. The European Water Framework Directive at the age of 10: A critical review of the achievements with recommendations for the future. Science of The Total Environment 408, 4007–4019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.05.031
- Hernández-Romero, G., Álvarez-Martínez, J.M., Pérez-Silos, I., Silió-Calzada, A., Vieites, D.R., Barquín, J., 2022. From Forest Dynamics to Wetland Siltation in Mountainous Landscapes: A RS-Based Framework for Enhancing Erosion Control. Remote Sensing 14, 1864.
- Ho, J.C., Michalak, A.M., 2020. Exploring temperature and precipitation impacts on harmful algal blooms across continental U.S. lakes. Limnology and Oceanography 65, 992–1009. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11365
- Ho, J.C., Michalak, A.M., Pahlevan, N., 2019. Widespread global increase in intense lake phytoplankton blooms since the 1980s. Nature 574, 667–670. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1648-7
- Holling, C.S., 1973. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annual review of ecology and systematics 4, 1–23.
- Holtan, H., Kamp-Nielsen, L., Stuanes, A.O., 1988. Phosphorus in soil, water and sediment: an overview. Phosphorus in freshwater ecosystems 19–34.
- Hooper, D.U., Chapin III, F.S., Ewel, J.J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S., Lawton, J.H., Lodge, D.M., Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Schmid, B., Setälä, H., Symstad, A.J., Vandermeer, J., Wardle, D.A., 2005. Effects of Biodiversity on Ecosystem Functioning: A Consensus of Current Knowledge. Ecological Monographs 75, 3–35. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0922
- Horst, G.P., Sarnelle, O., White, J.D., Hamilton, S.K., Kaul, R.B., Bressie, J.D., 2014. Nitrogen availability increases the toxin quota of a harmful cyanobacterium, Microcystis aeruginosa. Water Research 54, 188–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.063
- Hosper, H., Meijer, M.-L., 1993. Biomanipulation, will it work for your lake? A simple test for the assessment of chances for clear water, following drastic

166

fish-stock reduction in shallow, eutrophic lakes. Ecological engineering 2, 63–72.

- Howarth, R.W., Marino, R., 2006. Nitrogen as the limiting nutrient for eutrophication in coastal marine ecosystems: evolving views over three decades. Limnology and Oceanography 51, 364–376.
- Huang, Q., Wang, Z., Wang, C., Wang, S., Jin, X., 2005. Phosphorus release in response to pH variation in the lake sedimentswith different ratios of ironbound P to calcium-bound P. Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability 17, 55– 61. https://doi.org/10.3184/095422905782774937
- Huang, Y., Zhang, H., Gao, R., Huang, X., Yu, X., Chen, X., 2018. Influence of light availability on the specific density, size and sinking loss of Anabaena flosaquae and Scenedesmus obliquus. Journal of Oceanology and Limnology 36, 1053–1062.
- Hupfer, M., Zak, D., Roβberg, R., Herzog, C., Pöthig, R., 2009. Evaluation of a wellestablished sequential phosphorus fractionation technique for use in calciterich lake sediments: identification and prevention of artifacts due to apatite formation. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 7, 399–410. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2009.7.399
- Huser, B.J., Futter, M., Lee, J.T., Perniel, M., 2016. In-lake measures for phosphorus control: The most feasible and cost-effective solution for long-term management of water quality in urban lakes. Water Res 97, 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.07.036
- Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M., Bakker, E.S., Grutters, B.M.C., Haury, J., Van Valkenburg, J., Brundu, G., Newman, J., Clayton, J.S., 2017. Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: a review. Aquatic Botany 136, 112–137.
- Ibelings, B.W., Portielje, R., Lammens, E.H.R.R., Noordhuis, R., van den Berg, M.S., Joosse, W., Meijer, M.L., 2007. Resilience of Alternative Stable States during the Recovery of Shallow Lakes from Eutrophication: Lake Veluwe as a Case Study. Ecosystems 10, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-006-9009-4
- Ilieva, V., Kondeva-Burdina, M., Georgieva, T., Pavlova, V., 2019. Toxicity of cyanobacteria. Organotropy of cyanotoxins and toxicodynamics of cyanotoxins by species. Pharmacia 66, 91–97. https://doi.org/10.3897/pharmacia.66.e37035
- Ippolito, J.A., Barbarick, K.A., Heil, D.M., Chandler, J.P., Redente, E.F., 2003. Phosphorus retention mechanisms of a water treatment residual. Journal of Environmental Quality 32, 1857–1864.

- Iwasa, Y., Uchida, T., Yokomizo, H., 2007. Nonlinear behavior of the socioeconomic dynamics for lake eutrophication control. Ecol. Econ. 63, 219– 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2006.11.003
- Jackson, M.C., Loewen, C.J., Vinebrooke, R.D., Chimimba, C.T., 2016. Net effects of multiple stressors in freshwater ecosystems: a meta-analysis. Global change biology 22, 180–189.
- Jan, J., Borovec, J., Kopáček, J., Hejzlar, J., 2015. Assessment of phosphorus associated with Fe and Al (hydr) oxides in sediments and soils. Journal of Soils and Sediments 15, 1620–1629.
- Jankowski, T., Livingstone, D.M., Bührer, H., Forster, R., Niederhauser, P., 2006. Consequences of the 2003 European heat wave for lake temperature profiles, thermal stability, and hypolimnetic oxygen depletion: Implications for a warmer world. Limnology and Oceanography 51, 815–819. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2006.51.2.0815
- Janse, J.H., 2005. Model studies on the eutrophication of shallow lakes and ditches. [publisher not identified], Wageningen.
- Janse, J.H., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Scheffer, M., Lijklema, L., Van Liere, L., Klinge, M., Mooij, W.M., 2008. Critical phosphorus loading of different types of shallow lakes and the consequences for management estimated with the ecosystem model PCLake. Limnologica 38, 203–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2008.06.001
- Janse, J.H., Ligtvoet, W., Van Tol, S., Bresser, A.H.M., 2001. A Model Study on the Role of Wetland Zones in Lake Eutrophication and Restoration. TheScientificWorldJOURNAL 1, 605–614. https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2001.350
- Janse, J.H., Scheffer, M., Lijklema, L., Van Liere, L., Sloot, J.S., Mooij, W.M., 2010. Estimating the critical phosphorus loading of shallow lakes with the ecosystem model PCLake: Sensitivity, calibration and uncertainty. Ecological modeling 221, 654–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2009.07.023
- Janssen, A.B.G., de Jager, V.C.L., Janse, J.H., Kong, X., Liu, S., Ye, Q., Mooij, W.M., 2017. Spatial identification of critical nutrient loads of large shallow lakes: Implications for Lake Taihu (China). Water Research 119, 276–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.04.045
- Janssen, A.B.G., Hilt, S., Kosten, S., de Klein, J.J.M., Paerl, H.W., Van de Waal, D.B., 2021. Shifting states, shifting services: Linking regime shifts to changes in ecosystem services of shallow lakes. Freshwater Biology 66, 1– 12. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13582

- Janssen, A.B.G., Teurlincx, S., Beusen, A.H.W., Huijbregts, M.A.J., Rost, J., Schipper, A.M., Seelen, L.M.S., Mooij, W.M., Janse, J.H., 2019. PCLake+: A process-based ecological model to assess the trophic state of stratified and non-stratified freshwater lakes worldwide. Ecological modeling 396, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2019.01.006
- Jennings, E., Jones, S., Arvola, L., Staehr, P.A., Gaiser, E., Jones, I.D., Weathers, K.C., Weyhenmeyer, G.A., CHIU, C.-Y., De Eyto, E., 2012. Effects of weather-related episodic events in lakes: an analysis based on highfrequency data. Freshwater Biology 57, 589–601.
- Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Beierkuhnlein, C., 2007. A new generation of climatechange experiments: events, not trends. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5, 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[365:ANGOCE]2.0.CO;2
- Jeong, S.-H., Lee, S.-H., 2020. Effects of windbreak Forest according to tree species and planting methods based on wind tunnel experiments. Forest Science and Technology 16, 188–194. https://doi.org/10.1080/21580103.2020.1823896
- Jeppesen, E., Audet, J., Davidson, T.A., Neif, É.M., Cao, Y., Filiz, N., Lauridsen, T.L., Larsen, S.E., Beklioğlu, M., Sh, T., Søndergaard, M., 2021. Nutrient Loading, Temperature and Heat Wave Effects on Nutrients, Oxygen and Metabolism in Shallow Lake Mesocosms Pre-Adapted for 11 Years. Water 13, 127. https://doi.org/10.3390/w13020127
- Jeppesen, E., Canfield, D.E., Bachmann, R.W., Søndergaard, M., Havens, K.E., Johansson, L.S., Lauridsen, T.L., Sh, T., Rutter, R.P., Warren, G., Ji, G., Hoyer, M.V., 2020. Toward predicting climate change effects on lakes: a comparison of 1656 shallow lakes from Florida and Denmark reveals substantial differences in nutrient dynamics, metabolism, trophic structure, and top-down control. Inland Waters 10, 197–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2020.1711681
- Jeppesen, E., Lauridsen, T., Mitchell, S.F., Burns, C.W., 1997. Do planktivorous fish structure the zooplankton communities in New Zealand lakes? New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 31, 163–173.
- Jeppesen, E., Søndergaard, M., Meerhoff, M., Lauridsen, T.L., Jensen, J.P., 2007. Shallow lake restoration by nutrient loading reduction—some recent findings and challenges ahead, in: Shallow Lakes in a Changing World. Springer, pp. 239–252.
- Joehnk, K.D., Huisman, J.E.F., Sharples, J., Sommeijer, B.E.N., Visser, P.M., Stroom, J.M., 2008. Summer heatwaves promote blooms of harmful cyanobacteria. Global change biology 14, 495–512.

- Jones, T.G., Evans, C.D., Freeman, C., 2016. The greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions associated with aquatic carbon removal during drinking water treatment. Aquat Sci 78, 561–572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-015-0458-8
- Kabisch, N., Frantzeskaki, N., Pauleit, S., Naumann, S., Davis, M., Artmann, M., Haase, D., Knapp, S., Korn, H., Stadler, J., Zaunberger, K., Bonn, A., 2016. Nature-based solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. Ecol. Soc. 21, 39. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08373-210239
- Kalff, J., Knoechel, R., 1978. Phytoplankton and their dynamics in oligotrophic and eutrophic lakes. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 9, 475–495.
- Kang, L., Mucci, M., Lürling, M., 2021. Influence of temperature and pH on phosphate removal efficiency of different sorbents used in lake restoration. Science of The Total Environment 151489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151489
- Kang, L., Zhu, G., Zhu, M., Xu, H., Zou, W., Xiao, M., Zhang, Y., Qin, B., 2023. Bloom-induced internal release controlling phosphorus dynamics in large shallow eutrophic Lake Taihu, China. Environmental Research 231, 116251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2023.116251
- Kasprzak, P., Shatwell, T., Gessner, M.O., Gonsiorczyk, T., Kirillin, G., Selmeczy, G., Padisák, J., Engelhardt, C., 2017. Extreme weather event triggers cascade towards extreme turbidity in a clear-water lake. Ecosystems 20, 1407–1420.
- Keeler, B.L., Polasky, S., Brauman, K.A., Johnson, K.A., Finlay, J.C., O'Neill, A., Kovacs, K., Dalzell, B., 2012. Linking water quality and well-being for improved assessment and valuation of ecosystem services. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 18619–18624.
- Kilham, S.S., Kreeger, D.A., Lynn, S.G., Goulden, C.E., Herrera, L., 1998. COMBO: a defined freshwater culture medium for algae and zooplankton. Hydrobiologia 377, 147–159.
- Kim, G., Jeong, W., Choi, S., Khim, J., 2007. Sand Capping for Controlling Phosphorus Release from Lake Sediments. Environmental Technology 28, 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593332808618801
- Kim, S., Dale, B.E., 2008. Effects of Nitrogen Fertilizer Application on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Economics of Corn Production. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 6028–6033. https://doi.org/10.1021/es800630d
- Kim, Y., Mannetti, L.M., Iwaniec, D.M., Grimm, N.B., Berbés-Blázquez, M., Markolf, S., 2021. Social, Ecological, and Technological Strategies for

Climate Adaptation, in: Hamstead, Z.A., Iwaniec, D.M., McPhearson, T., Berbés-Blázquez, M., Cook, E.M., Muñoz-Erickson, T.A. (Eds.), Resilient Urban Futures, The Urban Book Series. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 29–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-63131-4_3

- Kirillin, G., Hochschild, J., Mironov, D., Terzhevik, A., Golosov, S., Nützmann, G., 2011. FLake-Global: Online lake model with worldwide coverage. Environmental modeling & Software 26, 683–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2010.12.004
- Klein Tank, A.M.G., Lenderink, G., 2009. Climate change in the Netherlands; Supplements to the KNMI'06 scenarios. De Bilt, Koninklijk Nederlands Meteorologisch Instituut.
- Konopka, A., Brock, T.D., 1978. Effect of Temperature on Blue-Green Algae (Cyanobacteria) in Lake Mendota. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 36, 572–576.
- Koschorreck, M., Prairie, Y.T., Kim, J., Marcé, R., 2021. CO 2 is not like CH 4– limits of and corrections to the headspace method to analyse pCO 2 in fresh water. Biogeosciences 18, 1619–1627.
- Kosten, Sarian, Huszar, V.L., Bécares, E., Costa, L.S., van Donk, E., Hansson, L.-A., Jeppesen, E., Kruk, C., Lacerot, G., Mazzeo, N., 2012. Warmer climates boost cyanobacterial dominance in shallow lakes. Global Change Biology 18, 118–126.
- Kosten, S., Huszar, V.L.M., Becares, E., Costa, L.S., van Donk, E., Hansson, L.A., Jeppesenk, E., Kruk, C., Lacerot, G., Mazzeo, N., De Meester, L., Moss, B., Lurling, M., Noges, T., Romo, S., Scheffer, M., 2012. Warmer climates boost cyanobacterial dominance in shallow lakes. Global Change Biol 18, 118–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02488.x
- Kraal, P., Burton, E.D., Rose, A.L., Kocar, B.D., Lockhart, R.S., Grice, K., Bush, R.T., Tan, E., Webb, S.M., 2015. Sedimentary iron-phosphorus cycling under contrasting redox conditions in a eutrophic estuary. Chemical Geology 392, 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2014.11.006
- Kramer, L., Teurlincx, S., Rashleigh, B., Janssen, A.B.G., Janse, J.H., Brauman, K.A., Földesi, C., van Wijk, D., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., Patil, S.D., Rashidi, P., Hamel, P., Rising, J., Mooij, W.M., Kuiper, J.J., 2023a. New paths for modeling freshwater nature futures. Sustain Sci. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-023-01341-0
- Kramer, L., Troost, T.A., Janssen, A.B.G., Brederveld, R.J., van Gerven, L.P.A., van Wijk, D., Mooij, W.M., Teurlincx, S., 2023b. Connecting lakes: Modeling flows and interactions of organisms and matter throughout the waterscape. Environmental modeling & Software 167, 105765.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2023.105765

- Kueh, M.-T., Lin, C.-Y., 2020. The 2018 summer heatwaves over northwestern Europe and its extended-range prediction. Sci Rep 10, 19283. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76181-4
- Kull, C.A., de Sartre, X.A., Castro-Larranaga, M., 2015. The political ecology of ecosystem services. Geoforum 61, 122–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2015.03.004
- Lakens, D., 2013. Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: a practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. Frontiers in Psychology 4.
- Lassu, T., Seeger, M., Peters, P., Keesstra, S.D., 2015. The Wageningen rainfall simulator: Set-up and calibration of an indoor nozzle-type rainfall simulator for soil erosion studies. Land Degradation & Development 26, 604–612.
- Lee, Y.-K., Tan, H.-M., Hew, C.-S., 1985. The effect of growth temperature on the bioenergetics of photosynthetic algal cultures. Biotechnology and bioengineering 27, 555–561.
- Leemput, I.A. van de, Veraart, A.J., Dakos, V., Klein, J.J.M. de, Strous, M., Scheffer, M., 2011. Predicting microbial nitrogen pathways from basic principles. Environmental Microbiology 13, 1477–1487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02450.x
- Lei, Y., Song, B., Saakes, M., Van Der Weijden, R.D., Buisman, C.J., 2018. Interaction of calcium, phosphorus and natural organic matter in electrochemical recovery of phosphate. Water research 142, 10–17.
- Lewis Jr., W.M., Wurtsbaugh, W.A., 2008. Control of Lacustrine Phytoplankton by Nutrients: Erosion of the Phosphorus Paradigm. International Review of Hydrobiology 93, 446–465. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.200811065
- Lewis, S.C., King, A.D., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S.E., 2017. Defining a New Normal for Extremes in a Warming World. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 98, 1139–1151. https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-16-0183.1
- Lewis, S.L., Maslin, M.A., 2015. Defining the Anthropocene. Nature 519, 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14258
- Lewis, W.M., Wurtsbaugh, W.A., Paerl, H.W., 2011. Rationale for control of anthropogenic nitrogen and phosphorus to reduce eutrophication of inland waters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 10300–10305. https://doi.org/10.1021/es202401p
- Li, X., Zhang, Z., Xie, Q., Yang, R., Guan, T., Wu, D., 2019. Immobilization and Release Behavior of Phosphorus on Phoslock-Inactivated Sediment under Conditions Simulating the Photic Zone in Eutrophic Shallow Lakes.

Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 12449–12457. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b04093

- Li, Y., Shang, J., Zhang, C., Zhang, W., Niu, L., Wang, L., Zhang, H., 2021. The role of freshwater eutrophication in greenhouse gas emissions: A review. Science of The Total Environment 768, 144582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144582
- Lin, J., Qiu, P., Yan, X., Xiong, X., Jing, L., Wu, C., 2015. Effectiveness and Mode of Action of Calcium Nitrate and Phoslock® in Phosphorus Control in Contaminated Sediment, a Microcosm Study. Water Air Soil Pollut 226, 330. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-015-2590-4
- Lindstrom, M.J., Bates, D.M., 1988a. Newton—Raphson and EM algorithms for linear mixed-effects models for repeated-measures data. Journal of the American Statistical Association 83, 1014–1022.
- Lindstrom, M.J., Bates, D.M., 1988b. Newton—Raphson and EM algorithms for linear mixed-effects models for repeated-measures data. Journal of the American Statistical Association 83, 1014–1022.
- Lindstrom, M.J., Bates, D.M., 1988c. Newton—Raphson and EM Algorithms for Linear Mixed-Effects Models for Repeated-Measures Data. null 83, 1014– 1022. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1988.10478693
- Liu, D., Wang, P., Wei, G., Dong, W., Hui, F., 2013. Removal of algal blooms from freshwater by the coagulation-magnetic separation method. Environ Sci Pollut Res 20, 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-1052-4
- Lürling, M., Faassen, E.J., 2012. Controlling toxic cyanobacteria: Effects of dredging and phosphorus-binding clay on cyanobacteria and microcystins. Water Research, Cyanobacteria: Impacts of climate change on occurrence, toxicity and water quality management 46, 1447–1459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.11.008
- Lurling, M., Mackay, E., Reitzel, K., Spears, B.M., 2016. Editorial A critical perspective on geo-engineering for eutrophication management in lakes. Water Res 97, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.03.035
- Lürling, M., Mello, M.M. e, van Oosterhout, F., de Senerpont Domis, L., Marinho, M.M., 2018. Response of Natural Cyanobacteria and Algae Assemblages to a Nutrient Pulse and Elevated Temperature. Frontiers in Microbiology 9, 1851. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01851
- Lurling, M., Mello, M.M.E., van Oosterhout, F., Domis, L.D., Marinho, M.M., 2018. Response of Natural Cyanobacteria and Algae Assemblages to a Nutrient Pulse and Elevated Temperature. Front Microbiol 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01851

- Lürling, M., Mucci, M., 2020. Mitigating eutrophication nuisance: in-lake measures are becoming inevitable in eutrophic waters in the Netherlands. Hvdrobiologia. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-020-04297-9
- Lürling, M., Van Oosterhout, F., Faassen, E., 2017a. Eutrophication and warming boost cyanobacterial biomass and microcystins. Toxins 9, 64.
- Lürling, M., Van Oosterhout, F., Faassen, E., 2017b. Eutrophication and Warming Boost Cyanobacterial Biomass and Microcystins. Toxins 9, 64. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins9020064
- Lürling, M., Waajen, G., Engels, B., Oosterhout, F. van, 2017c. Effects of dredging and lanthanum-modified clay on water quality variables in an enclosure study in a hypertrophic pond. Water (Switzerland) 9, 380. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9060380
- Lurling, M., Waajen, G., van Oosterhout, F., 2014. Humic substances interfere with phosphate removal by lanthanum modified clay in controlling eutrophication. Water Res 54, 78–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.059
- Lürling, M., Waajen, G., van Oosterhout, F., 2014. Humic substances interfere with phosphate removal by lanthanum modified clay in controlling eutrophication. water research 54, 78–88.
- Lv, P., Luo, J., Zhuang, X., Zhang, D., Huang, Z., Bai, Z., 2017. Diversity of culturable aerobic denitrifying bacteria in the sediment, water and biofilms in Liangshui River of Beijing, China. Scientific Reports 7, 10032. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09556-9
- Madsen, H., Lawrence, D., Lang, M., Martinkova, M., Kjeldsen, T.R., 2014. Review of trend analysis and climate change projections of extreme precipitation and floods in Europe. Journal of Hydrology 519, 3634–3650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.11.003
- Magen, C., Lapham, L.L., Pohlman, J.W., Marshall, K., Bosman, S., Casso, M., Chanton, J.P., 2014. A simple headspace equilibration method for measuring dissolved methane. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 12, 637–650. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2014.12.637
- Marcé, R., George, G., Buscarinu, P., Deidda, M., Dunalska, J., de Eyto, E., Flaim,
 G., Grossart, H.-P., Istvanovics, V., Lenhardt, M., Moreno-Ostos, E.,
 Obrador, B., Ostrovsky, I., Pierson, D.C., Potužák, J., Poikane, S., Rinke,
 K., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., Staehr, P.A., Šumberová, K., Waajen, G.,
 Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Weathers, K.C., Zion, M., Ibelings, B.W., Jennings,
 E., 2016. Automatic High Frequency Monitoring for Improved Lake and
 Reservoir Management. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 10780–10794.
https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b01604

- Marchant, H.K., Ahmerkamp, S., Lavik, G., Tegetmeyer, H.E., Graf, J., Klatt, J.M., Holtappels, M., Walpersdorf, E., Kuypers, M.M., 2017. Denitrifying community in coastal sediments performs aerobic and anaerobic respiration simultaneously. The ISME journal 11, 1799–1812.
- Marotta, H., Pinho, L., Gudasz, C., Bastviken, D., Tranvik, L.J., Enrich-Prast, A., 2014. Greenhouse gas production in low-latitude lake sediments responds strongly to warming. Nature Climate Change 4, 467–470. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2222
- Matsuzaki, S.S., Suzuki, K., Kadoya, T., Nakagawa, M., Takamura, N., 2018. Bottom-up linkages between primary production, zooplankton, and fish in a shallow, hypereutrophic lake. Ecology 99, 2025–2036. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2414
- Matzinger, A., Schmid, M., Veljanoska-Sarafiloska, E., Patceva, S., Guseska, D., Wagner, B., Müller, B., Sturm, M., Wüest, A., 2007. Eutrophication of ancient Lake Ohrid: Global warming amplifies detrimental effects of increased nutrient inputs. Limnology and Oceanography 52, 338–353.
- McGregor, G.R., Ferro, C.A., Stephenson, D.B., 2005. Projected changes in extreme weather and climate events in Europe. Extreme weather events and public health responses 13–23.
- Mooij, W.M., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Hülsmann, S., 2008a. The impact of climate warming on water temperature, timing of hatching and young-ofthe-year growth of fish in shallow lakes in the Netherlands. Journal of Sea Research, Dynamics of Fish and Fishers 60, 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2008.03.002
- Mooij, W.M., Domis, L.N.D.S., Hülsmann, S., 2008b. The impact of climate warming on water temperature, timing of hatching and young-of-the-year growth of fish in shallow lakes in the Netherlands. Journal of Sea Research 60, 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2008.03.002
- Mooij, W.M., Janse, J.H., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Hülsmann, S., Ibelings, B.W., 2007. Predicting the effect of climate change on temperate shallow lakes with the ecosystem model PCLake, in: Shallow Lakes in a Changing World: Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Shallow Lakes, Held at Dalfsen, The Netherlands, 5–9 June 2005. Springer, pp. 443–454.
- Morabito, G., Rogora, M., Austoni, M., Ciampittiello, M., 2018. Could the extreme meteorological events in Lake Maggiore watershed determine a climatedriven eutrophication process? Hydrobiologia 824, 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3549-4

- Moss, B., Kosten, S., Meerhoff, M., Battarbee, R.W., Jeppesen, E., Mazzeo, N., Havens, K., Lacerot, G., Liu, Z., De Meester, L., 2011. Allied attack: climate change and eutrophication. Inland waters 1, 101–105.
- Mucci, M., Maliaka, V., Noyma, N.P., Marinho, M.M., Lürling, M., 2018. Assessment of possible solid-phase phosphate sorbents to mitigate eutrophication: Influence of pH and anoxia. Science of the Total Environment 619, 1431–1440.
- Müller, C., Laughlin, R.J., Spott, O., Rütting, T., 2014. Quantification of N2O emission pathways via a 15N tracing model. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 72, 44–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.01.013
- Munthali, E., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., Marcé, R., 2022. Drastic reduction of nutrient loading to a reservoir alters its resistance to impacts of extreme climatic events. Environmental Research Letters 17, 084007.
- Nelson, E., Mendoza, G., Regetz, J., Polasky, S., Tallis, H., Cameron, Dr., Chan, K.M., Daily, G.C., Goldstein, J., Kareiva, P.M., Lonsdorf, E., Naidoo, R., Ricketts, T.H., Shaw, Mr., 2009. Modeling multiple ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, commodity production, and tradeoffs at landscape scales. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7, 4–11. https://doi.org/10.1890/080023
- Nelson, E.J., Daily, G.C., 2010. modeling ecosystem services in terrestrial systems. F1000 Biol Rep 2, 53. https://doi.org/10.3410/B2-53
- Nielsen, A., Trolle, D., Bjerring, R., Søndergaard, M., Olesen, J.E., Janse, J.H., Mooij, W.M., Jeppesen, E., 2014. Effects of climate and nutrient load on the water quality of shallow lakes assessed through ensemble runs by PCLake. Ecological Applications 24, 1926–1944. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0790.1
- Nienhuis, P.H., Bakker, J.P., Grootjans, A.P., Gulati, R.D., de Jonge, V.N., 2002. The state of the art of aquatic and semi-aquatic ecological restoration projects in the Netherlands, in: Nienhuis, P.H., Gulati, R.D. (Eds.), Ecological Restoration of Aquatic and Semi-Aquatic Ecosystems in the Netherlands (NW Europe), Developments in Hydrobiology. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 219–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-1335-1 12
- Nijman, T.P.A., Lemmens, M., Lurling, M., Kosten, S., Welte, C., Veraart, A.J., 2022. Phosphorus control and dredging decrease methane emissions from shallow lakes. Science of The Total Environment 847, 157584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.157584
- Noble, A., Hassall, C., 2015. Poor ecological quality of urban ponds in northern England: causes and consequences. Urban Ecosystems 18, 649–662.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legen, P., McGlinn, D., R.

Minchin, P., Hara, R.B.O., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., 2019a. vegan: Community Ecology Package.

- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Wagner, H., 2019b. Package 'vegan.' Community ecology package, version 2, 1–295.
- Pace, M.L., Carpenter, S.R., Wilkinson, G.M., 2019. Long-term studies and reproducibility: Lessons from whole-lake experiments. Limnology and Oceanography 64, S22–S33.
- Paerl, H.W., Huisman, J., 2008. Blooms like it hot. Science 320, 57-58.
- Paerl, H.W., Paul, V.J., 2012. Climate change: Links to global expansion of harmful cyanobacteria. Water Research, Cyanobacteria: Impacts of climate change on occurrence, toxicity and water quality management 46, 1349–1363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.08.002
- Paerl, H.W., Scott, J.T., McCarthy, M.J., Newell, S.E., Gardner, W.S., Havens, K.E., Hoffman, D.K., Wilhelm, S.W., Wurtsbaugh, W.A., 2016. It Takes Two to Tango: When and Where Dual Nutrient (N & P) Reductions Are Needed to Protect Lakes and Downstream Ecosystems. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 10805–10813. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02575
- Palmer, M.A., Filoso, S., 2009. Restoration of Ecosystem Services for Environmental Markets. Science 325, 575–576. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1172976
- Parton, W.J., Holland, E.A., Grosso, S.J.D., Hartman, M.D., Martin, R.E., Mosier, A.R., Ojima, D.S., Schimel, D.S., 2001. Generalized model for NO x and N2O emissions from soils. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 106, 17403–17419. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JD900101
- Peacock, M., Audet, J., Jordan, S., Smeds, J., Wallin, M.B., 2019. Greenhouse gas emissions from urban ponds are driven by nutrient status and hydrology. Ecosphere 10, e02643. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2643
- Pereira, L.M., Davies, K.K., den Belder, E., Ferrier, S., Karlsson-Vinkhuyzen, S., Kim, H., Kuiper, J.J., Okayasu, S., Palomo, M.G., Pereira, H.M., Peterson, G., Sathyapalan, J., Schoolenberg, M., Alkemade, R., Carvalho Ribeiro, S., Greenaway, A., Hauck, J., King, N., Lazarova, T., Ravera, F., Chettri, N., Cheung, W.W.L., Hendriks, R.J.J., Kolomytsev, G., Leadley, P., Metzger, J.-P., Ninan, K.N., Pichs, R., Popp, A., Rondinini, C., Rosa, I., van Vuuren, D., Lundquist, C.J., 2020. Developing multiscale and integrative nature– people scenarios using the Nature Futures Framework. People and Nature 2, 1172–1195. https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10146
- Perga, M.-E., Bruel, R., Rodriguez, L., Guénand, Y., Bouffard, D., 2018. Storm impacts on alpine lakes: Antecedent weather conditions matter more than

the event intensity. Global Change Biology 24, 5004-5016.

- Piggott, J.J., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015. Reconceptualizing synergism and antagonism among multiple stressors. Ecology and Evolution 5, 1538– 1547. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1465
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., Team, R.C., 2019a. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., Team, R.C., 2019b. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models.
- Polasky, S., Nelson, E., Pennington, D., Johnson, K.A., 2011. The impact of land-use change on ecosystem services, biodiversity and returns to landowners: a case study in the state of Minnesota. Environmental and Resource Economics 48, 219–242.
- Potts, S.G., Ngo, H.T., Biesmeijer, J.C., Breeze, T.D., Dicks, L.V., Garibaldi, L.A., Hill, R., Settele, J., Vanbergen, A., 2016. The assessment report of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services on pollinators, pollination and food production.
- Prillaman, M., 2022. Are we in the Anthropocene? Geologists could define new epoch for Earth. Nature 613, 14–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-022-04428-3
- Psenner, R., Pucsko, R., Sage, M., 1984. Fractionation of Organic and Inorganic Phosphorus Compounds in Lake Sediments, An Attempt to Characterize Ecologically Important Fractions(Die Fraktionierung Organischer und Anorganischer Phosphorverbindungen von Sedimenten, Versuch einer Definition Okologisch Wichtiger Fraktionen). Archiv fur Hydrobiologie 1.
- Redfield, A.C., 1958. The biological control of chemical factors in the environment. American scientist 46, 230A–221.
- Reinl, K.L., Brookes, J.D., Carey, C.C., Harris, T.D., Ibelings, B.W., Morales-Williams, A.M., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Atkins, K.S., Isles, P.D., Mesman, J., 2021. Cyanobacterial blooms in oligotrophic lakes: Shifting the high-nutrient paradigm. Freshwater Biology.
- Reinl, K.L., Harris, T.D., Elfferich, I., Coker, A., Zhan, Q., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Morales-Williams, A.M., Bhattacharya, R., Grossart, H.-P., North, R.L., Sweetman, J.N., 2022. The role of organic nutrients in structuring freshwater phytoplankton communities in a rapidly changing world. Water Research 219, 118573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118573
- Remke, E., Lucassen, E., Smolders, F., 2018. Effectiveness of iron lime sludge column experiment (No. RP-18.018.18.79).
- Richardson, A.D., Hufkens, K., Li, X., Ault, T.R., 2019. Testing Hopkins'

Bioclimatic Law with PhenoCam data. Appl Plant Sci 7. https://doi.org/10.1002/aps3.1228

- Richardson, J., Feuchtmayr, H., Miller, C., Hunter, P.D., Maberly, S.C., Carvalho, L., 2019. Response of cyanobacteria and phytoplankton abundance to warming, extreme rainfall events and nutrient enrichment. Global Change Biology 25, 3365–3380. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14701
- Rickson, R.J., 2014. Can control of soil erosion mitigate water pollution by sediments? Science of The Total Environment 468–469, 1187–1197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.057
- Riegman, R., 1985. Phosphate-phytoplankton interactions (PhD Thesis). Universiteit van Amsterdam.
- Rolighed, J., Jeppesen, E., Søndergaard, M., Bjerring, R., Janse, J.H., Mooij, W.M., Trolle, D., 2016. Climate Change Will Make Recovery from Eutrophication More Difficult in Shallow Danish Lake Søbygaard. Water 8, 459. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100459
- Rosentreter, J.A., Borges, A.V., Deemer, B.R., Holgerson, M.A., Liu, S., Song, C., Melack, J., Raymond, P.A., Duarte, C.M., Allen, G.H., Olefeldt, D., Poulter, B., Battin, T.I., Eyre, B.D., 2021. Half of global methane emissions come from highly variable aquatic ecosystem sources. Nat. Geosci. 14, 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-021-00715-2
- Rysgaard, S., Risgaard-Petersen, N., Peter, S.N., Kim, J., Peter, N.L., 1994. Oxygen regulation of nitrification and denitrification in sediments. Limnology and Oceanography 39, 1643–1652. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1994.39.7.1643
- Salk, K.R., Venkiteswaran, J.J., Couture, R.-M., Higgins, S.N., Paterson, M.J., Schiff, S.L., 2022. Warming combined with experimental eutrophication intensifies lake phytoplankton blooms. Limnology and Oceanography 67, 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.11982
- Samaniego, L., Thober, S., Kumar, R., Wanders, N., Rakovec, O., Pan, M., Zink, M., Sheffield, J., Wood, E.F., Marx, A., 2018. Anthropogenic warming exacerbates European soil moisture droughts. Nature Climate Change 8, 421–426. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0138-5
- Santos, I.R., Hatje, V., Serrano, O., Bastviken, D., Krause-Jensen, D., 2022a. Carbon sequestration in aquatic ecosystems: Recent advances and challenges. Limnology and Oceanography 67, S1–S5. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.12268
- Santos, I.R., Hatje, V., Serrano, O., Bastviken, D., Krause-Jensen, D., 2022b. Carbon sequestration in aquatic ecosystems: Recent advances and challenges. Limnology and Oceanography 67, S1–S5.

https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.12268

- Scheffer, M., Carpenter, S., Foley, J.A., Folke, C., Walker, B., 2001. Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. Nature 413, 591–596. https://doi.org/10.1038/35098000
- Schindler, D.W., 2006. Recent advances in the understanding and management of eutrophication. Limnology and Oceanography 51, 356–363. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2006.51.1_part_2.0356
- Schindler, D.W., 1978. Factors regulating phytoplankton production and standing crop in the world's freshwaters. Limnology and Oceanography 23, 478–486. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1978.23.3.0478
- Schindler, D. W., 1974. Eutrophication and recovery in experimental lakes: implications for lake management. Science 184, 897–899. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.184.4139.897
- Schindler, David W, 1974. Eutrophication and recovery in experimental lakes: implications for lake management. Science 184, 897–899.
- Schindler, D.W., Carpenter, S.R., Chapra, S.C., Hecky, R.E., Orihel, D.M., 2016. Reducing Phosphorus to Curb Lake Eutrophication is a Success. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 8923–8929. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02204
- Schindler, D.W., Hecky, R.E., Findlay, D.L., Stainton, M.P., Parker, B.R., Paterson, M.J., Beaty, K.G., Lyng, M., Kasian, S.E.M., 2008. Eutrophication of lakes cannot be controlled by reducing nitrogen input: results of a 37-year wholeecosystem experiment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105, 11254–11258.
- Schulz, S., Matsuyama, H., Conrad, R., 1997. Temperature dependence of methane production from different precursors in a profundal sediment (Lake Constance). FEMS Microbiology Ecology 22, 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1997.tb00372.x
- Seddon, N., Chausson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C.A.J., Smith, A., Turner, B., 2020a. Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B-Biol. Sci. 375, 20190120. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0120
- Seddon, N., Chausson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C.A.J., Smith, A., Turner, B., 2020b. Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 375, 20190120. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0120
- Seelen, L.M.S., Flaim, G., Jennings, E., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2019. Saving water for the future: Public awareness of water usage and water quality.

Journal of Environmental Management 242, 246–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.04.047

- Seelen, L.M.S., Teurlincx, S., Armstrong, M.R., Lürling, M., van Donk, E., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2022. Serving many masters at once: a framework for assessing ecosystem services delivered by quarry lakes. Inland Waters 12, 121–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1944765
- Seelen, L.M.S., Teurlincx, S., Armstrong, M.R., Lürling, M., van Donk, E., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2021a. Serving many masters at once: a framework for assessing ecosystem services delivered by quarry lakes. Inland Waters 0, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1944765
- Seelen, L.M.S., Teurlincx, S., Bruinsma, J., Huijsmans, T.M.F., van Donk, E., Lürling, M., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2021b. The value of novel ecosystems: Disclosing the ecological quality of quarry lakes. Science of The Total Environment 769, 144294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144294
- Seitzinger, S., Harrison, J.A., Böhlke, J.K., Bouwman, A.F., Lowrance, R., Peterson, B., Tobias, C., Drecht, G.V., 2006. Denitrification across landscapes and waterscapes: a synthesis. Ecological applications 16, 2064–2090.
- Seppelt, R., Dormann, C.F., Eppink, F.V., Lautenbach, S., Schmidt, S., 2011. A quantitative review of ecosystem service studies: approaches, shortcomings and the road ahead. Journal of Applied Ecology 48, 630–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01952.x
- Sharma, R., 2012. Effects of Culture Conditions on Growth and Biochemical Profile of Chlorella Vulgaris. J Plant Pathol Microb 03. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7471.1000131
- Shatwell, T., Thiery, W., Kirillin, G., 2019. Future projections of temperature and mixing regime of European temperate lakes. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 23, 1533–1551. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-23-1533-2019
- Sheehan, E.V., Holmes, L.A., Davies, B.F.R., Cartwright, A., Rees, A., Attrill, M.J., 2021. Rewilding of Protected Areas Enhances Resilience of Marine Ecosystems to Extreme Climatic Events. Frontiers in Marine Science 8.
- Shi, P., Shen, H., Wang, W., Chen, W., Xie, P., 2015. The relationship between light intensity and nutrient uptake kinetics in six freshwater diatoms. Journal of Environmental Sciences 34, 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2015.03.003
- Shu, C.-H., Tsai, C.-C., Liao, W.-H., Chen, K.-Y., Huang, H.-C., 2012. Effects of light quality on the accumulation of oil in a mixed culture of Chlorella sp. and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Chemical Technology &

Biotechnology 87, 601-607. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2750

- Silvertown, J., 2015. Have Ecosystem Services Been Oversold? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 30, 641–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.08.007
- Sindelar, H.R., Brown, M.T., Boyer, T.H., 2015. Effects of natural organic matter on calcium and phosphorus co-precipitation. Chemosphere 138, 218–224.
- Sinha, E., Michalak, A.M., Balaji, V., 2017. Eutrophication will increase during the 21st century as a result of precipitation changes. Science 357, 405–408. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan2409
- Smith, E.P., Orvos, D.R., Cairns Jr., J., 1993. Impact Assessment Using the Before-After-Control-Impact (BACI) Model: Concerns and Comments. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50, 627–637. https://doi.org/10.1139/f93-072
- Smith, V.H., Joye, S.B., Howarth, R.W., 2006. Eutrophication of freshwater and marine ecosystems. Limnology and oceanography 51, 351–355.
- Smith, V.H., Schindler, D.W., 2009. Eutrophication science: where do we go from here? Trends in ecology & evolution 24, 201–207.
- Smith, V.H., Tilman, G.D., Nekola, J.C., 1999. Eutrophication: impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. Environmental pollution 100, 179–196.
- Smolders, A.J., Lucassen, E.C., Van Der Aalst, M., Lamers, L.P., Roelofs, J.G., 2008. Decreasing the abundance of Juncus effusus on former agricultural lands with noncalcareous sandy soils: possible effects of liming and soil removal. Restoration Ecology 16, 240–248.
- Sneller, F.E.C., Kalf, D.F., Weltje, L., Van Wezel, A.P., 2000. Maximum permissible concentrations and negligible concentrations for rare earth elements (REEs).
- Sollie, S., Janse, J.H., Mooij, W.M., Coops, H., Verhoeven, J.T.A., 2008. The Contribution of Marsh Zones to Water Quality in Dutch Shallow Lakes: A Modeling Study. Environmental Management 42, 1002–1016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-008-9121-7
- Søndergaard, M., Bjerring, R., Jeppesen, E., 2013. Persistent internal phosphorus loading during summer in shallow eutrophic lakes. Hydrobiologia 710, 95– 107.
- Spears, B.M., Mackay, E.B., Yasseri, S., Gunn, L.D.M., Waters, K.E., Andrews, C., Cole, S., De Ville, M., Kelly, A., Meis, S., Moore, A.L., Nurnberg, G.K., van Oosterhout, F., Pitt, J.A., Madgwick, G., Woods, H.J., Lurling, M., 2016. A meta-analysis of water quality and aquatic macrophyte responses in 18 lakes treated with lanthanum modified bentonite (Phoslock (R)). Water Res 97, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.08.020

Standish, R.J., Hobbs, R.J., Mayfield, M.M., Bestelmeyer, B.T., Suding, K.N.,

Battaglia, L.L., Eviner, V., Hawkes, C.V., Temperton, V.M., Cramer, V.A., Harris, J.A., Funk, J.L., Thomas, P.A., 2014. Resilience in ecology: Abstraction, distraction, or where the action is? Biological Conservation 177, 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.06.008

- Steffen, W., Persson, Å., Deutsch, L., Zalasiewicz, J., Williams, M., Richardson, K., Crumley, C., Crutzen, P., Folke, C., Gordon, L., Molina, M., Ramanathan, V., Rockström, J., Scheffer, M., Schellnhuber, H.J., Svedin, U., 2011. The Anthropocene: From Global Change to Planetary Stewardship. AMBIO 40, 739–761. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0185-x
- Stelzer, J.A.A., Mesman, J.P., Gsell, A.S., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., Visser, P.M., Adrian, R., Ibelings, B.W., 2022. Phytoplankton responses to repeated pulse perturbations imposed on a trend of increasing eutrophication. Ecology and Evolution 12, e8675. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8675
- Stocker, T., 2014. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis: Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge university press.
- Stockwell, J.D., Doubek, J.P., Adrian, R., Anneville, O., Carey, C.C., Carvalho, L., De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Dur, G., Frassl, M.A., Grossart, H.-P., 2020. Storm impacts on phytoplankton community dynamics in lakes. Global change biology 26, 2756–2784.
- Stott, P., 2016. How climate change affects extreme weather events. Science 352, 1517–1518. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf7271
- Sun, Y., De Vos, P., Heylen, K., 2016. Nitrous oxide emission by the nondenitrifying, nitrate ammonifier Bacillus licheniformis. BMC Genomics 17, 68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-2382-2
- Team, R.C., 2019a. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Team, R.C., 2019b. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Teurlincx, S., Kuiper, J.J., Hoevenaar, E.C.M., Lurling, M., Brederveld, R.J., Veraart, A.J., Janssen, A.B.G., Mooij, W.M., Domis, L.N.D., 2019. Towards restoring urban waters: understanding the main pressures. Curr Opin Env Sust 36, 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.10.011
- Teurlincx, Sven, van Wijk, D., Mooij, W.M., Kuiper, J.J., Huttunen, I., Brederveld, R.J., Chang, M., Janse, J.H., Woodward, B., Hu, F., Janssen, A.B., 2019. A perspective on water quality in connected systems: modeling feedback between upstream and downstream transport and local ecological processes. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, System dynamics and

sustainability 40, 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2019.07.004

- Thamdrup, B., Fleischer, S., 1998. Temperature dependence of oxygen respiration, nitrogen mineralization, and nitrification in Arctic sediments. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 15, 191–199. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame015191
- Theobald, E., 2018. Students Are Rarely Independent: When, Why, and How to Use Random Effects in Discipline-Based Education Research. LSE 17, rm2. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.17-12-0280
- Thiemer, K., Immerzeel, B., Schneider, S., Sebola, K., Coetzee, J., Baldo, M., Thiebaut, G., Hilt, S., Köhler, J., Harpenslager, S.F., 2023. Drivers of Perceived Nuisance Growth by Aquatic Plants. Environmental Management 1–13.
- Thinknature, Mesimäki, M., Lehvävirta, S., 2019. ThinkNature Nature-Based Solutions Handbook. European Union. https://doi.org/10.26225/jerv-w202
- Thompson, B., 2007. Effect sizes, confidence intervals, and confidence intervals for effect sizes. Psychology in the Schools 44, 423–432. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20234
- Thornton, J.A., 1987. Aspects of Eutrophication Management in Tropical/Sub-Tropical Regions. Journal of the Limnological Society of Southern Africa 13, 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/03779688.1987.9634541
- Torchiano, M., 2016. Effsize a package for efficient effect size computation. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1480624
- Trenberth, K.E., 2011. Changes in precipitation with climate change. Climate Research 47, 123–138. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00953
- Trenberth, K.E., Dai, A., van der Schrier, G., Jones, P.D., Barichivich, J., Briffa, K.R., Sheffield, J., 2014. Global warming and changes in drought. Nature Clim Change 4, 17–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2067
- Trevors, J.T., Starodub, M.E., 1987. Effect of oxygen concentration on denitrification in freshwater sediment. Journal of Basic Microbiology 27, 387–391. https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.3620270711
- Troost, T.A., Wijsman, J.W.M., Saraiva, S., Freitas, V., 2010. modeling shellfish growth with dynamic energy budget models: an application for cockles and mussels in the Oosterschelde (southwest Netherlands). Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365, 3567–3577.
- Tukey, J.W., 1949. Comparing individual means in the analysis of variance. Biometrics 99–114.
- Urrutia-Cordero, P., Zhang, H., Chaguaceda, F., Geng, H., Hansson, L.-A., 2020. Climate warming and heat waves alter harmful cyanobacterial blooms along the benthic–pelagic interface. Ecology 101, e03025.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3025

- Valencia Torres, A., Tiwari, C., Atkinson, S.F., 2021. Progress in ecosystem services research: A guide for scholars and practitioners. Ecosystem Services 49, 101267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2021.101267
- Van Buren, M.A., Watt, W.E., Marsalek, J., Anderson, B.C., 2000. Thermal enhancement of stormwater runoff by paved surfaces. Water Research 34, 1359–1371. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(99)00244-4
- Van de Pol, M., Jenouvrier, S., Cornelissen, J.H., Visser, M.E., 2017. Behavioural, ecological and evolutionary responses to extreme climatic events: challenges and directions. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 372, 20160134.
- Van den Brink, Paul J., Braak, C.J.T., 1999. Principal response curves: Analysis of time-dependent multivariate responses of biological community to stress. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 18, 138–148.
- Van den Brink, Paul J, Braak, C.J.T., 1999. Principal response curves: Analysis of time-dependent multivariate responses of biological community to stress. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 18, 138–148.
- Van Herpen, F., 2019. Blue-green algae in De Veste (No. BF5862-101–100). Royal HaskoningDHV.
- van Leeuwen, C.H.A., Temmink, R.J.M., Jin, H., Kahlert, Y., Robroek, B.J.M., Berg, M.P., Lamers, L.P.M., van den Akker, M., Posthoorn, R., Boosten, A., Olff, H., Bakker, E.S., 2021. Enhancing ecological integrity while preserving ecosystem services: Constructing soft-sediment islands in a shallow lake. Ecological Solutions and Evidence 2, e12098. https://doi.org/10.1002/2688-8319.12098
- van Wijk, D., Teurlincx, S., Brederveld, R.J., de Klein, J.J.M., Janssen, A.B.G., Kramer, L., van Gerven, L.P.A., Kroeze, C., Mooij, W.M., 2022. Smart Nutrient Retention Networks: a novel approach for nutrient conservation through water quality management. Inland Waters 12, 138–153. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2020.1870852
- Varjo, E., Liikanen, A., Salonen, V.-P., Martikainen, P.J., 2003. A new gypsumbased technique to reduce methane and phophorus release from sediments of eutrophied lakes:: (Gypsum treatment to reduce internal loading). Water Research 37, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00264-6
- Velthuis, M., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., Frenken, T., Stephan, S., Kazanjian, G., Aben, R., Hilt, S., Kosten, S., van Donk, E., Van de Waal, D.B., 2017.

Warming advances top-down control and reduces producer biomass in a freshwater plankton community. Ecosphere 8, e01651. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1651

- Veraart, A.J., Klein, J.J.M. de, Scheffer, M., 2011. Warming Can Boost Denitrification Disproportionately Due to Altered Oxygen Dynamics. PLOS ONE 6, e18508. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018508
- Verpoorter, C., Kutser, T., Seekell, D.A., Tranvik, L.J., 2014. A global inventory of lakes based on high-resolution satellite imagery. Geophysical Research Letters 41, 6396–6402. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014GL060641
- Vihervaara, P., Kumpula, T., Tanskanen, A., Burkhard, B., 2010. Ecosystem services–A tool for sustainable management of human–environment systems. Case study Finnish Forest Lapland. Ecological Complexity, Ecosystem Services – Bridging Ecology, Economy and Social Sciences 7, 410–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2009.12.002
- Villanueva, R.A.M., Chen, Z.J., 2019a. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis, 2nd edition. Meas-Interdiscip Res 17, 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2019.1565254
- Villanueva, R.A.M., Chen, Z.J., 2019b. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis, 2nd edition. Meas-Interdiscip Res 17, 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2019.1565254
- Visser, P.M., Ibelings, B.W., Bormans, M., Huisman, J., 2016. Artificial mixing to control cyanobacterial blooms: a review. Aquat Ecol 50, 423–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-015-9537-0
- Vymazal, J., 2007. Removal of nutrients in various types of constructed wetlands. Science of The Total Environment, Contaminants in Natural and Constructed Wetlands: Pollutant Dynamics and Control 380, 48–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.09.014
- Waajen, G.W.A.M., 2017. Eco-engineering for clarity: clearing blue-green ponds and lakes in an urbanized area. University. https://doi.org/10.18174/406887
- Waajen, G.W.A.M., Faassen, E.J., Lürling, M., 2014. Eutrophic urban ponds suffer from cyanobacterial blooms: Dutch examples. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21, 9983–9994. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2948-y
- Waajen, M.L.G., Engels, B., Oosterhout, F.V., 2017. Effects of dredging and lanthanum-modified clay on water quality variables in an enclosure study in a hypertrophic pond. Water 9, 380.
- Wagner, C., Adrian, R., 2009. Cyanobacteria dominance: Quantifying the effects of climate change. Limnology and Oceanography 54. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.6 part 2.2460

- Waldman, D.M., 1983a. A note on algebraic equivalence of White's test and a variation of the Godfrey/Breusch-Pagan test for heteroscedasticity. Economics Letters 13, 197–200.
- Waldman, D.M., 1983b. A note on algebraic equivalence of White's test and a variation of the Godfrey/Breusch-Pagan test for heteroscedasticity. Economics Letters 13, 197–200.
- Walsby, A.E., Kinsman, R., Ibelings, B.W., Reynolds, C.S., 1991. Highly buoyant colonies of the cyanobacterium Anabaena-Lemmermannii form persistent surface waterblooms. Archiv für Hydrobiologie 121, 261–280.
- Wang, H., Xu, C., Liu, Y., Jeppesen, E., Svenning, J.-C., Wu, J., Zhang, W., Zhou, T., Wang, P., Nangombe, S., Ma, J., Duan, H., Fang, J., Xie, P., 2021. From unusual suspect to serial killer: Cyanotoxins boosted by climate change may jeopardize megafauna. Innovation (Camb) 2, 100092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xinn.2021.100092
- Wang, Haijun, Wang, Hongzhu, 2009. Mitigation of lake eutrophication: Loosen nitrogen control and focus on phosphorus abatement. Progress in Natural Science 19, 1445–1451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnsc.2009.03.009
- Weiss, R.F., 1974. Carbon dioxide in water and seawater: the solubility of a non-ideal gas. Marine Chemistry 2, 203–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4203(74)90015-2
- Weiss, R.F., Price, B.A., 1980. Nitrous oxide solubility in water and seawater. Marine chemistry 8, 347–359.
- Westman, W.E., 1977. How Much Are Nature's Services Worth? Measuring the social benefits of ecosystem functioning is both controversial and illuminating. science 197, 960–964.
- Wetzel, R.G., 2001. Limnology: Lake and River Ecosystems. Gulf Professional Publishing.
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L., Müller, K., 2019. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation. R package version 0.8. 0.1. Retrieved January 13, 2020.
- Wong, B., 2011. Points of view: Color blindness. Nature Methods 8, 441–441. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1618
- Wood, S.A., Borges, H., Puddick, J., Biessy, L., Atalah, J., Hawes, I., Dietrich, D.R., Hamilton, D.P., 2017. Contrasting cyanobacterial communities and microcystin concentrations in summers with extreme weather events: insights into potential effects of climate change. Hydrobiologia 785, 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2904-6
- Woolway, R.I., Jennings, E., Shatwell, T., Golub, M., Pierson, D.C., Maberly, S.C., 2021. Lake heatwaves under climate change. Nature 589, 402–407.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-03119-1

- Woolway, R.I., Kraemer, B.M., Lenters, J.D., Merchant, C.J., O'Reilly, C.M., Sharma, S., 2020. Global lake responses to climate change. Nature Reviews Earth & Environment 1–16.
- Wortley, L., Hero, J.-M., Howes, M., 2013a. Evaluating Ecological Restoration Success: A Review of the Literature. Restoration Ecology 21, 537–543. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12028
- Wortley, L., Hero, J.-M., Howes, M., 2013b. Evaluating Ecological Restoration Success: A Review of the Literature. Restor. Ecol. 21, 537–543. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12028
- Yamamoto, S., Alcauskas, J.B., Crozier, T.E., 1976. Solubility of methane in distilled water and seawater. Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data 21, 78–80.
- Yin, H., Yang, C., Yang, P., Kaksonen, A.H., Douglas, G.B., 2021. Contrasting effects and mode of dredging and in situ adsorbent amendment for the control of sediment internal phosphorus loading in eutrophic lakes. Water Research 189, 116644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116644
- Yuan, H., Tai, Z., Li, Q., Liu, E., 2020. In-situ, high-resolution evidence from watersediment interface for significant role of iron bound phosphorus in eutrophic lake. Science of The Total Environment 706, 136040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136040
- Zamparas, M., Gianni, A., Stathi, P., Deligiannakis, Y., Zacharias, I., 2012. Removal of phosphate from natural waters using innovative modified bentonites. Applied Clay Science 62–63, 101–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2012.04.020
- Zeller, M.A., Alperin, M.J., 2021. The efficacy of Phoslock® in reducing internal phosphate loading varies with bottom water oxygenation. Water Research X 11, 100095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2021.100095
- Zhan, Q., Stratmann, C.N., van der Geest, H.G., Veraart, A.J., Brenzinger, K., Lürling, M., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2021a. Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions. Biogeochemistry. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-021-00854-z
- Zhan, Q., Stratmann, C.N., van der Geest, H.G., Veraart, A.J., Brenzinger, K., Lürling, M., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2021b. Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment nutrient releases and greenhouse gas emissions. Biogeochemistry. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-021-00854-z
- Zhan, Q., Teurlincx, S., Raman, N., Lürling, M., Waajen, G., De Senerpont Domis,

L., n.d. Towards climate-robust water quality management: testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal.

- Zhan, Q., Teurlincx, S., van Herpen, F., Raman, N.V., Lürling, M., Waajen, G., de Senerpont Domis, L.N., 2022. Towards climate-robust water quality management: Testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal. Science of The Total Environment 828, 154421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154421
- Zhang, S., Zhou, Q., Xu, D., Lin, J., Cheng, S., Wu, Z., 2010. Effects of sediment dredging on water quality and zooplankton community structure in a shallow of eutrophic lake. Journal of Environmental Sciences 22, 218–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742(09)60096-6
- Znachor, P., Nedoma, J., 2010. Importance of dissolved organic carbon for phytoplankton nutrition in a eutrophic reservoir. Journal of Plankton Research 32, 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbp129
- Zuur, A., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N., Saveliev, A.A., Smith, G.M., 2009. Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Zwart, J.A., Sebestyen, S.D., Solomon, C.T., Jones, S.E., 2017. The Influence of Hydrologic Residence Time on Lake Carbon Cycling Dynamics Following Extreme Precipitation Events. Ecosystems 20, 1000–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-016-0088-6



Netherlands Research School for the Socio-Economic and Natural Sciences of the Environment

DIPLOMA

for specialised PhD training

The Netherlands research school for the Socio-Economic and Natural Sciences of the Environment (SENSE) declares that



born on 27 November 1994 in HuBei, China

has successfully fulfilled all requirements of the educational PhD programme of SENSE.

Wageningen, 15 November 2023

Chair of the SENSE board

Prof. dr. Martin Wassen

The SENSE Director

Prof. Philipp Pattberg

The SENSE Research School has been accredited by the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences (KNAW)



KONINKLIJKE NEDERLANDSE AKADEMIE VAN WETENSCHAPPEN



The SENSE Research School declares that **Oing Zhan** has successfully fulfilled all requirements of the educational PhD programme of SENSE with a work load of 35.8 EC, including the following activities:

SENSE PhD Courses

- Environmental research in context (2021) 0
- 0 Research in context activity: 'Secondment reflection report (2021)

Other PhD and Advanced MSc Courses

- MANTEL Training school: Lake Modelling, University of Tartu, Estonia (2019) ο
- 0 Efficient writing strategies, Wageningen Graduate Schools (2022)
- o Effective behaviour in your professional surrounding, Wageningen Graduate Schools (2022)
- Data Science, Artificial Intelligence and Geographic Information Systems (GIS), 0 Wageningen University (2023)

External training at a foreign research institute

• Three simple guidelines for science communication. GLEON2022 (2022)

Management and Didactic Skills Training

- Organizing an international symposium 'Virtual Symposium: Management of Extreme Events in Lakes and Catchments' (2020)
- Co-chairing Symposium for European Freshwater Sciences (2021) 0
- Chairing session at NERN conference (2021) 0
- Supervising MSc students internship (2023) 0

Oral Presentations

- Effectiveness of phosphorus control under extreme heatwaves: implications for sediment 0 nutrient release and greenhouse gasses emission. MANTEL Symposium, 14-15 April 2020. Online
- o Effectiveness of different eutrophication control measures: implication for water quality dynamics and resistance to heatwave disturbance. ASLO summer meeting, 22-27 June 2021. Online
- Towards climate-robust water quality management: Testing the efficacy of different eutrophication control measures during a heatwave in an urban canal. JASM2022, 19 May 2022, Grant Rapids, USA
- o Modelling the response of aquatic ecosystem services to restoration measures under different climate scenarios. ALSO ECRs Making Waves in Aquatic Sciences: Amplifying voices, 23 February 2023, Online

SENSE coordinator PhD education

Dr. ir. Peter Vermeulen

Colophon

The research presented in this thesis was conducted at the department of Aquatic Ecology at the Netherlands Institute of Ecology (NIOO-KNAW), Wageningen, the Netherlands.

Qing Zhan was funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no.722518 (MANTEL ITN), the Royal Dutch Academy of Sciences (KNAW), and the European Union's H2020 DRYvER [Grant number: 869226].

This is NIOO Thesis 213.

Cover design: Qing Zhan Layout: Qing Zhan Printed by Digiforce II Proefschriftmaken